	AD-A17	3 071	EXT	RACELL	ULAR A ERYTH	IDENOSI IROCYT.	INE TR . (U) 	IPHOSP AIR FO	HATE ( RCE I)	ASSOCI	ATED N TECH	IITH	1/	3	
1	UNCLAS	SIFIED	AFI	7C17N	R-86-1	.88D					F/G 6	5/15	NL		-
									1						
Ļ							·····							-77	



の時間にの

THE REPORT OF THE PARTY OF THE

5.5.5

ŝ

that had been that that is

KCCCCCC AND STOCK

たいため

MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A Υ,



AD-A173 071

1. 2. . . . . . . . ST.

1.20

	REPORT DOCUMEN	TATION PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM
1. REPORT NUL AFIT/CI	MBER /NR 86-188D	2. GOVT ACCESSION P	NO. 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER
4. TITLE (and S Extracel With Amp	iular Adenosine Tr hibian Erythrocyte	5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERE <b> <b> </b></b>	
Release	By Anion Channel B	lockers	6. PERFORMING ORG, REPORT NUMBER
James P.	Dixon		8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(s)
9. PERFORMING	GORGANIZATION NAME AND	DADDRESS	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS
AFIT ST	UDENT AT: Saint Lo	uis University	
11. CONTROLLI	NG OFFICE NAME AND ADD	RESS	12. REPORT DATE
			13. NUMBER OF PAGES
14. MONITORIN	G AGENCY NAME & ADDRES	S(il dillerent from Controlling Office	UNCLASS
			150. DECLASSIFICATION DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
APPROVEI	D FOR PUBLIC RELEAS	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM	IITED (rom Report)
APPROVEI	OF FOR PUBLIC RELEAS	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM	ITTED (rom Report)
APPROVEI 17. distributi 18. supplemen APPROVEI	ON STATEMENT (of the abstr ON STATEMENT (of the abstr TARY NOTES ) FOR PUBLIC RELEAS	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM	ITTED from Report) LYNN E. WOLAVER bean for Research and Professional Development AFIT/NR
APPROVEI 17. DISTRIBUTI 18. SUPPLEMEN APPROVEI 19. KEY WORDS	ON STATEMENT (of the obstr ON STATEMENT (of the obstr ITARY NOTES ) FOR PUBLIC RELEAS (Continue on reverse side if n	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM Fact entered in Block 20, 11 different SE: IAW AFR 190-1	ITTED (rom Report) LYNN E. WOLAVER Dean for Research and Professional Development AFIT/NR
APPROVEI 17. DISTRIBUTI 18. SUPPLEMEN APPROVEI 19. KEY WORDS	) FOR PUBLIC RELEAS ON STATEMENT (of the abstr NTARY NOTES ) FOR PUBLIC RELEAS (Continue on reverse side if n	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM act entered in Block 20, 11 different SE: IAW AFR 190-1 recessory and identify by block numb	ITTED from Report) LYNN E. WOLAVER JSJU Dean for Research and Professional Development AFIT/NR
APPROVEI 17. DISTRIBUTI 18. SUPPLEMEN APPROVEI 19. KEY WORDS 20. ABSTRACT (	Continue on reverse side II ne	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM act entered in Black 20, 11 different SE: IAW AFR 190–1 recessory and identify by block numb ,	ITTED from Report) LYNN E. WOLAVER JS JH bean for Research and Professional Development AFIT/NR per)
APPROVEI 17. DISTRIBUTI 18. SUPPLEMEN APPROVEI 19. KEY WORDS 20. ABSTRACT ( ATTACHED	Continue on reverse side II ne	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM act entered in Block 20, 11 different SE: IAW AFR 190-1 Recessory and identify by block numb ,	IITED trom Report) LYNN E. WOLAVER 25 Supplement bean for Research and Professional Development AFIT/NR ver)
APPROVEI 17. DISTRIBUTI 18. SUPPLEMEN APPROVEI 19. KEY WORDS 20 ABSTRACT ( ATTACHED	D FOR PUBLIC RELEAS ON STATEMENT (of the abstr ATARY NOTES D FOR PUBLIC RELEAS (Continue on reverse side if n (Continue on reverse side if ne	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM act entered in Block 20, 11 different SE: IAW AFR 190-1 Recessory and identify by block numb ,	IITED trom Report) LYNN E. WOLAVER 25 Support Bean for Research and Professional Development AFIT/NR ver)
APPROVEI 17. DISTRIBUTI 18. SUPPLEMEN APPROVEI 19. KEY WORDS 20. ABSTRACT ( ATTACHED 1 I AN 73 14	D FOR PUBLIC RELEAS ON STATEMENT (of the abstr ATARY NOTES D FOR PUBLIC RELEAS (Continue on reverse side if n (Continue on reverse side if ne ) (Continue on reverse side if ne )	SE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIM act entered in Block 20, 11 different SE: IAW AFR 190-1 Recessory and identify by block numb , scessory and identify by block numb , SE: SOBSOLETE	IITED trom Report) LYNN E. WOLAVER 25 Supplement Dean for Research and Professional Development AFIT/NR ver)

4







EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE ASSOCIATED WITH AMPHIBIAN ERYTHROCYTES: INHIBITION OF ATP RELEASE BY ANION CHANNEL BLOCKERS

JAMES P. DIXON, B.S., M.S.

A Digest Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Saint Louis University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy





EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE ASSOCIATED WITH AMPHIBIAN ERYTHROCYTES: INHIBITION OF ATP RELEASE BY ANION CHANNEL BLOCKERS

JAMES P. DIXON, B.S., M.S.

A Digest Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Saint Louis University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Previous investigation has demonstrated that adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) appears in the vascular effluent following skeletal and cardiac muscle contraction. By cannulating the frog heart and perfusing through it hypoxic Ringer's solution, this author observed elevated levels of ATP. The presence of blood elements, however, made it necessary to ascertain if the frog red blood cells (RBC's) were a source of ATP.

1

188

It was noted that RBC's up to 150/pl were present in the "clear" effluent samples of the frog heart. To study cell suspensions diluted to this level, whole blood was diluted with frog Ringer's solution. ATP was asssayed by firefly lantern extract + D-luciferin (threshold 1 nM). Well-mixed suspensions produced ATP concentrations in proportion to the number of cells present. When cells were allowed to settle for one hour, nanomolar ATP concentrations in the supernatant fluid were observed, regardless of cell count.

Stirred cells did not increase the concentration of ATP in the medium, whereas cells allowed to settle in layers showed enhanced release of ATP. Anion channel blockers, probenecid and furosemide, diminished this release. Evidence that cell lysis was not the source of the ATP was based on two observations: 1) time course of the recordings of the "light signals" were identical for cell samples and ATP standards, and 2) digitonin lysed the cells in the assay solution, verifying their presence after the assay. It is concluded that ATP is intimately associated with the external plasma membrane of this nucleated cell and the red cell must be considered as an ATP source in any sample where RBC's are present. It is hypothesized that ATP release occurs through an anion channel as a result of localized hypoxia.

Release of ATP from red cells has several implications. That ATP, a potent vasodilator, may be released because of localized hypoxia at rest indicates that the myogenic and neurogenic components in vascular tone are probably superceded by humoral factors during transient blood movement through the microcirculation. For example, ATP-stimulated release of endothelium-dependent releasing factor (EDRF) and subsequent vasodilation may occur routinely as blood moves from the arteries to the veins. Also, the nucleated red cell may serve as a model for cell-to-cell communication. The existence of ecto- enzymes, specifically ATPases, in the plasma membrane allowing control over the ATP that is released, may be important to physiological processes not unlike the cell differentiation that occurs during pulsatile release of cAMP from Dictyostelium discoideum. Finally, this nucleated cell may function as a model for the study of a rather unique anion channel that translocates a nucleotide.























EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE ASSOCIATED WITH AMPHIBIAN ERYTHROCYTES: INHIBITION OF ATP RELEASE BY ANION CHANNEL BLOCKERS

JAMES PATRICK DIXON, B.S., M.S.

A Dissertation Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Saint Louis University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy







Associate Professor Thomas Forrester, Chairman and Advisor

Associate Proffessor Michael B. Laskowski

Associate Professor Michael J. Rovetto

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
COMMITTEE IN CHARGE OF DISSERTATION
LIST OF FIGURESvi
LIST OF TABLESix
INTRODUCTION1
HISTORICAL REVIEW
ATP as a Neurotransmitter
Purinoceptors12
A Vasodilator Role for ATP16
The Role of the Endothelium in Vascular Smooth
Muscle Responses to Purines
ATP Release Mechanisms and Membrane Permeability27
Control of Extracellular Nucleotide Concentration:
Ecto-Enzymes
ATP and ATPase Activity of Red Blood Cells35
Calcium Mobilization in Cardiac Cells: Voltage-
Sensitive vs. Receptor-Mediated Mechanisms44
Control of Intracellular Calcium
Calcium Channels in Myocardial Cells47
Receptor-Mediated Calcium Mobilization49
Calcium-Antagonist Effects
Calcium Mobilized by ATP
A Potpourri of ATP Effects



METHODS
ATP Assay
Frog Heart Perfusion
Erythrocyte Protocol91
ATP Efflux Determination93
Drugs and Solutions94
RESULTS101
ATP Release From Frog Myocardium101
Hypoxic Insult101
Hyperoxic Insult104
ATPase Activity of Frog Myocardium108
Calcium Mobilization: The Effect of Exogenous ATP
on the Frog Heart108
ATP and Calcium Blockers
ATP and a Proposed Purinergic Antagonist116
ATP of Amphibian Erythrocytes
Extracellular ATP Associated With Gravity-

Settled Cells123
Ecto-ATPase Activity of Erythrocytes136
Anion Channel Blockers: ATP Efflux Antagonized141
Confirmation of Extracellular ATP145
Intracellular ATP of Frog Erythrocytes163
Intracellular ATP of Salamander Erythrocytes166



DISCUSSION PART I: METHODS169
Assay Procedure and Technique
Frog Heart Perfusion173
RBC Protocol175
DISCUSSION PART II: RESULTS178
ATP Release From Frog Myocardium
ATPase Activity of Frog Myocardium
Purinoceptor-Mediated Calcium Mobilization
ATP Efflux From Frog Erythrocytes
ATP Efflux Inhibition: Anion Channel Blockers
Intracellular ATP of Amphibian Erythrocytes195
Erythrocyte Ecto-ATPase Activity
SUMMARY
APPENDICES
REFERENCES
VITA AUCTORIS

v



LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	PAGE
1	Equipment Used in the Firefly Bioluminescence
	<b>Assay</b> 61
2	The Photinus pyralis (firefly) Enzymatic Reaction64
3	Emitted Light Signal Recorded from the
	Photomultiplier Tube
4	ATP Standard Curve
5	Light Signal Diminution With Time72
6	Comparison of ATP Standard Curves Generated 80
	Minutes Apart74
7	Comparison of Light Signals and Standard Curves
	When ATP Standard Solutions were Assayed Using
	Plastic and Glass Cuvettes
8	Effect of Synthetic Luciferin on the Firefly
	Bioassay
9	Recordings of Light Emissions Generated by ATP
	Standards82
10	Comparison of Recordings of Light Signals Produced
	by Various Purines
11	Standard Curves Generated with Various Purines86
12	Diagram of Frog Heart Perfusion
13	Comparison of Recordings of Light Signals Generated
	by an ATP Standard Solution (10 nM) and the
	Same Solution Containing Atractyloside97

14	A Proposed P <sub>2</sub> Purinoceptor Antagonist100
15	ATP Released from Frog Myocardium During Perfusion
	with Low Oxygen Solution or High Oxygen
	Solution
16	Comparison of ATP Released During Normoxic,
	Hypoxic and Hyperoxic Perfusion of the
	Frog Myocardium106
17	ATP Hydrolysis by Frog Myocardium109
18	Systolic Pressure Changes Following Perfusion of
	Exogenous ATP Through Frog Myocardium111
19	The Effect on Systolic Pressure of Perfusing the
	Frog Heart with Exogenous ATP Alone or
	Immediately Following MnCl <sub>2</sub>
20	The Effect on Systolic Pressure of Perfusing the
	Frog Heart with Exogenous ATP Alone or
	Immediately Following Verapamil
21	Comparison of Systolic Pressure Changes Caused
	by ATP With and Without Manganese Present119
22	Comparison of Systolic Pressure Changes Caused
	by ATP With and Without Verapamil Present121
23	Effect of a Proposed P <sub>2X</sub> Blocker on Systolic
	Pressure Changes Caused by ATP
24	ATP Layering Associated with Gravity-Settled Cells.127
25	Extracellular ATP Concentration in Cell Samples

- - -

والمراجع المراجع

Before and After Gentle Dispersion......130



viii

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	PAGE
I	Erythrocyte ATP Concentration
11	Ecto-ATPase Activity of Various Erythrocytes42
III	Drugs and Substances Used In This Study95
IV	Rate of ATP Hydrolysis by Frog Erythrocytes142
v	Effect of Aspiration on Cell Counts
VI	[ATP] <sub>i</sub> of Frog Erythrocytes167
VII	[ATP] <sub>i</sub> of Salamander Erythrocytes

¢,





### INTRODUCTION



Interest in the vasodilatory properties of adenosine 5'triphosphate (ATP) originated with Barcroft and Dixon (21). Forty years later two extensive works concerning extracellular ATP and its effects were published (141,177). Yet, only recently has the extracellular role of ATP received acceptance. Following the writing of the Historical Review, a review by John Gordon (171) was published on extracellular ATP that in many ways covered the same topics. Curiously, however, only minor duplication of the references is found, a striking indication of the vast literature on extracellular ATP.

One of the potential sources of ATP in the plasma is the blood elements. M.J. Rovetto in a recent review (368) aptly pointed out that red cell contamination may not be a trivial source of ATP, and indeed, that theme is a predominant conclusion of this dissertation. Included, of course, is documentation of the conditions under which ATP was associated with nucleated red blood cells, and why lysis was not the reason for the appearance of ATP.

These observations on red blood cells occurred during the study of ATP release from the hypoxic frog heart. It led to efforts to try to discover why ATP seemed to be released by red cells, and ways to control it. Additional research provided results on intracellular ATP levels in these cells and the ability of intact red cells to hydrolyze ATP.

2

An extensive review of the literature is provided, with major emphases on purinergic neurotransmission, purinoceptors, ATP vasodilation, endothelium-dependent vasodilation, and ATP release mechanisms. It provides a basis for describing the pervasiveness and potency of ATP and why it is a major concern in vasodilation, inotropic influences in the heart, and in the control of oxygen delivery in red cells.

The research results are the first describing and quantifying ATP release across a cell membrane via an anion channel. The evidence, however, is incomplete. The exact cause of ATP release is not known with certainty to be hypoxia, although the rationale is strong. The exact mechanism for ATP release is not known with certainty to be a channel, except that the evidence points in that direction. The reader should find extensive food for thought and a multitude of ideas for laboratory work can be gleaned from this information. Foremost, one should not come away from this work without an appreciation of how little is known about cell membranes and nucleotide release mechanisms. The way in which ATP is utilized other than as a source of energy has opened up a novel field of investigation and may be of great biological significance.

### HISTORICAL REVIEW

Adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) has a multiplicity of roles. Within the intracellular compartment, it functions primarily as a source of energy for various metabolic reactions. In this capacity ATP is typically described as a high-energy compound, i.e., a compound with a bond that when hydrolyzed yields a large, negative free energy change. Energy is conserved for use in anabolic processes within the cell when ATP is produced during the catabolism of nutrients. This intracellular role, however, is not the only function of ATP. Yet, the ATP molecule is usually discussed from this "energy" perspective. It is, therefore, understandable why many biomedical scientists have previously thought that the release of ATP to the extracellular milieu was a loss of energy. Why would cells release a high energy compound to the outside of any cell? It would only be hydrolyzed by extracellular enzymes and eventually

TANAN ACCOUNT STATION SOUTHING AND A AND AND A

would only be hydrolyzed by extracellular enzymes and eventually be excreted as uric acid. Additionally, if an extracellular function could be identified for ATP, how could this charged, anionic molecule cross the plasmalemma?

Presently, extracellular roles for ATP cannot be disputed on the basis of conservation of energy. The whole topic of cell-to-cell communication recognizes diversity of mechanism, not necessarily economy of action. For example, various peptides, which are more biochemically expensive to make than ATP, are now

known to have numerous extracellular roles and even to fulfill many of the criteria for neurotransmitter classification (see below). ATP release from excitable tissues, particularly nerves, has been demonstrated (2,271), and indeed, a neurotransmitter role has recently been attributed to ATP (57).

Another major, though controversial role for ATP is as a local metabolite in producing vasodilation. This role has its roots in the original work by Forrester (142,143), who showed that ATP exists in higher concentration in the plasma following muscle contraction.

Besides these two roles, other documented effects that ATP has on cells will be reviewed. Additionally, the following issues will be addressed:

- Is ATP, or a metabolite such as adenosine 5'-disphosphate (ADP), adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP), or adenosine (ADO) the cause of the observable event? Vis-a-vis functional hyperemia, what evidential arguments can be made for and against the "adenosine hypothesis" and the "ATP hypothesis"?
- 2) What is the source of the extracellular pool of ATP?
- 3) What is the "signal" which causes ATP release from a cell?
- 4) What is the manner by which ATP departs the intracellular space?
- 5) What receptors on which cells are the means by which purine nucleosides and nucleotides cause an effect?
- 6) What enzymes in the extracellular environment are needed to maintain ATP at concentrations which are physiological?



#### ATP As a Neurotransmitter

Putative neurotransmitters must be shown to exist in and be released from the depolarized nerve terminal, have a source of enzymatic synthesis and of removal (degradation and/or uptake) from the synaptic cleft, be mimicked by exogenous application of the substance, and be blocked by known antagonists of the putative transmitter (60). ATP has not been shown to satisfy all the aforementioned criteria in a given tissue. For this reason, the following evidence is technically incomplete in supporting the neurotransmitter role for ATP.

Exemplary of the problems encountered in studying ATP as a neurotransmitter is the fact that more evidence is required than just showing that some purines appear after prolonged depolarization of excitable tissues (2,458,459). The exact substance and its origin must be ascertained. For example, Israel and co-workers (227,228,296) demonstrated using a firefly lantern bioassay method specific for ATP that nerve stimulation in <u>Torpedo</u> <u>marmorata</u> caused release of ATP. The origin of the ATP was shown to be the post-synaptic membrane of the electroplaque because its release was separate from that of acetylcholine (ACh). Curare, a post-synaptic nicotinic receptor blocker, significantly reduced ATP release. It was suggested that ATP released from the post-synaptic membrane modulated the pre-synaptic release of ACh.

Israel's work also provided strong evidence that depolarization is one method for ATP release from a membrane. Forrester (146) argues accordingly: depolarization of an excitable membrane is the earliest possible signal (biophysical signal) for providing a fast response. White's research (458,459), utilizing the same firefly technique, demonstrated ATP release during depolarization of synaptosomes, which lends additional support for this hypothesis. Important to this research was showing that tetrodotoxin, a sodium channel blocker, blocked the release of ATP caused by veratridine. Thus, membrane depolarization was required for ATP release.

Others (232,427) have also concluded that an appreciable amount of the labelled purines released from the cerebral cortex appears as ATP, though some groups demonstrated no specificity for these purines (102,352,353). Without specificity, one does not know if adenosine is the substance predominantly released or whether in fact it may have been ATP (379,427). White's technique (458) overcomes this obstacle.

それないないないないないないないないないないないないない、「それないないないないないない」のないたちのない、「たちたちのない」のためたちのない、「たちをないないない」というため、

The research of Israel and co-workers demonstrating ATP release in the <u>Torpedo</u> exemplifies a neuromodulator role, rather than a transmitter role, for ATP (see also 8,240,307). An example of pre-synaptic release of ATP, and therefore evidence for a possible transmitter role, is the rat phrenic nerve-hemidiaphragm

preparation. Silinsky (395,397) demonstrated that with curare present at a concentration sufficient to suppress end-plate potentials nerve stimulation still resulted in the appearance of ATP and ADP. Concentrations of ATP up to 0.1 mM in the synaptic cleft were estimated. If carbachol was present, no nucleotide appeared. Treatment with hemicholinium-3 to block choline re-uptake and deplete the vesicles, also caused a decrease in nucleotide release. Silinsky concluded that ATP release was pre-synaptic.

This work is also an early example of co-transmission of ATP and ACh, i.e., multiple neurotransmitter release from the same vesicle. Co-transmission (22,60,242,359) was recently examined vis-a-vis Dale's Law (324), and found to be the rule rather than the exception. Silinsky's work (395) showed that as nerve-stimulated ACh release declined in the presence of low calcium (used to inhibit vesicle exocytosis), nucleotide release also declined. Evidence by others (360) indicated that ATP probably decreases the amplitude of the end-plate potential, and thereby inhibits excitation. This hypothesis is not supported by other research, but rather suggests a facilitatory action by ATP on the post-synaptic membrane (134).

The most complete evidence in one tissue for ATP functioning as a co-transmitter comes from the study of the vas deferens in the guinea-pig (294,403,404,415,416), mouse (415,416), and rat (153). To summarize Sneddon & Westfall's work in the guinea-pig













8

(404), it was shown that

- tetanic nerve stimulation in the guinea-pig vas deferens resulted in a biphasic response:
  - a) a rapid, phasic contraction, and
- b) a slower, tonic contraction.2) the initial phase of contraction was mimicked
  - by ATP and  $\beta,\gamma$ -methylene ATP.
- the second phase was mimicked by norepinephrine (NE).
- 4) arylazidoaminopropionyl-ATP (ANAPP<sub>3</sub>), a P<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist, blocked the initial phase of contraction during stimulation and application of ATP.
- 5) prazosin, an  $\alpha_1$ -receptor antagonist, blocked the second phase during stimulation and during application of NE.
- 6) yohimbine, an  $\alpha_2$ -receptor antagonist, enhanced both phases (by preventing pre-synaptic feedback).
- 7) reserpine, which depletes catecholamine stores (81), reduced the second phase; excitatory junction potentials (e.j.p.'s) recorded with an intracellular electrode were unaffected by reserpine.
- 8) the e.j.p. could be mimicked by ATP but not by NE.
- 9) ANAPP<sub>3</sub> reduced the e.j.p. without changing threshold or the ability to fire an action potential.
- 10) cocaine (an NE uptake blocker) affected tension development by enhancing the tonic phase of contraction and depressing the phasic contraction.

Additionally, Westfall (456) showed that ATP blocked NE release, ANAPP<sub>3</sub> antagonized the latter effect, and phentolamine (an  $\alpha_2$ -antagonist) increased NE release. He concluded that 1) ATP and NE are co-transmitters in this tissue; 2) that ATP acts via a P<sub>2</sub> receptor to cause e.j.p.'s post-synaptically; 3) that e.j.p.'s can summate to cause an action potential, resulting in a phasic contraction; and 4) that ATP acts via a pre-synaptic P<sub>2</sub> receptor to inhibit transmitter release.

It has recently been proposed (137) that identification of this co-transmitter function of NE with ATP may explain an unresolved paradox. The e.j.p.'s in this preparation are insensitive to  $\alpha_1$ -antagonists, but can be blocked with ANAPP<sub>3</sub>. Thus, it is unlikely that two populations of excitatory adrenoceptors exist (99), such that the "intrajunctional" ( $\gamma$ -adrenoceptor) is resistant to  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  blockers, and the "extra-junctional" adrenoceptor is not. When adrenergic antagonists do not work, purinergic influences may be suspected.

There is other, though less complete, evidence for ATP functioning as a neurotransmitter (344,420). Among the various modulator or transmitter roles that it serves, ATP has been shown to provide feedback inhibition of NE (152,332,425) and ACh (396) release as well as function as a primary or as a co-transmitter. ATP may function as a possible neurotransmitter in sympathetic innervation of cardiac muscle (350), as a co-transmitter in the adrenal medulla (121,122,363), and as a transmitter in amphibian sympathetic ganglion to inhibit the M current (8). ATP may affect dorsal root terminals in the toad spinal cord (343), and function as a CNS neurotransmitter for mechanoreceptor afferents synapsing in the substantia gelatinosa and nucleus proprius of rat and cat (117,163,230). ATP has also been shown to excite free sensory nerve endings in the skin (40).

Smooth muscle is also influenced by purinergic input. Accordingly, Burnstock (62) attributes to both ATP and adenosine a role as primitive transmitters. ATP may mediate contraction in the urinary bladder of the rat and guinea-pig (53,63,99,238), relaxation in taenia coli (17,63,87,173,380,381) and relaxation of the longitudinal and circular muscle of the ileum via the myenteric plexus (11,240,383,450,475). ATP may also function as the non-cholinergic, non-adrenergic innervation in the chicken and lizard rectum (295,382) and the rabbit rectococcygeus muscle (88,405).

Evidence is also abundant for ATP functioning as a neurotransmitter in blood vessels (59,62,243,244,245,286, 308,402,423,424,425,426), producing relaxation in some and contraction in others. However, more information is required concerning the location of purinergic receptors in resistance vessels (62). Though it is frequently thought that ATP causes vasodilation only via the endothelium-dependent relaxing factor (EDRF) of endothelial cells (62,157) (see p. 23), perfusion of ATP solutions through specific blood vessels without endothelium can cause relaxation (148,156,159), albeit less than endotheliumdependent relaxation (111,156,159). EDRF-relaxation by ATP is a topic that is further addressed in a later section.

The evidence for transmitter action has been reinforced by



patch-clamp studies. Kolb and Wakelam (260) characterized ATP-sensitive cation channels in embryonic skeletal muscle. Krishtal <u>et al.</u> (268) also demonstrated cation-specific conductance changes produced by ATP in micromolar concentrations in isolated neurons from various sensory ganglia, particularly the vestibular ganglia. Clarification of these purinergic roles in the control of membrane channels can be expected as electrophysiological and pharmacological techniques are applied (195,236,241,322) and the specific mechanisms of ATP action on membrane receptors is delineated.

There are several observations of clinical importance to neurology which deserve mention. Hansen (190) presents data that patients diagnosed as having schizophrenia, or psychotic/neurotic depression have elevated blood levels of ATP and/or adenosine. Also, caffeine addiction involving purinoceptors has been clinically associated with schizophrenia and anxietyprovoking/depressant symptoms in psychiatric patients (176,298). This suggests that some unknown, abnormal purinergic mechanisms may be involved.

The same comment may be made concerning abnormalities of the extrapyramidal motor system, for which ATP administration is sometimes combined with neuroleptic drug therapy to alleviate some symptoms (109). Basal ganglia disorders may account for dyskinesias and biting tendencies in the Lesch-Nyhan syndrome, whose primary defect involves a lock of the purine salvage enzyme,

hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyultransferase (HGPRTase) (235), an enzyme found in basal ganglia nerve terminals. If high blood purine levels are indicative of extracellular levels, then normal function of extrapyramidal neurons may not be possible if HGPRTase activity is decreased or absent.

Muscular dystrophy is another clinical disorder for which abnormal purine metabolism may be important. For instance, there may be reduced ATP availability because purine phosphorylation in cells is diminished (406,432), a finding consistent with the decreased deformability and increased fragility of erythrocytes in Duchenne patients (170) and during red cell ageing and nucleotide depletion (284,309,310). There is also an increase in the amount of 5'-nucleotidase (25) and possibly HGPRTase (314) in dystrophic skeletal muscle. Allopurinol, a xanthine oxidase inhibitor, has proved to be of some benefit to these patients (432). Stone (419) reviews the interesting hypothesis that a vascular defect may underlie muscular dysfunction in this disease. Especially concerning the ATP hypothesis of vasodilation (see below), it is important to emphasize that patients with muscular dystrophy exhibit reduced vascular blood flow in exercising muscle (419).

## Purinoceptors

The primary reason for distinguishing the purinoceptors into two types,  $P_1$  and  $P_2$ , was originally based on the selective actions of their agonists and antagonists (58). At that time, methylxanthines were known to block adenosine actions. The order

of agonist potency for  $P_1$  receptors placed adenosine first, followed by AMP, ADP, and ATP. Increased 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) was thought to result from  $P_1$  stimulation.  $P_2$  receptors, on the other hand, caused no cAMP changes and were said to be activated best by ATP with successively less agonist potency displayed by ADP, AMP, and adenosine.  $P_2$  receptors were antagonized by 2'-2-pyridilisatogens, 2-substituted imidazolines (for example, antazoline and phentolamine), and quinidine, albeit with variable effectiveness. The antagonism for  $P_2$ purinoceptors was, therefore, non-specific.

Differentiation between the major purinoceptors has now been expanded to discriminate between subtypes of each (64,171). Adenosine receptors (P<sub>1</sub>) are of two types. The A<sub>2</sub> (or R<sub>a</sub>) receptor stimulates adenylate cyclase, and the A<sub>1</sub> (or R<sub>1</sub>) inhibits adenylate cyclase (342). Both function via GTP-dependent mechanisms, with the A<sub>2</sub> action being mediated via a G<sub>s</sub>-protein subunit, and A<sub>1</sub> action via a G<sub>1</sub>-protein subunit (101). Methylxanthines such as caffeine, theophylline, and isobutylmethylxanthine (IBMX) remain effective antagonists for both adenosine subtypes. Clonidine has also been shown to be a non-specific antagonist in several selective tissues (241). Further advancement in adenosine-receptor mechanisms can be expected due to efforts to develop radioactive adenosine analogs (101) and to the recent discovery of naturally occurring analogs from marine organisms (104).

Experience with the ATP receptors (P<sub>2</sub>) has shown them to have multiplicity of action, also. The criteria for differentiating the subtypes is still based on agonist potency and antagonist activity. There are two subtypes (64,171). P<sub>2X</sub> receptor subtypes are more responsive to  $\alpha,\beta$ -methylene ATP, followed by  $\beta,\gamma$ -methylene ATP, ATP, and 2-methylthio-ATP. Arylozido-aminopropionyl-ATP (ANAPP<sub>3</sub>) is a photo-activated, irreversible antagonist of this P<sub>2</sub> subtype (241). A good example of its inhibitory effects is in guinea-pig vas deferens (138,404). P<sub>2X</sub> receptors usually mediate excitation of both smooth and cardiac muscle.

The other subtype,  $P_{2Y}$ , is weakly antagonized by ANAPP<sub>3</sub> and mediates smooth muscle relaxation directly or by causing the release of endothelium-derived relaxing factor (EDRF) or prostacyclin. Good examples of  $P_{2Y}$ -mediated relaxation are seen in rat aorta (460) and in rat femoral artery (245). The order of agonist potency is 2-methylthio-ATP, ATP,  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ -methylene ATP, and  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ -methylene ATP.

This stereoselectivity of  $P_2$  receptors exists in direct contrast to the stereospecificity of  $P_1$  receptors for adenosine. It also contrasts with the ADP-specific purinoceptor on platelets (197,301). Both  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  receptors require:

a) NH<sub>2</sub> at the C6 of the imidazole ring, andb) the ribose moiety.

Thus, inosine (NH  $_2$  absent) and adenine (ribose absent), or the respective phosphorylated congeners, are ineffective agonists (58).

It is necessarily worthwhile to be mindful of several facts concerning purinoceptors. First, their location is not always indicative of their mode of action. For example, some P<sub>2</sub> receptors located on smooth muscle may be excitatory or inhibitory (244,289). Thus, ATP may not need to release an EDRF to relax resistance vessels. Presently, the receptor population in resistance vessels is unknown. Second, Burnstock (32,33) is of the opinion that  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  receptors are located exclusively on the pre-synaptic and post-synaptic membranes, respectively. This has been shown otherwise (456). Third, apamin, a potent neurotoxin in bee venom, was once thought to be an ATP antagonist. It now is considered to function as a potassium channel blocker (60,64,138). Fourth, P2 receptors may be more heterogeneous than currently portrayed. Besides  $P_{2X}$  and  $P_{2Y}$  and platelet purinoceptors, there are ATP receptors on rat mast cells responsible for histamine release (100,171). Finally, ANAPP3 may not be specific for  $P_2$  receptors. This uncertainty has been generated because of findings in rabbit anococcygeus muscle (405) and guinea-pig taenia coli (457), in which, as explained by Burnstock (64), ANAPP3 may also antagonize responses to adenosine and AMP, which are considered to have a greater affinity for the P<sub>1</sub> receptor.



A Vasodilator Role for ATP

Movement of blood through capillary beds of muscle may be dependent on the type of muscle (223), but ultimately it is related to the level of oxygenation (PO<sub>2</sub>) of the surrounding tissue (257,278) and the need to remove metabolic substance(s) from the tissue (391). Both at rest and during muscle contraction, control over perfusion occurs as a result of neurogenic and metabolic contributions to vascular tone (391). Though the metabolic component is of greater importance during contraction, neither at rest or during exercise is it known by what method or at what location oxygen needs and requirements of waste removal are transduced to effect the release of a vasoactive metabolite. Without discussing the full complement of metabolites that are candidates for this vasodilatory substance, the following comments are intended to polarize the reader's thoughts by providing convincing evidence why ATP may be considered one of these metabolites.

Virtually the only extracellular fluid which has been examined for ATP levels is the plasma. It was Forrester (143) who applied the firefly bioassay technique of Strehler and McElroy (422) to show ATP in the plasma, providing one of the first definitive efforts that quantitatively demonstrated an increase in ATP in the effluent from exercising muscle. ATP, though, is not the only substance important in the control of vascular resistance (145,146,186,391,407,448).

Forrester (145) reviews the historical basis for his efforts and cites Barcroft and Dixon (21) for the earliest of statements placing purine compounds in a vasodilator capacity. He also cites Abood et al. (2) as the first to demonstrate ATP efflux from excitable tissue. Prior to Forrester's initial findings, however, there was only circumstantial evidence based on intravascular ATP infusions that endogenous ATP could be a potent vasodilator in peripheral (55,126,132,141,177) and coronary circulations (467,469). Since that time, ATP has been assayed in the venous effluent of skeletal muscle (42,46,142,144,147,149,150,192,464), working frog myocardium (124), working rat myocardium (82), in the supernatant fluid of isolated rat cardiocytes exposed to hypoxia (151), and in the effluent from hypoxic and acetylcholine-stimulated guinea-pig heart (326,389). This has generated controversy because rather than ATP, it is adenosine, an ATP metabolite that is a potent vasodilator, that is generally described as the metabolic substance that is released from muscle to cause exercise hyperemia. The reasons for this controversy are two-fold.

REF REALISE BARREN WILLIGHT AND THE VERSION

Though there is no disagreement that adenosine (an uncharged purinergic compound) can pass through the plasmalemma, it has generally been thought that adenosine does so after intracellular ATP has been dephosphorylated and depleted. Thus, a metabolite (adenosine) is released across a membrane to initiate vasodilation. This is the textbook explanation (183) for functional hyperemia in both skeletal and cardiac muscle, though

the hypothesis was originally based on research in coronary circulation (28,229,239,361,372). Some research efforts in skeletal muscle circulation (43,116,185,390) have since concluded that adenosine is also the peripheral vasodilator substance. The first reason for controversy then, is that research efforts have been overwhelming in demonstrating adenosine in the venous effluent. This is the foundation for the "adenosine hypothesis" (29,30).

The second reason for controversy surrounding the ATP hypothesis is that ATP has generally been considered to be impermeable to the plasmalemma, primarily because it is a charged molecule. There may have been an open-mindedness concerning passage of this molecule through the cell membrane prior to 1952, but the Nobel Prize-winning efforts of Hodgkin and Huxley (212) changed opinions about membranes. Forrester (145) attributes to the Hodgkin-Huxley membrane theory the demise of efforts to demonstrate a vasodilation role for ATP. Likewise, Chaudry (79) ascribes to Glynn (169) reasons for lack of acceptance that ATP moves across cell membranes. What reasons exist, then, for considering ATP as a vasodilator?

First, as cited above, ATP levels have been found to be elevated when hyperemia occurs in response to muscular contraction. One group (42) observed both adenosine and ATP in the effluent, but concluded that ATP had not been found, and so entitled their paper! In spite of such prejudice and attempts to

19

prove that ATP does not flow from contracting muscle (474), the ATP hypothesis cannot be ignored because it has been shown to be released at concentrations high enough to account for exercise hyperemia (150).

Elevated levels of ATP could originate from one or any combination of several tissues. Nerve terminals and varicosities, as discussed previously, may be a source as well as a target for ATP. Striated and smooth muscle cells, because of their high (millimolar) ATP concentration, may release ATP. Endothelial cells, which have been shown to release ATP (335,337,339), could be a major source, since they constitute a vast surface (1000 cm<sup>2</sup>/gm heart vs. cardiomyocytes of 250-500 cm<sup>2</sup>/gm heart) and have a higher content of ATP ( $\cong$ 3 times) compared to myocardial cells (165,316). Finally, blood elements could be a source. Platelets have been shown to release both ATP and ADP when activated (44,90,224,263). Platelet activation and ATP release due to trauma are special situations not addressed in this review.

A second reason for considering ATP as a metabolic vasodilator is potency. A substance that causes vasodilation must be very potent in order to increase blood flow from 2-3 ml/100 gm·min at rest to 250 ml/100 gm·min (14). Though it is recognized that both purines, adenosine and ATP, are powerful vasodilators, ATP is without question more potent (126,177,305,469). Recent evidence (148) suggests ATP is able to cause relaxation of resistance arterioles at threshold concentrations  $(10^{-10}M)$ 1000 times less than adenosine. If the P<sub>2</sub> receptor recognizes
ATP<sup>4-</sup>, then even this potency estimate may be imprecise by orders of magnitude (98).

Refutation of the adenosine hypothesis is not difficult when the facts are known. The evidence is decisively against it. First, it is fundamentally important to ascertain if the putative vasodilator, in this instance adenosine, is present to act. Forrester (145) and Haddy and Scott (186) cite references that emphasize that in skeletal muscle cells, an intracellular adenylate deaminase degrades AMP to inosine monophosphate (IMP), completely bypassing adenosine (225,433). This pathway is also characteristically observed in endothelial cells (336), and has been described in detail in the leukocyte model (317), and clinically in a case of adenylate deaminase deficiency (376). Since IMP is not a vasodilator (469), it is only possible that the adenosine seen in the venous effluent of skeletal muscle (42,142,144,149) exists as the result of the extracellular hydrolysis of ATP. The topic of ecto-enzymes is considered later.

Adenosine formation only occurs intracellularly after serious impairment of energy metabolism during exercise. If there is considerable breakdown of ATP and ADP in the muscle cell, then 5'-nucleotidase is no longer inhibited and consequently removes the  $\alpha$ -phosphate molety from AMP. Based on data from the rat heart (19,280) showing a K<sub>1</sub> of 1.8 µM and 0.08 µM for inhibition of 5'-nucleotidase by ATP and ADP, respectively, one may reasonably conclude that this enzyme is totally and continuously inhibited by



the millimolar concentrations of ATP found in muscle cells. Intracellular formation of adenosine is, therefore, highly improbable (204). Thus, another reason for accepting the ATP hypothesis is that adenosine is formed, not intracellularly, but from the enzymatic degradation of ATP by ecto-enzymes on the outside of cells.

Evidence exists that adenosine may be insufficient as the sole metabolic vasodilator. In coronary circulation, aminophylline or theophylline blocks the vasodilatory effects of exogenous adenosine (4,6,56,234,447) but not ATP- (166) or hypoxia-induced vasodilation (5,234). Aminophylline and theophylline have been shown to antagonize adenosine-induced vasodilation in skeletal muscle (222,429) but not exercise hyperemia or hypoxia-induced vasodilation (306). Perfusing high concentrations of adenosine into skeletal muscle to saturate  $P_1$ receptors fails to prevent both functional and reactive hyperemia (208). Though this was not observed in coronary circulation (95), perfusion with adenosine deaminase did not decrease coronary flow (269), indicating that adenosine alone is insufficient as the sole metabolic vasodilator.

Evidence with antagonists is not always clear. For example, Forrester (145) emphasizes that studies utilizing dipyridamole, an adenosine uptake blocker, are inconclusive because this drug can also potentiate ATP action, and consequently prevent discrimination between the actions of these two purinergic substances. Nevertheless, a fourth reason for accepting the ATP hypothesis is



the fact that adenosine antagonists do not block functional hyperemia. Consequently, adenosine cannot be the sole

vasodilating substance.

In this same context, it is highly unlikely that enough adenosine is formed intracellularly to cause vasodilation in the course of one brief contraction. Such a contraction is all that was needed to cause a decrease in resistance during perfusion of dog gracilis muscle (221) and an increase in blood flow in human forearm muscles (93). In the gracilis muscle, it was postulated by Honig and Frierson (221) and Honig (220) that neurons intrinsic to the vasculature exist that are responsible for such fast hyperemia. They presented convincing evidence that vasodilation occurred quickly following a single twitch. They further demonstrated that theophylline did not alter the rate of formation or the magnitude of dilation, but almost completely abolished post-exercise hyperemia (222).

A related phenomenon, called a "defense reaction" after the behavioral activity of the cat, has been demonstrated in rabbits. Shimada and Stitt (393) have shown that electrical stimulation of the hypothalamus elicits a neurogenic vasodilation independent of muscle activity. Antazoline (a non-specific  $P_2$  antagonist) attenuated this dilation, but aminophylline had no effect.

One approach that initially seemed convincing for the adenosine hypothesis involved the infusion of venous blood from a contracting skeletal muscle into a resting skeletal muscle or a kidney. Blood vessels were dilated in the recipient resting

muscle and constricted in the kidney (390). Since ATP dilates renal vessels but adenosine constricts (196,390,436), one may logically conclude that adenosine was in the effluent from the exercising muscle. This does not rebut the ATP hypothesis, however. ATP should not be expected to last very long in whole blood because of the high ATPase activity associated with red blood cells (see below). If ATP were responsible for hyperemia in the exercising muscle, there is no reason to expect that it would remain at high concentration once it entered the blood. Adenosine, though, should be expected from the extracellular and intravascular hydrolysis of ATP.

When ATP appears in the blood from whatever source, there is strong reason to believe that any existing vasodilation, whether of neurogenic or metabolic origin, would be reinforced by the effect of ATP on the endothelium. This phenomenon is called endothelium-dependent vasodilation and is due to the release of an unknown substance called endothelium-dependent relaxing factor (EDRF).

# The Role of the Endothelium in Vascular Smooth Muscle Responses to Purines

Prior to Furchgott and Zawadski's accidental discovery of endothelium-dependent vasodilation (158,160,162), the basis for vascular dilation was thought to be the result of the influence of a metabolite or transmitter directly on the smooth muscle of the blood vessel. The number of vasodilatory candidates was and

still is high (391,407). Once the endothelium was found to communicate the presence of vascular constituents, the scenario became more complicated. Infused substances (e.g., acetylcholine) that caused vasodilation when the endothelium was intact exibited a contractile influence or no influence at all when the endothelium was removed by rubbing or collagenase treatment (157).

The degree of smooth muscle contraction, or vascular tone, has been shown to be important in demonstrating endotheliumdependent vasodilation. This may be because EDRF is being continually released (181,299). Pre-contraction with norepinephrine or a prostaglandin (PGF<sub>2α</sub>) is usually the procedure for demonstrating EDRF effects (162,291,371). The <u>in vivo</u> response of vascular smooth muscle will consequently depend on the presence or absence of the endothelium, and the concentration and location (luminal or abluminal surface) of other substances that affect either the smooth muscles, the endothelium, or both.

In the presence of ATP, vasodilation results (111,172).  $P_2$ purinoceptors are located on endothelial cells (203,243), and mediate the release of an EDRF when ATP or ADP is present (172,356). ATP also can cause transient release of prostacyclin (PGI<sub>2</sub>) from endothelial cells in some vascular beds (171,203,291,333,340). Under these circumstances ATP, if present, causes vasodilation via PGI<sub>2</sub> effects on smooth muscle (333). Thus, ATP can cause endothelium-dependent vasodilation via EDRF or PGI<sub>2</sub>, by acting from the luminal side of the blood vessel on an alleged P<sub>2Y</sub> receptor (171).

Endothelium-dependent relaxation of smooth muscle may be additive to the vasodilation seen during exercise. When the ATP gradient from the interstitial space to the vascular space increases, endothelium-dependent mechanisms are invoked. It also is possible that endothelium-dependent vasodilation may occur routinely as blood flows through the circulation and blood elements interact with the endothelium.

The EDRF that is released by ATP is presently unknown (86,156,161,440). The candidates for EDRF have been most recently described as epoxides, aldehydes, lactones, lipoperoxides (107,180), or platelet activating factor (PAF) or atrial natriuretic factor (ANF) (333). Other evidence (421) refutes that PAF is an EDRF. EDRF does not evolve from the cyclooxygenase or lipoxygenase pathways (180,252) and is probably not a free radical (180). The mechanism of EDRF release requires calcium (279,161), but little else is known about it other than it has a short half-life in seconds (65). Once the EDRF is released, the smooth muscle is caused to relax by a mechanism that involves the elevation of cyclic 3',5'-guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) activation of a cGMP-dependent protein kinase, and dephosphorylation of myosin light chain kinase (113,125,216,255,256).

Endothelium-independent relaxation by purines involve  $P_1$  or  $P_2$  purinoceptors on the smooth muscle.  $P_1$  receptors are known to exist on smooth muscle cells, and are generally considered to be the means by which adenosine causes relaxation. Recent

25

evidence also argues for vasodilation via  $P_1$  receptors on the endothelium when adenosine is in the blood (315).

Direct vasodilatory action by ATP on smooth muscles is sometimes discounted because  $P_2$  receptors are thought to be sparse on smooth muscle membranes (159). Though the predominant evidence is that ATP vasodilation is EDRF-mediated (110,111,112,156,162,172,243,245,356,441,460), it should be emphasized that <u>in vivo</u> conditions may be different. All of the experimental protocols studying endothelium have utilized isolated, large blood vessels. Resistance arterioles <u>in vivo</u> may function differently depending on the receptor population, an observation already made with adenosine responsiveness (374). Other evidence also suggests that the pharmacology of resistance vessels is not comparable to conduit vessels (362).

 $P_2$  receptors also exist on vascular nerves and may suppress norepinephrine release from sympathetic vascular nerves (392,444). This may be one of the ways in which ATP from an abluminal source contributes to functional hyperemia.

The evidence seems to indicate that adenosine does appear in venous effluent (185), but only after long-term skeletal muscle exercise and certainly not in the early seconds of contraction (43,116,187). A contribution by adenosine to sustained exercise hyperemia (221), to post-exercise hyperemia (222,248,429), and to reactive hyperemia (305,436), have been proposed. Again, the evidence shows that the source of this adenosine is the breakdown of extracellular ATP unless the metabolism of the muscle cell has

been sufficiently compromised to override the mechanisms that exist for replenishing ATP: phosphocreatine, glycolysis, myokinase reaction (2 ADP  $\rightarrow$  ATP + AMP), and oxidative phosphorylation. Only then might adenosine form a gradient out of the cell.

Evidence for the metabolic component in exercise hyperemia appears to support the ATP hypothesis. If intrinsic neurons contribute to functional hyperemia (218,219), it may be ATP from these neurons [in accordance with the research of Shimada and Stitt (393)] that is the operative agent. A strong case exists for postulating both neurogenic (220,221,393) and metabolic (145) components for ATP vasodilation. Either way, a mechanism must exist for the ATP to be released.

#### ATP Release Mechanisms and Membrane Permeability

If the source of ATP is a nerve terminal or varicosity, then ATP may be released as a neuromodulator or transmitter in the classical exocytotic fashion. Release of ATP may also occur in a non-classical way, i.e., other than via exocytosis. In isolated vesicles from <u>Torpedo</u>, both acetylcholine and ATP concentrations diminished without a decrease in vesicle numbers (476). This may imply a neurotransmitter release mechanism other than exocytosis. Though exocytosis has recently been challenged, a discussion of quantal and non-quantal release is beyond the scope of this work. The reader is referred to some recent reviews (72,189,226,430, 446).

For the metabolic release of ATP to occur a trigger, or

signal, is imperative (146). Paddle and Burnstock (326), Williams and Forrester (463), Forrester and Williams (151) and Clemens and Forrester (82) provide evidence that hypoxia may be one signal that provides for the release of ATP from myocardium. Depolarization of an excitable membrane is the earliest possible signal (biophysical signal) that may anticipate impending work demands. As already discussed, the results of Israel (227,228,296) and White (458,459) support this hypothesis. Forrester (146) draws attention to the fact that vasodilation occurs very rapidly and is not proportional to the strength of contraction, but rather to the impulse frequency of stimulation and the number of motor units recruited in a muscle (246).

The lipid barrier of the membrane should ordinarily prevent the passage of ATP. The question then arises as to whether or not an excitable membrane undergoes enough of a physical change during depolarization to allow the release of ATP. Given that the voltage change during membrane depolarization is due to the movements of sodium, potassium and calcium down electrochemical gradients and through ion selective channels, an electrochemical gradient for ATP must also exist due to the high concentration of negatively-charged ATP inside a cell. If the membrane were sufficiently perturbed, might not ATP exit the cell? Cohen <u>et al.</u>

(89) demonstrate action potential recordings and birefringence changes in an axon that are identical in shape and time, and for which they ascribe a physical change in the

28

membrane structure. Due to this physical alteration in the membrane, it can be hypothesized that for the time period of an action potential the membrane may not continue to function as a physical barrier to ATP.

ATP movement across a membrane by means of a translocator protein is one method of release for which there is experimental evidence. Carrier-mediated transport mechanisms have been described in adrenal chromaffin granules (1,261), synaptic vesicles from <u>Torpedo</u> electric organ (275,281,282), in cortical cells of rabbit kidney (290,453), and in rat hepatocytes (80). In each instance, the experimental evidence describes ATP influx. There are presently no known translocators for ATP efflux from a cell. The ADP/ATP counterexchange protein of the inner mitochondrial membrane has been characterized (16,41,133,254, 255,256), though it is technically an influx system, too.

Nucleoside transporters have been described in cultured cells (330,345,346,336), in erythrocytes (330,345,347) and in myocardial cells (369,465,466). Many inhibitors of the mechanism have been described. The erythrocyte transporter appears to have a broad substrate specificity and is inhibited by nitrobenzylthiopurine (NBTP) nucleosides (331). Studies of this transporter in other cells indicate that this protein is so integrally embedded in the membrane as to be unaffected by treatment with trypsin, neuraminidase, and other enzymes.

The adenosine transport system in cardiac myocytes provides

interesting new data concerning the loss and salvage of adenine derivatives in myocardium. Rovetto and co-workers have shown that the rate of adenosine uptake was two-fold greater from exogenous ATP (10  $\mu$ M), which first required dephosphorylation, than from exogenous adenosine  $(35 \mu M)$  in cultured cells (466). This difference was not observed in the perfused heart, possibly because of ecto-enzyme activity (see below). Other evidence supports the hypothesis that adenosine uptake proceeds by two separate and distinct processes: one requiring ATP hydrolysis and the other free adenosine. These transport systems had  $K_m$ 's of  $10^{-8}$ M and  $10^{-5}$ M, respectively (369). The high affinity transporter, in response to a hypoxic insult, functioned in reverse by releasing adenosine from the cell. This process was inhibited by concanavalin A (465). It was hypothesized that, during hypoxia, free adenosine does not build up intracellularly because of this high affinity transport. Others describe adenosine diffusion across the plasmalemma down a concentration gradient (386).

Cultured astrocytes have been shown to release ATP (437). The author described this release as a translocation process which was sensitive to the concentration of ATP existing on the outside of the cell, with different cell lines responding differentially to various ATP concentrations. NN astrocytes, for example, responded to 5 x  $10^{-7}$ M ATP, whereas others required a higher concentration and some cells (sea urchin, human erythrocytes and human oligodendroglioma cells) did not release ATP.

Some authors (205,370,454) have discounted this as a physiological response and have outlined what is presently described as "nucleotide permeabilization." ATP was shown to cause large, abnormal channels through which many substances (proteins, ATP, etc.) could pass. This phenomenon, however, appears to be

peculiar to transformed cell lines and to occur only at high ATP concentrations (>100  $\mu$ M) and at alkaline pH. An exception is the dog red blood cell (328), which at normal pH underwent permeability changes, but at high ATP concentrations (>100  $\mu$ M).

Nucleotide efflux via a transporter protein is rare. One example is the classical system for elevating cAMP in the extracellular milieu in <u>Dictyostelium discoideum</u> (164,327). In this system, cAMP functions as a chemotactic agent for cell-to-cell communication. These cells also release ATP, the appearance of which is sensitive to potassium cyanide and dinitrophenol (327). The authors speculated that this ATP release may have occurred by a process similar to cAMP transport.

Release of cyclic AMP also occurs in nucleated avian red cells. The initial results concerning this nucleotide release demonstrated that epinephrine and isoproterenol stimulated, while probenecid inhibited, release (68). Subsequent research demonstrated that this nucleotide translocator was distinct from transporters of nucleosides, sugars, amino acids, cations and anions (142). Others (26) have shown inhibition of cAMP release



by prostaglandin  $A_1$  (PGA<sub>1</sub>). PGA<sub>1</sub> had no effect on adenosine transport. An inhibitor of the adenosine transporter, nitrobenzylthioinosine (NBTI), likewise had no effect on cAMP transport (201). The authors speculate that the cAMP translocator may have broad specificity. If this is true, then it may be just a matter of time before carrier-mediated ATP efflux is demonstrated.

The release of ATP from tissues may, therefore, involve four processes:

- 1) neurotransmitter release (exocytosis).
- 2) flow down an electrochemical gradient, possibly through a channel in response to hypoxia or as a result of membrane depolarization.
- 3) carrier-mediated translocation across the membrane.
- 4) "nucleotide permeabilization."

When ATP appears in the extracellular space, hydrolysis is extremely likely because of the high concentration of ecto-enzymes associated with various tissues.

# Control of Extracellular Nucleotide Concentration: Ecto-enzymes

In general, ecto-enzymes must fulfill specified criteria (20,283,334,410). They must be an integral protein of the plasma membrane and their active site must be externally directed to act on a non-penetrating substrate and be antagonized by non-penetrating inhibitors. These criteria are satisfied by ecto-enzymes that are abundantly situated to deal with extracellular levels of ATP (20). For instance, cardiac muscle has considerable ability to degrade ATP and adenosine that is



perfused through it (154,229,421). One enzyme, 5'-nucleotidase, is especially abundant on almost all myocardial extracellular surfaces, and ATPase and ADPase activity is high in the heart (335,387). Skeletal muscle has been shown to sequentially degrade exogenous ATP to IMP, using an ATPase, adenylate kinase and AMP deaminase (128,283,285,473). A 5'-nucleotidase is also present, which results in extracellular adenosine production.

Vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells have also been shown to hydrolyze exogenous ATP to adenosine, using ecto-enzymes with different specificities (91,115,120,165,184,199,336,338,375). Though no deaminase or ATP-pyrophosphatase activity exists, both cell types have the following ecto-enzymes:

- 1) magnesium-stimulated nucleoside triphosphatase (nonspecific: ATP  $\rightarrow$  ADP + P<sub>i</sub>, or XTP  $\rightarrow$  XDP + P<sub>i</sub>)
- 2) nucleoside diphosphatase (ADP  $\rightarrow$  AMP + P<sub>i</sub>)
- 3) nucleoside diphosphate kinase (2 ADP  $\rightarrow$  ATP + AMP)
- 4) 5'-nucleotidase (AMP  $\rightarrow$  adenosine + P<sub>i</sub>).

Adenosine deaminase activity (adenosine → inosine) has also recently been demonstrated (202,303).

Due to the vast surface area of red blood cells, the presence of ecto-ATPases in their membranes constitutes a significant provision for hydrolysis of ATP (438,442). Individual human red cells are said to degrade  $3.2 \times 10^6$  molecules of ATP per minute (206), a figure that is estimated to be about 1000 times higher than that for nucleated avian red cells (443). Ecto-ATPase activity of frog erythrocytes is 37 nmoles/ml cells min (438), or 1.86 x 10<sup>7</sup> molecules of ATP per cell per minute (see p. 40). Ecto-enzymes in muscle, red cells, and vascular tissue makes it likely that they function to control the local concentration of ATP even to the point of degrading some of it to a substance (adenosine) that is vasodilatory, but a thousand times less potent than ATP. The production of adenosine by ecto-enzymes, particularly 5'-nucleotidase, is now considered to be integral to the adenosine hypothesis (311,373). This enzyme, of course, must have a source of AMP.

Schrader (386) has shown that perfusion with  $\alpha,\beta$ -methylene ADP to inhibit 5'-nucleotidase activity had no effect on the hypoxia-induced release of adenosine from the guinea-pig heart. This seems to indicate that the adenosine appearing in the coronary circulation did not originate extracellularly. Yet, in this type of experiment it is always questionable whether the perfusate reached the interstitial space to inhibit, in this case, all of the 5'-nucleotidase enzymes.

Other cells also exhibit ecto-enzymes for ATP degradation: mast cells (73,92), white blood cells (113,118,139,293,349,409, 431,472,401), platelets (74,288,449), thymocytes (119), mammary cells (70), kidney tubules (365) and rat adipocytes (318,409). The central nervous system also has considerable ability to degrade ATP.

In the rat hippocampus, 5'-nucleotidase was not located at all synapses, but when present it was integral to both the

34

pre- and post-synaptic membranes (31). An important consideration concerning these ecto-enzymes is that their activity varies as a function of cell differentiation and growth (410): activity is lowest during mitotic activity and in immature cells. ATP Content and ATPase Activity of Erythrocytes

The nucleotide concentration of the interstitial space is an unknown quantity. The plasma, on the other hand, is generally thought to have a concentration of ATP of 1 µM or less (9,150,192, 329,387,464) except during exercise, when it is usually higher (144,150,329). Trauma (177,438) and localized or disseminated platelet activation (44,90,224,263) can also change nucleotide levels radically. For example, not only is ATP released from damaged tissue, but when plasma concentrations exceed  $10^{-4}$ M, blood elements release intracellular ATP by a process similar to the aforementioned "nucleotide permeabilization" (438). Some membrane "shedding" during normal circulation (127) may partially account for basal levels of adenine nucleotides in the plasma. Loss of ATP from red blood cells is not considered to be a normal occurrence. Rather than lose ATP, the red cell mass functions as a sink for adenosine (330,331,345,389) in the same genre as the endothelium (336,315).

Mature human red blood cells, anucleate and without mitochondria, rely on glycolysis as their predominant source of ATP production (389). With an oxygen consumption of

0.3 µmoles 02/ml cells.hr, human red cells produce and maintain millimolar levels of ATP (35,36,37,38,39,45,48,49,50,51,52,94, 108,130,182,302,341,354,385,389,417,435,461). Genetic deviations or disease processes such as anemias, lymphosarcoma, and pulmonary abnormalities result in concentrations of ATP that are decreased or sometimes elevated (48,50,51,130,302). Cell ageing (50,51,284,309,310) also causes ATP depletion in red cells. Table I documents the ATP concentration of human and frog red cells, the method by which it was determined, and the reference.

The oxygen-carrying capacity of frog red cells is 10.3 vol.%, about half that found in human red cells (276). In addition to the decreased oxygen-carrying capacity, nucleated cells consume considerably more oxygen than do cells without a nucleus.

The nucleated cells of amphibians, fish and birds consume O<sub>2</sub> at a rate greater than 2 µmoles O<sub>2</sub>/ml cells ·hr (389), which is about six times greater than that of human red cells. This is due to the higher concentration of glycolytic and tricarboxylic acid cycle enzymes and especially to the presence of active mitochondria which produce ATP via oxidative phosphorylation (389,103) in nucleated red cells. The spleen is the primary erythropoietic organ in the adult frog (15), producing flattened, elliptical, disc-shaped cells. These erythrocytes undergo mitosis in circulation (15,384), and maintain millimolar ATP levels that are allegedly higher than that observed in the human red cell (24,389).



## TABLE I

## Erythrocyte ATP Concentration (in mM)\*

Adult	Human		Assay Method
2.84	(461)		chromatography
4.76	(37)		firefly
3.04	(39)		chromatography
3.69	(45)		HPLC
3.36	(94)		HPLC
2.14	(108)		HPLC
5.76	(36)		firefly
1.10	(435)		NMR
4.08	(182)		hexokinase
4.28	(38)	caucasian	firefly
3.86	(38)	black	firefly
4.47	(38)	caucasian	hexokinase
3.73	(38)	black	hexokinase
4.02	(130)		?
3.89	(50)		hexokinase
5.49	(385)		HPLC
4.39	(302)		fluorescence assay
3.28	(48)		?
2.91	(51)		hexokinase
3.67	(49)	caucasian	hexokinase
3.35	(49)	black	hexokinase
4.33	(417)		HPLC
3.87	(354)		?
5.68	(52)		HPLC

こうこう シャー 御 たいい たいこう

「 ゆうんん シントン・ 一番 リントン イントロ

FROG	Assay Method
6.10 (24)	chromatography
3.31 ( 52)	HPLC

\*See APPENDIX I for calculations. Number in parentheses is the appropriate reference. HPLC: high performance liquid chromotography. Hexokinase refers to the coupled assay hexokinase-glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase, with NADPH measured.

Besides functioning as an energy source, red cell nucleotides interact with hemoglobin to alter the affinity of hemoglobin for oxygen. This is classically described in human red cells, which produce 2,3-diphosphoglycerate (2,3-DPG) as the allosteric effector of oxygen-hemoglobin binding (26,27,76). Assuming only moderate hypoxia of the hypoxic type, 2,3-DPG functions as a cofactor by binding to hemoglobin to shift the oxyhemoglobin curve to the right (277). In this way, 2,3-DPG increases the efficiency of oxygen delivery by causing hemoglobin to have less affinity for oxygen and encouraging  $0_2$  off-loading to the peripheral tissues. For an aerobic organism like the human, whose tissues are very oxygen dependent but whose respiratory capacity is high, this capability for rightward shift in the oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve provides considerable aerobic reserve and allows humans access to virtually all of the earth's land mass at practically all altitudes.

Organic phosphates affect the affinity of hemoglobin for oxygen the same way in most animals. The organic phosphate cofactors, however, vary in their importance based on their concentration, and the concentration varies by specie. Any one or a combination of 2,3-DPG, ATP, guanosine triphosphate (GTP) or inositol pentaphosphates (IP<sub>5</sub>) (23,200,451,452) may function to decrease hemoglobin affinity for oxygen. The developmental stage of red cells is important to the type and concentration of phosphate compound present (23). ATP is most important in the adult frog.

The decrease in hemoglobin-oxygen affinity caused by these substances can be rank ordered:  $IP_5 > GTP > 2,3-DPG > ATP$ . The concentration of these substances in the red cells of animals is relatively high in accordance with the degree of allosterism observed. One may expect to find significant shifts of affinity for oxygen in birds, which have high  $IP_5$ , but other animals will have smaller affinity shifts according to the organic phosphate that predominates in their red cells: mammals with 2,3-DPG, fish with GTP and ATP, and amphibians with ATP.

In fish (351,451,471) and eels (470), and presumably in frogs, environmental changes in the oxygen partial pressure (PO<sub>2</sub>) and/or temperature are commonly encountered, and result in changes of organic phosphate level. Rather than an increase, as found in humans, the organic phosphate level decreases with decreased pO<sub>2</sub>. Frogs submerged in hypoxic, stagnant water (e.g., during hibernation in the mud), adapt to low oxygen by increasing the hemoglobin-oxygen affinity. This is caused by decreased ATP. As blood moves through the organs of gas exchange (e.g., in frogs, the rudimentary lungs, the buccal-pharyngeal membranes, and the skin) the animal is able to survive aerobically because the oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve is shifted to the left, enhancing the on-loading of oxygen (366) from the hypoxic environment.

39

2000000

The phenomenon of loss of organic phosphate in response to decreased environmental oxygen entails one of the intermediate responses of the organism to hypoxia. Additional responses to the hypoxic insult include splenic release of erythrocytes, increase in hematocrit and decrease in plasma pH (351). If unable or unwilling to move to a more normoxic water environment, and having acutely responded with changes in heart rate and respiration, the organism's blood is able to provide a defense against hypoxia within hours by reducing the erythrocyte organic phosphate concentration. Metabolic readjustments within the erythrocyte undoubtedly occur (351,174), but are probably not the sole means for reducing red cell organophosphates (see DISCUSSION). Evidence exists that hypoxia-induced reduction of ATP in red cells of a fish, Fundulus heteroclitus (Bull minnow), occurs acutely within the first hour (175). This same observation in Squalous acanthius (dogfish) has been correlated with a reduction in the  $P_{50}$ during the first hour following hypoxic insult (455).

Red blood cells also demonstrate the ability to hydrolyze extracellular ATP (see p. 33). If ATP appears in the plasma as a consequence of injury, cell lysis due to age, neurotransmitter release, hormonal secretion, or in the course of normal cell function, its concentration must be controlled due to its vasodilatory effects and the fact that it can cause permeabilization. This latter phenomenon appears to be less critical for nucleated red blood cells of animals like the

frog and eel. Resistance to permeabilization may be due to the lipid composition of these erythrocytes, which have a higher phospholipid content than mammalian red cells (168).

The ATPase activity of nucleated red cells varies depending on the species (438). Table II provides a comparison of the rates at which red cells of various animals can hydrolyze extracellular ATP. This ecto-ATPase activity may be crucial to limiting the effects of ATP in traumatic shock (438) or in decreased peripheral resistance. These ecto-enzymes also may function as part of the normal adaptation by organ systems to environmental changes and in cell-to-cell communication.

Ethylenediaminetetraacetate (EDTA) has reportedly been a strong, reversible inhibitor of the ecto-ATPase activity of nucleated red blood cells (443). Since these hydrolyzing ecto-enzymes are directed outward from the plasma membrane, non-penetrating reagents can selectively inhibit them. Such reagents include suramin, sulphanilic acid, 5'-nucleotidase antibodies,  $\alpha,\beta$ -methylene ADP and concanavalin A (334). Though specificity may preclude direct inhibition of the ecto-ATPase (e.g., using 5'-nucleotidase antibodies), alteration of the local environment may cause a modification of enzyme activity.





















Ecto-ATPase Activity of Various Erythrocytes\*

Animal		ATP Molecules Hydrolyzed cell <sup>-1</sup> min <sup>-1</sup>
eel	(438)	$3.31 \times 10^7$
frog	(438)	$1.86 \times 10^7$
man	(206)	3.20 X 10 <sup>6</sup>
nan	(438)	3.82 X 10 <sup>5</sup>
rat	(438)	5.61 X 10 <sup>5</sup>
rabbit	(438)	4.39 X 10 <sup>5</sup>
cat	(438)	1.54 X 10 <sup>5</sup>
pigeon	(443)	$2.00 \times 10^3$

\*See APPENDIX II for calculations. Number in parentheses is appropriate reference.

However, altering the local environment has not always proved to be an effective technique. For example, neuraminidase treatment does not change the activity of ecto-ATPase and 5'-nucleotidase in certain cells (439). Conversely, neuraminidase treatment resulted in the release of ATP and ribonucleic acids (439).

Inhibition of ATPase may occur only from direct competitive interaction of a reagent with that portion of the enzyme protein projecting from the cell surface, or in the case of EDTA, by removing a required cofactor, such as magnesium (443). No specific inhibitor of ecto-ATPase has been found, but trifluoperazine (293), ethacrynic acid (73), N-ethylmaleimide (401), and difluorodinitrobenzene (377) have been used with some success in inhibiting ecto-ATPases of some cells. Whether these substances inhibitor the ecto-ATPase on red blood cells has not been determined.

The prevailing evidence is that the outside surfaces of cells are able to hydrolyze ATP. These include cells from skeletal muscle, vascular smooth muscle, endothelium, red and white blood cells, platelets, and synaptic membranes of neurons.

43

## CALCIUM MOBILIZATION IN CARDIAC CELLS: VOLTAGE-SENSITIVE VS. RECEPTOR-MEDIATED MECHANISMS

ATP is able to mobilize calcium in the myocardium (see p. 54). Therefore, a discussion of calcium homeostasis and mobilization into the cell is appropriate.

Control over calcium inside the cell is essential for cell life. Besides conveying partial excitability to cells like muscle and nerve, calcium provides stability and regulatory control to various membrane proteins, e.g., integral proteins of both the cell membrane and membranes of internal organelles. With calcium maintained at a low intracellular concentration, it exhibits a permissive role in allowing phosphate-driven metabolism.

Calcium also can function as a second messenger. Due to its low concentration, the influx of a few calcium ions can be used to activate enzymes. Recovery of these few ions to the cell exterior or into an organelle is accomplished at the expenditure of a relatively small amount of energy. None of the aforementioned would be possible were it not for the various mechanisms for entry and exit of small amounts of calcium.

The following discussion is devoted to contrasting the entry of calcium via voltage-sensitive channels and mobilization of calcium via receptor-mediated mechanisms. Control over cell calcium is briefly reviewed. Particular emphasis is placed on the recent electrophysiological evidence for calcium channels in myocardial cells, and on the recent hypothesis that activation of phospholipids from the cell membrane causes elevated calcium in

the cytoplasm. Calcium blockers are introduced to demonstrate how they may be used to unravel channel control mechanisms.

#### Control of Intracellular Calcium

SAMANA PARAMANA ANALOSA MANANANA

Cells exhibit precise control over their internal concentration of calcium. For this reason, calcium influx can and does function to initiate various cellular functions when its concentration exceeds basal levels of approximately 100 nM. This "resting" concentration is maintained by various mechanisms (69, 167,287):

- a calcium pump in the plasmalemma that is ATP dependent.
- 2) a sodium-calcium exchanger in the plasmalemma that is dependent on the sodium gradient.
- a calcium pump in the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) or endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membranes that is ATP dependent.
- a calcium uniporter in the inner mitochondrial membrane that is dependent on the negative membrane potential generated by proton transport.

As a result of low intracellular calcium, very few influxing calcium ions are necessary to activate or inhibit enzymes, and very little energy has to be expended to re-establish resting levels.

Low calcium is crucial for at least two other reasons. First, high-energy phosphate-driven metabolism would be impossible without low intracellular calcium because inorganic phosphate from ATP hydrolysis would precipitate into hydroxyapatite crystals. Second, gating of some membrane channels would be impossible. Channels that are regulated, i.e., opened or closed, in response to changes in the transmembrane potential are very dependent on low intracellular calcium levels and minor fluxes into and out of the cell.

The mechanisms by which calcium enters the cytoplasm are varied. Non-specific diffusion down an electrochemical gradient is possible. Voltage-sensitive calcium channels exist in the plasmalemma. Other calcium channels in the plasmalemma, SR and ER may account for considerable flux of calcium. Mitochondria have a sodium-calcium antiport which exchanges one calcium ion for two sodium ions. Thus, a number of mechanisms exist for allowing an influx of calcium into the cell.

A rapid and large increase (10 to 100-fold) in cytosolic calcium can provide almost instantaneous communication, as seen on a beat-to-beat basis in cardiac muscle. In adult hearts, calcium influx provides the signal for the release of some contractile calcium from the SR (136). The frog heart is an exception. Calcium-induced release of calcium from the SR is not necessary for excitation-contraction coupling (135,136). The frog heart is apparently the only exception among the various adult cardiac tissues studied. Frog ventricle derives its contractile calcium from the extracellular pool upon depolarization of the plasmalemma (135,136,258,319). The consequence of this is that the calcium of the SR is not recycled, the calcium concentration of the SR cannot be increased, and no post-extrasystolic potentiation can be elicited (258).

Calcium Channels in Myocardial Cells

A few years ago, only one calcium channel was discussed. Now the debate involves how many different calcium channels there are, the manner by which they are distinguished in function and distribution (neuron vs. muscle, for example), which type is sensitive to the various calcium channel blockers, and which are responsible for the physiological currents measured (207,251,292,300,323,358).

Voltage-sensitive channels of the cell membrane are the ones best described. Under voltage clamp conditions and with the use of sodium and potassium blockers, it has been possible to isolate calcium currents. By comparison with the channels that convey sodium ions with currents of 1-5 mA/cm<sup>2</sup>, calcium channels, even when maximally activated with excess calcium or barium present, elicit currents less than 100  $\mu$ A/cm<sup>2</sup> (209). Their rate of activation is slow, but rapid inactivation occurs upon repolarization (209).

The calcium channel that appears to be most common has been designated the L-type (207,323,358). This channel was found in both muscle and nerve cells. It decayed slowly ("L" for long lasting with a  $t_{l_2}$  of hundreds of milliseconds), required strong depolarizations (voltage steps > 40 mv), and was sensitive to dihydropyridine antagonists and the agonist Bay K 8644. Average current size (from isolated single channels in patch clamp) was approximately 2 pA.

The other two calcium channels have been designated T (for transient) and N (for neither T nor L). These channels were not sensitive to dihydropyridines. Average unitary currents for T and N were 0.62 pA and 1.22 pA, respectively, and they demonstrated time-dependent inactivation. By contrast, L channels were relatively resistant to inactivation.

Though this information primarily comes from the study of dorsal root ganglia in chick embryo (323), unitary T and L channels have also been studied in myocytes from the ventricles of guinea pigs (207). In addition to verifying that the L channel was affected by nimodipine and Bay K 8644, this research also demonstrated that barium was conducted through the L channel more efficiently, resulting in a larger current. Additionally, current through T channels was preferentially retained following excision of a membrane patch during patch recording, whereas the current through L channels is quickly lost. Some intracellular constituent is apparently essential for normal function of L channels.

Recent research also identified the sodium-calcium exchange current in single cardiac myocytes (251,292). It was electrogenic and voltage-dependent, required intracellular free calcium, resulted from release of calcium from the SR, and was blocked by lanthanum. It has been suggested that this current may contribute to pacemaker activity (292).











## Receptor-Mediated Calcium Mobilization

Receptors that either stimulate or inhibit the adenylate cyclase-cAMP system have been well characterized. However, the total cellular response (i.e., which enzymes and substrates are affected) has not been totally elucidated. In the heart epinephrine (via  $\beta$  receptors) has positive inotropic and chronotropic actions (398). This occurs when the cAMP-pathway modulates intracellular calcium. The same agonists that affect

the cAMP pathway in one tissue may produce different actions in another tissue due to a different receptor and pathway. For example, a series of changes in cell function can occur concurrently with or following the hydrolysis of phosphotidylinositol (PI) (32,33,34,67,167).

Due to the nature of the adenylate cyclase-cAMP pathway, several criteria must be defined for classifying the receptors involved in calcium mobilization via phospholipid pathways (167). They are as follows:

- 1) Calcium influx or efflux must correlate with agonist-receptor binding.
- Calcium ionophores must effect responses similar to agonist-mediated responses.
- 3) Absence of calcium must prevent the response.
- 4) Adenylate cyclase must not be affected by the agonist-receptor binding.
- 5) Guanine nucleotides must not alter receptor binding.
- The receptor-mediated response must occur independent of any changes in cAMP levels.
- Phosphotidylinositide metabolism must correlate with agonist-receptor binding.

When these criteria are met, what other events take place upon stimulation of a calcium-coupled channel?

As the result of an agonist-receptor interaction, various phospholipids in the cell membrane are enzymatically altered. For instance, phosphotidylethanolamine (PE), which predominates in the inner leaflet of the cell membrane, becomes methylated (with S-adenosylmethionine) to phosphotidylcholine (PC), with subsequent translocation to the outer leaflet (32,67). It has been suggested (67) that four events may then result:

- a) a change in membrane fluidity, with enhanced interaction of integral proteins (i.e., a G protein with adenylate cyclase).
- b) up or down regulation of cell receptors.
- c) increased calcium permeability.

- d) activation of phospholipase A2.
- e) release of arachidonic acid (AA) from phospholipids.
- f) prostaglandin synthesis as a result of AA release.

Calcium-coupled receptors also are responsible for other cellular effects, in particular, the turnover of phosphoinositide lipids (32,67,123,167,210,214,297,321). This observation dominates the other criteria of calcium-coupled receptors, causing certain structural and functional changes in the cell. First, PI may be hydrolyzed to diacylglycerol (DG) and/or inositol 1,2-cyclic phosphate and inositol 1-phosphate. The enzyme responsible for this hydrolysis is a PI-phosphodiesterase, also called phospholipase C. Besides PI, the inner leaflet of the cell membrane contains proportionally less concentrations of phosphotidylinositol 4-phosphate (diphosphoinositide, or DPI) and phosphotidylinositol 4,5-diphosphate (triphosphoinositide, or TPI or PIP<sub>2</sub>). Given a particular cell type, the breakdown of PI, DPI, and TPI may or may not be dependent on calcium (32). However, it is TPI which appears to be preferentially degraded, releasing DG and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) (33,34,167). With TPI representing about 6% of the hormone-sensitive pool of phosphoinositides, agonist-mediated turnover of each of the phosphoinositides exhibits its most significant effect by producing IP<sub>3</sub> from TPI (34).

As reviewed by Berridge (34), IP<sub>3</sub> may function as a second messenger to cause the release of calcium from internal stores. He cites as evidence the release of calcium from a nonmitochondrial pool, possibly the ER, upon the application of IP<sub>3</sub> to permeabilized liver, smooth muscle, and pancreatic cells. Recent evidence in adrenal chromaffin cells also supports this hypothesis (418).

Although the IP<sub>3</sub>-second messenger pathway is strongly supported by the evidence to be the pre-eminent cause of calcium release, additional events may result from phosphoinositide turnover and be just as important (32,34,67,167).



- Calcium bound to PI in the cell membrane may be released with the hydrolysis of PI, which may open a voltage-sensitive calcium channel.
- 3) Hydrolysis of the phosphoinositides may release AA, an abundant acyl group in the 2-position of phospholipids. Various eicosanoids may then be formed from AA to result in varied cell-specific actions, including calcium release.
- Guanylate cyclase may be activated. The mechanism is not known, but may involve AA or a metabolite of AA.

The association of these various events with one another and with agonist-receptor activation still only provides circumstantial evidence for a cause-effect relationship. It is possible that these events also may occur concurrently.

## Calcium-Antagonist Effects

Establishing which substances antagonize which calcium actions will better define the roles that calcium plays in normal cell functions. It appears that at low doses calcium antagonists preferentially affect voltage-sensitive channels (167,313). The fact that they can affect agonist- mediated mechanisms of calcium mobilization does not exclude an association between both mechanisms of calcium release. In some instances the mechanisms for voltage- and receptor-mediated calcium mobilization may involve the same calcium channel, though substantiation of this hypothesis has not yet occurred.

As already discussed with regard to voltage-sensitive channels, it appears that the dihydropyridines are effective inhibitors of L channels, but not N and T channels. Evidence exists that calcium antagonist binding sites are functionally associated with the channel (131). Thus, different molecular structures for the three calcium channels can be surmised (131). This is supported by the fact that the binding site of dyhydropyridines is distinct from the binding sites of verapamil and diltiazem (300).

A PRESENT MANAGER PARTICIPALITY AND A PARTICIPALITY

A model exists (388) of a voltage-sensitive calcium channel that takes into consideration the effects of the calcium antagonists. At the channel entrance are negative charges indicative of the binding sites for the inorganic cations which can block calcium entry. These inorganic blockers include manganese, lanthanum, magnesium, nickel and cobalt, all of which antagonize calcium entry by displacing it from these obligatory binding sites (13,198,274,312). Closer to the voltage-sensitive gate, but external to it, is the binding site for the organic calcium-antagonist, nifedipine. Characteristic of the dihydropyridines, nifedipine acts as if it were a "plug" in the channel. It is therefore effective whether or not depolarization continues to occur (47, 304, 388). Alternatively, verapamil and diltiazem attach to binding sites internal to the gate. Their ability to antagonize calcium entry is "use-dependent", i.e., depolarization must occur to allow access to their binding



sites (47,274,312,388). Consequently, interference with calcium entry by these blockers only occurs once the gate is open.

These observations combined with evidence of calcium-channel activators has led to the proposal of three modes of gating activity (388). Thus, conditions characteristic of calcium currents o. short duration is described as Mode 1. Mode 0 exhibits no calcium currents and Mode 2 displays currents which are long-lasting. Mode 0 can be achieved with blockers and Mode 2 with activators such as Bay K 8644, CGP 28392, and YC 170 (388). These calcium channel activators are chemically similar to the dihydropyridines, bind at the "N" binding site, but function in such a way as to increase the probability of channel opening. Calcium Mobilized by ATP

Due to an excitatory receptor, the  $P_{2X}$  purinoceptor (171), ATP produces a positive inotropic effect which is striking in the isolated frog heart (445). This response to extracellular ATP has been described as triphasic: an initial, abrupt increase in contractility, a secondary decrease, and finally a sustained increase above control values (140). The effect of ATP on the frog heart has been explained as follows. The duration of the action potential, as observed in isolated trabeculae, increases (140,320). In particular, phase 2 of the action potential (plateau phase) is prolonged (140,320). This is the first indication that there may be an association between voltagedependent calcium channels and receptor-mediated release of

calcium. That is, ATP appears to affect calcium movement during the action potential, thereby causing increased availability of calcium via a voltage-dependent channel in the sarcolemma. This could occur as the result of the  $P_{2X}$  receptor increasing calcium conductance through a slow-inward channel, though activation of other latent calcium channels should not be ruled out.

DERIGENT ACCOUNT WASHED DEPENDENT AND

Besides mobilization of extracellular calcium, ATP may also modulate intracellular levels of calcium via other mechanisms. Even without an imposed depolarization (evoked action potential), ATP is able to depolarize trabeculae by 10 mv and elevate the tension. The increased tension has been attributed to calcium release from the SR (320). Other evidence indicates that prostaglandins may participate in these actions. By comparison with a control response of isolated frog ventricle to ATP, when indomethacin at 10  $\mu$ M concentration is present the triphasic response is altered. The first phase of the response is diminished and the third phase of the triphasic response is eliminated altogether (140). It is obvious that a multitude of cellular effects occur when ATP activates its P<sub>2</sub> receptor.

Thus, two means for calcium mobilization can be contrasted in the myocardium: one via voltage-sensitive channels and one via receptor-mediated mechanisms. Existing evidence is too weak to conclude that the two processes are coupled. Calcium mobilization via voltage-sensitive channels is more sensitive, on the basis of concentration, to the calcium antagonists.
Presently, three voltage-sensitive channels are known, two of which (the L and T channels) also exist in the myocardium. With regard to calcium-coupled channels, the adenylate cyclase-cAMP pathway is not the only second messenger system which influences intracellular calcium. IP<sub>3</sub> is another good candidate for mobilizing calcium from some internal store. Additionally, other events occur either concurrently with or subsequent to the metabolism of the phospholipids in the plasmalemma. Arachidonic acid, its metabolites, or cGMP may contribute to the receptor-mediated response.

# A Potpourri of ATP Effects

The following are examples of the effects that extracellular ATP has on cells. Cell membranes change their permeability in response to extracellular ATP. This phenomenon is different from the "nucleotide permeabilization" process discussed earlier. Large channels are not formed and proteins are not lost to the cell exterior. In rat mast cells, ATP (1-40  $\mu$ M) induces a depolarization as sodium and potassium become permeable. This ultimately results in release of histamine (73,83,84,85,100). A similar permeability change (K<sub>m</sub> = 5  $\mu$ M ATP) with potassium-specific efflux occurs in HeLa cells (7). In ascites tumor cells (414), a generalized permeability increase to ions was hypothesized as the cause of increased cell volume in response to

increased their calcium uptake in response to ATP (2 mM) (273).

extracellular ATP (0.6 mM). Also, Ehrlich ascites tumor cells

In isolated kidney tubules (365), ATP (1-4 mM) has been shown to cause calcium uptake and cell swelling. This cation permeability increase with ATP (0.1nM-1mM) has been associated with elevated inotropism in frog ventricle (140,398). It occurs early in cell development, having been observed in embryonic muscle cells (188) in response to similar concentrations (1-500  $\mu$ M). Sodium influx occurs in response to ATP (10  $\mu$ M-1 mM) in dog erythrocytes (364), which are high in sodium, but not in cat or human RBC's. This was hypothesized to occur as ATP interacted with membrane proteins. In isolated chromaffin granules (348) there was a documented change in the transmembrane potential induced by ATP ( $K_m = 40 \ \mu M$ ) causing a structural alteration in the membrane. This permeability change was theorized to be related to control of secretion. Calcium uptake also was stimulated in D. discoideum when ATP was present (327). Interestingly, these cells have the ability to provide their own extracellular ATP and cAMP. The purpose of the ATP is not known, but the cAMP is necessary for communicating with other D. discoideum during differentiation.

Extracellular ATP also has been shown to affect the metabolism of various cells. Millimolar concentrations stimulated glucose uptake and carbohydrate metabolism in kidney slices (453). More physiological levels (5-50  $\mu$ M) inhibited adipocytes from transporting glucose in response to insulin (75). Frog gastric mucosa could be prevented from secreting H<sup>+</sup> when 1-5 mM ATP was



present (378). The physiological significance of applying such a high concentration is dubious. However, the authors provide an interesting discussion concerning evidence for the possible uptake of ATP by these cells (129,247).

Extracellular ATP may communicate inhibitory information in certain cells. A cytostatic effect occured at 40 µM in certain tumor cells (355). This may be related to the low activity level of ecto-enzymes found in rapidly dividing cells (discussed earlier). Such a low activity may prevent these cells from hydrolyzing ATP, consequently precluding the cells from functioning normally. A similar observation was made in fibroblasts (233,259), which were prevented from aggregating in cell culture when millimolar ATP was present. Once ATP was hydrolyzed, cell aggregation returned.

Phagocytosis, a normal cell function of macrophages, could be prevented by the addition of millimolar levels of ATP (428). Another example is the stabilizing effect that could be produced by ATP (0.1-1 mM) on nerves (325), in addition to antagonizing the depressant effects of procaine (270).

Various stimulatory effects can be caused by ATP. In the cat, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) release occurred in response to intra-arterial infusion of ATP in the gastrointestinal tract (399). Another example is less definitive. Though the mechanism is unknown, intraperitoneal injections of ATP (200 mg/Kg) increased the survival time of mice exposed to hypoxic environments (264,265,266). Perhaps this is related to glucose

58

THE PARTY PA



59

Finally, synthesis of platelet activating factor (PAF) and prostacyclin (PGI<sub>2</sub>) was shown to occur in endothelial cell cultures upon stimulation with ATP (1-300 µM) (291,340). This co-production was demonstrated to be physiologically significant. The PGI<sub>2</sub> was produced briefly and released into the medium, whereas the PAF production was longer-lasting and remained in close association with the endothelium. This may serve in platelet aggregation to cause a localized activation via PAF release but still prevent disseminated intravascular coagulation via PGI<sub>2</sub> release.

The foregoing is a comprehensive review of ATP functions in the extracellular space. In addition to the well-known areas of neurotransmission and metabolic vasodilation, ATP appears to produce a variety of actions on many cell types. Collectively, these examples attest to the potent and pervasive means by which extracellular ATP can provide for cellular communication.







### METHODS

## ATP Assay

The method used for measuring ATP concentration in an aqueous solution was a modification of the firefly bioluminescence assay used by Strehler and McElroy (422). As shown in Figure 1, the procedure required the following equipment:

- 1) a photomultiplier tube (PMT) and sample holder,
- 2) a direct current power source for the PMT, i.e.,
- a Hewlett-Packard 6515A DC power supply (1600 V),
- 3) a circuit breaker, and
- 4) a pen recorder, e.g., Fisher Recordall Model 5000.

Utilizing 100 µl of reconstituted firefly lantern extract (FLE-50, Sigma) and 100 µl of synthetic luciferin (D-luciferin, L-9504, Sigma), the reagents were micro-pipetted into four disposable cuvettes held by a carrier in the sample holder. The cuvettes were semi-micro size (Cole Parmer), having a transmittance of 400-800 nanometers and an optical path length of 10 mm. Each cuvette was cut approximately in half to fit the sample holder, holding a maximum volume of approximately 0.7 ml.

After loading the cuvettes into the carrier, the top of the sample holder was replaced. The energized PMT was only exposed to the transmission path of the cuvettes. The sample holder formed a seal that prevented room light from reaching the PMT but enabled assays to be conducted in a lighted room.



FIGURE 1 Equipment Used in the Firefly Bioluminescence Assay.

From left to right, the equipment includes: a Fisher Recordall Model 5000 pen recorder; the sample holder for photomultiplier tube (PMT); the DC power source for the PMT, an H-P 6515A DC power supply (background); and a the cuvettes (foreground) and container for the





ł.

FIGURE 1



A sample volume of 200  $\mu$ l was injected into the injection port on the top of the sample holder, similar to the procedure used by Silinsky (394). Injection through the injection port required an SMI micropipette and a two-inch, 20 gauge hypodermic needle (Popper & Sons).

With 1600 V(DC) energizing the PMT, the presence of ATP in a sample could be detected by the amount of light emitted according to the enzymatic reaction (68,237) shown in Figure 2. The light signal was amplified by the PMT and recorded on the pen recorder in millivolts.

The recorded signal, shown in Figure 3, had two components. The initial signal, component A, was the background signal generated by the reaction mixture alone. Due to the presence of some endogenous ATP already in the firefly lantern extract (FLE), it proved beneficial to delay the assay procedure for 30 minutes until the background signal had become constant (see component A in Figure 3). Upon injection of 200  $\mu$ l of a sample or a known standard ATP solution, the reaction mixture was diluted, as demonstrated by the decrease in the recorded signal. This was followed by a rapid rise in the recorded signal as exogenous ATP was hydrolyzed (component B in Figure 3). This latter signal, the assay signal, was proportional to the concentration of ATP in the injected sample.

ATP concentrations of the unknown samples were obtained by comparison of the assay signals to a standard curve. This curve was created for each experiment as follows. Known concentrations



# FIGURE 2 The Photinus pyralis (firefly) Enzymatic Reaction.

١

In the presence of excess luciferin (100  $\mu I$  synthetic luciferin), excess luciferase (100  $\mu I$  re-constituted firefly lantern extract), and with magnesium and oxygen present, light is emitted proportional to the concentration of ATP existing in a sample (200  $\mu I$  added to the cuvette containing the firefly reaction mixture). The light is emitted at a wavelength of 565 nm (yellow) It strikes the PMT, which enhances the signal, and in turn is recorded in millivolts on a pen recorder.



Ž

## FIGURE 3

The second second

A SSS AN ARREAD REPAREMENT REARING THREED PRESENT FRANKS

Emitted Light Signal Recorded from the Photomultiplier Tube.

Component A is the background signal emitted by the firefly reaction mixture. Upon addition of a sample to the mixture, component A is diluted. If ATP is present in the sample, component B (the assay signal) is generated. Component B exhibits a rapid-rise increase in the light signal and an exponential decay in addition to the peak that is proportional to the ATP concentration. Vertical bar, 10 mv; horizontal bar, 20 seconds.



of ATP (1 nM to 1  $\mu$ M) in frog Ringer's solution and a blank (ATP-free frog Ringer's solution) were assayed and the recorded signal plotted versus ATP concentration. The value of the recorded signal was calculated by dividing the assay signal (component B) by the background signal (component A) to give a signal-to-background ratio (B/A ratio). A blank sample (frog Ringer's solution without ATP) had a B/A ratio, and this was subtracted from each of the B/A ratios for all the known standards. A logarithmic plot of ATP concentration versus the B/A ratio resulted in a standard curve (Figure 4). After each unknown sample was assayed, its B/A ratio (minus the B/A ratio of the blank) was then plotted on the standard curve to determine the ATP concentration of the unknown sample.

By subtracting the B/A ratio of the blank, one has ensured that the standard curve is representative of the light signal emitted by the exogenous ATP and not as a consequence of the already existing ATP in the crude firefly lantern extract. Also, dividing the assay signal (component B) by the background signal (component A) ensured that the light signal emitted was comparable between all assays during an experiment.









Known ATP standard solutions and a blank (ATP-free frog Ringer's solution) were assayed, generating light signals as in Figure 3. The ratio of component B to component A was calculated (B/A ratio), from which the blank signal (B/A ratio) was subtracted. This value was then plotted versus the ATP concentration. The curve is exponential and allows differentiation of two unknown samples in the nM range.









いというとう

K-CC-FF

For example, the background signal (component A) of the firefly extract was observed to decrease over time, as shown in Figure 5a and 5b. This variability in the luciferase activity over time resulted in an assay signal (component B) that was diminished. Nevertheless, it exhibited the same proportionality to the background signal. Thus, if the B/A ratio was calculated at any given time, a comparison of ATP levels could be accurately made between samples. That is, time was not a factor in assaying the ATP concentration of the unknown samples. Figure 6 demonstrates that, using this procedure, there was no difference in the standard curves plotted with values acquired 80 minutes apart.

Effort also was taken to minimize signal loss due to quenching. Early experiments utilized quartz glass cuvettes, until it was shown that a mild degree of quenching of the light signal occurred. This is demonstrated in Figure 7. The inset shows that the recording of an ATP standard (5 nM) assayed in a glass (G) cuvette was very similar to a recording using a plastic (P) cuvette. Upon plotting the standard curves, however, the difference in the resultant light signal as measured by the B/A ratio became significant. The light emitted through glass









# FIGURE 5 Light Signal Diminution With Time.

The activity of the firefly reaction mixture decreased with time, as seen when ATP standard solutions [1 nM in a) and 10 nM in b)] were assayed initially in "i", and again 80 minutes later in "ii". Both the background signal (component A) and the assay signal (component B) were diminished in amplitude. However, the B/A ratios were identical. Vertical bar, 10 mv; horizontal bar, 20 seconds.





![](_page_90_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_90_Picture_3.jpeg)

![](_page_90_Picture_4.jpeg)

![](_page_90_Picture_5.jpeg)

![](_page_90_Picture_6.jpeg)

![](_page_90_Picture_7.jpeg)

![](_page_90_Picture_8.jpeg)

![](_page_90_Picture_9.jpeg)

FIGURE 6

и. **н**. н. у

Comparison of ATP Standard Curves Generated 80 Minutes Apart.

B/A ratios calculated from signals as in Figure 5 are compared: x, first assay; o, second assay with the same ATP standard solution 80 minutes later. There was no difference in the standard curves. Therefore, time was not a factor in determining the ATP concentration of unknown samples assayed at different times.

![](_page_90_Picture_13.jpeg)

![](_page_91_Figure_0.jpeg)

TELLARDER STOCKES

![](_page_92_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_92_Picture_1.jpeg)

![](_page_92_Picture_2.jpeg)

![](_page_92_Picture_3.jpeg)

![](_page_92_Picture_4.jpeg)

![](_page_92_Picture_5.jpeg)

![](_page_92_Picture_6.jpeg)

![](_page_92_Picture_7.jpeg)

![](_page_92_Picture_8.jpeg)

日本をたち

Comparison of Light Signals and Standard Curves When ATP Standard Solutions were Assayed Using Plastic (P) and Glass (G) Cuvettes.

The inset shows that light signals generated through plastic and glass appear to be the same. ATP concentration was 5 nM. Vertical bar, 10 mv; horizontal bar, 20 seconds. The standard curves were generated as in Figure 4. Assays through glass (o) did not emit as much light as through plastic (x), as seen by a comparison of the standard curves.

![](_page_93_Figure_0.jpeg)

was less, and some quenching of the light signal was obvious. Plastic cuvettes were subsequently used in all experiments.

Signal enhancement was made possible through the addition of synthetic luciferin to the reconstituted firefly lantern extract (FLE) (420). This is shown in Figure 8. The inset demonstrates that an assay of an ATP standard (25 nM) without excess luciferin (Figure 8i) exhibited an assay signal (component B) less than the background signal. In the presence of excess luciferin (Figure 8ii), the assay signal exceeded background emission. A comparison of the standard curves made with and without synthetic luciferin (Figure 8) shows that sensitivity was greater when synthetic luciferin was added. With the reactants present in excess, the amount of light emitted was only limited by the substance measured (ATP). Such enhancement with excess luciferin allowed quantification at nanomolar levels.

Use of the firefly bioluminescence assay also provided discrimination between various phosphorylated compounds. First, ATP standards (1 nM to 100 nM) that were assayed in a mixture of reconstituted firefly and synthetic luciferin, resulted in light

![](_page_94_Picture_3.jpeg)

![](_page_94_Picture_4.jpeg)

![](_page_94_Picture_5.jpeg)

![](_page_94_Picture_6.jpeg)

![](_page_94_Picture_7.jpeg)

![](_page_95_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_95_Picture_1.jpeg)

Excess luciferin is necessary to preclude a rate limitation of the reaction (Figure 2) and to increase the sensitivity of the bioluminescence assay. The inset compares the light signals generated by the same ATP standard solution  $(2.5 \times 10^{-8} \text{M})$ . i-without synthetic luciferin added; vertical bar, 10 mv. ii-with 100 µl synthetic luciferin  $(500 \ \mu\text{g/ml})$ ; vertacal bar, 100 mv. Horizontal bar is 20 seconds. The standard curves were generated as in Figure 4. Sensitivity was enhanced with synthetic luciferin (o), allowing quantification in the nanomolar range, whereas almost a 10-fold higher concentration was needed to generate the same amount of light when synthetic luciferin was absent (x).

![](_page_95_Picture_3.jpeg)

![](_page_95_Picture_4.jpeg)

![](_page_95_Picture_5.jpeg)

![](_page_96_Figure_0.jpeg)

signals that exhibited three characteristics:

- 1) a dose-dependent light emission,
- 2) a rapid-rise increase in the light signal, and
- 3) an exponential decay of the light signal.

These are demonstrated in Figure 9.

1. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2.

1122200

Second, other adenine nucleotides or phosphorylated compounds demonstrated no such dose dependency or signal behavior at these concentrations. For instance, at an equivalent concentration (10 nM), ATP could be differentiated from ADP, AMP and adenosine (ADO) based on dose dependency (see Figures 10 and 11). Some small small amount of ATP contamination of these latter three reagents as supplied by the company was apparent (see Figure 10). Guanosine- and inosine-triphosphate exhibited signal decays that were dissimilar from the exponential decay of ATP. Additionally, their standard curves were significantly different from that of ATP (Figure 11). ADP, AMP and ADO caused no increase in the light signal with increasing concentration (Figure 11).

The final evidence substantiating ATP as the substance detected in the firefly bioassay involved the hydrolysis of ATP by apyrase (A-6132, Sigma). One unit of apyrase (11.7 units were used) produces 1 micromole of P<sub>1</sub> per minute from ATP. This enzyme de-phosphorylates ATP to AMP by removing first the  $\gamma$  phosphate and then the  $\beta$  phosphate. Consequently, the assay signal was abolished. In samples containing red blood cells (see RESULTS) and ATP standards (not shown) the light signals generated with and without apyrase present were quantitatively distinct. It

![](_page_97_Picture_7.jpeg)

EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE ASSOCI Amphibian Ervihrocyt. (U) air force inst of Wright-Patterson afb oh J P dixon 1986 Afit/Ci/NR-86-1880						TED MITH 2/3 TECH F/G 6/15 NL			
			-			-			
	EXTRACELL AMPHIBIAN HRIGHT-RA AFIT/CI/N	EXTRACELLULAR AD AMPHIBIAN ERVINE WRIGHT-PATTERSON AFIT/CI/NR-86-18	EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TI AMPHIBIAN ERYTHROCYT. (U) WRIGHT-PATTERSON AFB OH AFIT/CI/NR-86-188D	EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSP AMPHIBIAN ERVINROCYT. (U) AIR FO WRIGHT-PATTERSON AFB OH J P DIX AFIT/CI/NR-86-1990	EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE A AMPHIBIAN ERYTHROCYT. (U) AIR FORCE IN WRIGHT-PATTERSON AFB OH J P DIXON 198 AFIT/CI/NR-86-188D	EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE ASSOCIA AMPHIBIAN ERVIMOCYT. (U) AIR FORCE INST OF AFIT/CI/NR-86-188D	EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE ASSOCIATED N AMPHIBIAN ERVIMOCYI (U) AIR FORCE INST OF TECH WRIGHT-PATTERSON AFB OH J P DIXON 1986 AFIT/CI/NR-86-188D F/G G	EXTRACELLULAR ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE ASSOCIATED HITH AMPHIBIAN ERVIHACCYT. (U) AIR FORCE INST OF TECH WRIGHT-PATTERSON AFB OH J P DIXON 1986 AFIT/CI/NR-86-189D F/G 6/15	EXTRACELLULAR ADENDSINE TRIPHOSPHATE ASSOCIATED WITH AMPHIBIAN ERVIMACCYT. (U) AIR FORCE INST OF TECH WIGHT-PATTERSON AFB OH J P DIXON 1986 AFIT/CI/NR-86-1880 F/G 6/15 NL   Image: Constraint of the second secon

![](_page_99_Picture_0.jpeg)

1

SPERION SWEET STORE

ALLER DIMAN STRATE DESCRIPTION

MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A r i

![](_page_100_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_100_Picture_1.jpeg)

![](_page_100_Picture_2.jpeg)

![](_page_100_Picture_3.jpeg)

![](_page_100_Picture_4.jpeg)

![](_page_100_Picture_5.jpeg)

![](_page_100_Picture_6.jpeg)

![](_page_100_Picture_7.jpeg)

![](_page_100_Picture_8.jpeg)

FIGURE 9 Recordings of Light Emissions Generated by ATP Standards.

Each signal was composed of the background signal, followed by the assay signal upon addition of 200  $\mu$ 1 of the standard solution

vertical bar, 100 mv, horizontal bar, 20 seconds.

![](_page_101_Figure_0.jpeg)

![](_page_102_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_102_Picture_1.jpeg)

![](_page_102_Picture_2.jpeg)

![](_page_102_Picture_3.jpeg)

![](_page_102_Picture_4.jpeg)

Each signal was composed of the background light signal produced by the firefly reaction mixture alone, followed by the assay signal generated upon addition of 200  $\mu$ l of a standard solution (10 nM concentration each). ATP exhibited three characteristics: dose-dependent light emission, rapid-rise increase in the light signal, and an exponential decay of the light signal. A modicum of contamination by ATP was seen in the signals generated by ADP, AMP and ADO. The light signals generated by GTP and ITP were not characteristic of ATP. ATP- adenosine 5'-triphosphate, ADP- adenosine 5'-diphosphate, AMP- adenosine 5'-monophosphate, ADO- adenosine, GTP- guanosine 5'-triphosphate, ITP- inosine 5'-triphosphate.

![](_page_102_Picture_6.jpeg)

![](_page_103_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_104_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_104_Picture_1.jpeg)

![](_page_104_Picture_2.jpeg)

![](_page_104_Picture_3.jpeg)

![](_page_104_Picture_4.jpeg)

The curves were generated as in Figure 4. (o)- ATP standard curve, (x)- standard curve representative of GTP or ITP, ( $\bullet$ )- curve representative of ADP, AMP, or ADO. Synthetic luciferin was present in all.

![](_page_104_Picture_6.jpeg)

![](_page_104_Picture_7.jpeg)

![](_page_104_Picture_8.jpeg)

![](_page_105_Figure_0.jpeg)

may be concluded from the aforementioned evidence that ATP was the substance that was quantitatively measured in the following experimental protocols.

## Frog Heart Perfusion

Twenty-five frogs (<u>Rana pipiens</u> and <u>Rana temporaria</u>) were individually sacrificed by decapitation and pithing the spinal cord. During microscopic dissection using a Bausch & Lomb dissection microscope, the ventral surface of the frog was opened and the heart and accompanying blood vessels were surgically exposed. The pericardium was removed and the posterior vena cava cannulated with polyethylene tubing (Intramedic) through which a perfusion pressure of 90 mm H<sub>2</sub>0 was maintained with frog Ringer's solution. After exposing the aorta, the right branch was closed by suture and the left branch cannulated to the level of the conus arteriosus in order to sample the perfusate and monitor the heart rate and pulse pressure via a Gould Statham pressure transducer connected to a Grass Model 79D pen recorder. A functional representation of this apparatus is depicted in Figure 12.

In order to expose the heart to hypoxic conditions, the perfusate was made low in oxygen by bubbling with a 5%  $CO_2-95\%$ N<sub>2</sub> gas mixture for 10 minutes. A hyperoxic perfusate was made by bubbling with a 5%  $CO_2-95\%$  O<sub>2</sub> gas mixture. The effluent from the heart (measured in calibrated drops: 0.037 ml/drop) was

![](_page_107_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_107_Picture_1.jpeg)

Dual syringes attached to a three-way stopcock, then to a 15-gauge needle and polyethylene tubing, were used to alternately perfuse frog Ringer's solution or a test solution (e.g, ATP standards, calcium blockers, P<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist, etc.). Tubing from the aorta was attached to a pressure transducer, with effluent samples collected for ascertaining cardiac output and assaying for ATP release. The heart and the transducer were kept at the same vertical height. Tubing size- A: I.D.- 0.055 in., 0.D.- 0.075 in.; B: I.D.- 0.86 mm, 0.D.- 1.27 mm; C: I.D.- 0.023 in., 0.D.- -0.038 in. Tubing lengths are shown in millimeters. PVC- posterior vena cava. Not to scale.

![](_page_107_Picture_3.jpeg)


Ē.





collected in plastic microvials and placed on ice. The time required to collect the samples was noted also. ATP was assayed in moles/liter and then divided by the wet weight of the ventricle (in grams) which had been dissected from the heart at the end of the experiment. This allowed determination of the ATP released (in  $pM/gm \cdot min$ ) from the frog myocardium during control conditions, and upon exposure to hypoxic and hyperoxic frog Ringer's solution. The pH,  $pO_2$  and  $pCO_2$  of the perfusate were determined using a blood gas analyzer (BMS MK 2 Blood Micro System, Radiometer, Copenhagen).

#### Erythrocyte Protocol

Leopard frogs (<u>Rana pipiens</u>) (NASCO or Charles D. Sullivan Co.) or salamanders (<u>Amphiuma tridactylum</u>) (Carolina Biological Supply, Burlington, NC) were used to provide blood samples for assaying ATP. Frogs were sacrificed as previously described. The right branch of the aorta was cannulated distally. Using frog Ringer's solution, a perfusion pressure of 200 mm H<sub>2</sub>0 was used to enhance venous return to the heart. The left bifurcation of the aorta was cannulated to the level of the conus arteriosus for blood sampling. Three to five drops of whole blood were allowed to empty into fifteen milliliters of frog Ringer's solution. Additional dilution of this RBC suspension was accomplished by pipetting 50-400 µl into plastic microvials (Sarstedt) containing frog Ringer's solution to make a total volume of 1.4 ml. Samples were kept at room temperature.

Salamanders were anesthetized with tricaine beginning with a recommended dosage of 1:3000 and increasing the dosage as appropriate (367). A ventral incision was made to expose the heart and conus arteriosus. Blood was removed via hypodermic puncture of the conus arteriosus. Dilution of red cells was accomplished as described for frog RBC's.

Red blood cells were either allowed to settle by gravity in the plastic microvials for 50-60 minutes, or were maintained in mixed suspension on a rotator (Scientific Equipment Products) in which the microvials were inverted 20 times per minute. It was this "mixing" or "stirring", or the lack thereof, that proved crucial to documenting the efflux of ATP from these cells (see RESULTS).

An Aus Jena microscope was used to count the cells. The microscope eyepiece contained a graticule which was calibrated in microns for each power of objective used. Cell counts were made before and after ATP assays in an effort to monitor the degree of lysis, if any, in the isotonic frog Ringer's solution.

いいいくろう 日本 アイアン ひろう ひとう アイン・ション ひろう ひろう ひろう アイス アイト・アイト アイト・アイン アイン・アイン 日本 ディング アイン アイン アイン アイン・アイト

A hemocytometer (American Optical A-2440/B) was used to make the counts. The counting procedure was as follows. From a cell suspension, a sample was removed with plain micro-hematocrit capillary tubes (Curtin Matheson Scientific) and allowed to fill both counting chambers of the hemocytometer by capillary action. The 5 by 5 matrix in each counting chamber delimited the volume (0.1 µl) that was counted. If cells touched the top and right

sides of the matrix, they were not counted. [Exception: Salamander red cells were so large ( >  $70_{\mu}$  in diameter) that all cells that overlapped the matrix borders were counted.] The average count of the two chambers (sum ÷ 2) was then divided by the volume counted (0.1 µl).

Intracellular ATP concentration of frog red blood cells was determined by lysing the cells with a sonicator (Branson B-12), or by adding the detergent, digitonin. (See RESULTS for a description of the susceptibility of frog red cells to disruption by various concentrations of digitonin.) A 200  $\mu$ l volume of the lysed cells was then assayed as previously described.

A third method for calculating the intracellular ATP concentration was as follows. After injecting a 200  $\mu$ l sample of cells into the firefly-luciferin mixture and observing the assay signal generated by the extracellular ATP, digitonin (20  $\mu$ M final concentration) was injected to lyse the cells in front of the PMT. This gave a third estimate of intracellular ATP in frog red blood cells.

#### ATP Efflux Determination

Release of ATP from nucleated red blood cells was determined from the difference in the assay signals generated by the extracellular ATP (see RESULTS and Figure 36). The equation that was used to calculate ATP efflux in molecules per cm<sup>2</sup>.second is provided in Appendix III. ATP concentration was determined in moles/liter, corrected for the volume assayed (200  $\mu$ 1) and

multiplied by Avogadro's Number. This was then divided by the time over which the flux occurred, corrected for seconds, and multiplied by the number of cells in the assay volume, which in turn was adjusted for surface area. The only assumption made was that the cell population was homogeneous with regard to cell surface area, i.e, surface area was assumed to be 422  $\mu^2$  per cell (400). The calculations were made by computer (Sharp EL-5500II) using the program listed in Appendix IV. The software provided allows two consecutive flux calculations on the same sample if three different assays have been conducted. Efflux data presented throughout this work is based only upon the flux calculated with the first two consecutive assays of the same sample. Drugs and Solutions

The physiological solution used to perfuse the frog heart <u>in</u> <u>situ</u> or to suspend the frog or salamander red blood cells was a modified Ringer's solution (106) maintained at room temperature (23°C) at a pH of 7.0. The constituents used (in mM) were as follows:

NaCl	10 <b>9.</b> 00
KC1	3.80
NaHC03	4.30
NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	0.22
CaCl <sub>2</sub>	5.00

Pharmacologic influences on alleged purinoceptors or other physiological mechanisms were studied using various agonists or antagonists. Table III is a list of all drugs and substances used

94

#### TABLE III

Drugs and Substances Used In This Study\*

Quinidine Adenosine Adenosine 5'-triphosphate Trifluoperazine Adenosine 5'-diphosphate Antazoline phosphate Adenosine 5'-monophosphate Lidocaine Probenecid Apyrase Isatogen 151-3\*\* Furosemide Theophylline Tricaine Veratridine Lanthanum chloride (I) Atractyloside Ouabain Dinitrophenol (DNP) Manganese chloride Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) Verapamil Digitonin Pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (1) Trichloroacetic acid (TCA) (1) 4-acetamido-4'-isothio-cyanatostilbene-2,2'-disulfonic acid (SITS)

(I) indicates that the drug or substance affected the firefly bioassay at the experimental concentration. See METHODS.

\*All drugs were acquired from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO, unless otherwise indicated. \*\*Source was Dr. Rudolph K. Winter. (See Figure 14 for more details.)





96

in this study. Each was dissolved in the physiological solution described previously. The concentration used is described in the **RESULTS**.

Firefly luminescence is an enzymatic reaction, which when used as a bioassay, may consequently be affected adversely by any substance included in the test solution. Each drug or substance used in this research to perfuse the heart or bathe the red cells was tested for its influence on the light emitted by the firefly bioassay. This was determined by making a duplicate standard ATP solution with the drug or substance also present in the solution at the same concentration used in the experiments. Any diminution in the B/A ratio as compared to an ATP standard without the drug was considered as evidence that the luciferin reaction (Figure 2) was adversely affected or inhibited. No conclusions were drawn from such data.

Figure 13 presents a comparison of the light signals generated by an ATP standard with and without a test substance, i.e., atractyloside in this instance. A similar comparison was made with all test substances to ensure that erroneous conclusions were not made. In Table I, those substances which affected the light emission from the firefly bioassay are annotated with an (I).



















### FIGURE 13 Comparison of Recordings of Light Signals Generated by an ATP Standard Solution (10 nM) and the Same Solution Containing Atractyloside.

Atractyloside (1 mM) did not affect light emission by the firefly, as seen by comparing the B/A ratio in "B" with the B/A ratio in A (no atractyloside). This same comparison was made with all drugs and substances added to the firefly reaction mixture, thus ensuring that the bioassay was not affected and that appropriate conclusions were drawn concerning the appearance of ATP in test samples.



99

A new substance is introduced in this research. It was commonly called Isatogen 151-3 by Dr. R. Winter of Univ. of Mo., St. Louis. It is a proposed  $P_2$  receptor antagonist, whose structure and molecular weight are described in Figure 14.

A Studentized t-test was used to statistically compare control and experimental tests. Data that were significant at a 95% level of confidence are identified by an asterisk.









FIGURE 14 A Proposed P2 Purinoceptor Antagonist. C14H10N203 HCl : 6-methoxy-2-(2'pyridyl)isatogen hydrochloride, M.W. 290.5





#### RESULTS

#### ATP Release From Frog Myocardium

#### Hypoxic Insult

It was hypothesized that a hypoxic insult to the <u>in situ</u> frog heart would cause an increase in the appearance of ATP measured in the effluent samples taken from the aorta. As theorized by others (see HISTORICAL REVIEW) hypoxia may be a trigger in the release mechanism of ATP from tissue. An increase in the appearance of ATP was observed to occur when hypoxic frog Ringer's solution was perfused through the heart.

Figure 15a shows this increased appearance of ATP in one frog heart. The increased appearance was attributed to its release from the myocardium, and is presented as picomoles/liter per gram wet weight per minute. During the period of hypoxic insult, and for about four minutes thereafter, the ATP concentration was elevated. Only the last two samples (time: 7 1/2 - 10 minutes) taken during the testing period were near pre-exposure (control) levels found in the first sample.

The increase in appearance of ATP was accompanied by an increase in the systolic pressure and the cardiac output. Compared to pre-exposure values, the average systolic pressure of 15 hearts increased  $31.3\% \pm 8.8$  (S.E.) during the 2 1/2 minutes when pO<sub>2</sub> was low (< 100 mm Hg). Similarly, cardiac output also increased, averaging 29.0\%  $\pm$  9.4 (S.E.).

FIGURE 15

シントントロロードのステム・ストン 一部にないたけでは一部として、システレビが、 単一字子をなんたい 一部になっていたが

ATP Released from Frog Myocardium During a) Perfusion with Low Oxygen Solution or b) High Oxygen Solution. Frog Ringer's solution with either low or high P02 was perfused throught the heart during the time delineated by the arrow. Effluent was then collected and assayed. This figure from one experiment is representative of 7 of 15 hearts tested in this manner. During each 10 minute testing period six samples of the cardiac output were assayed for ATP. The ATP in the effluent during the control period (time: 0-1 minutes) was then compared to effluent collected during the period when P02 was altered (time: 1 1/2 - 4 minutes). (See METHODS for the calculation of ATP released.)





#### Hyperoxic Insult

Excess oxygen in a solution may not be luxury perfusion to tissue. Rather, it may be toxic. An identical protocol to that for the hypoxic exposure was used to measure the response of the <u>in situ</u> frog heart to high levels of  $pO_2$  (>280 mm Hg). Were the high  $pO_2$  excessively toxic, it was hypothesized that ATP appearance would change remarkably. Otherwise, little or no effect was expected.

Figure 15b shows the release of ATP in the same heart as shown in Figure 15a in response to hyperoxic frog Ringer's solution at least ten minutes after the hypoxic test period was completed. An increased release in the ATP occurred, though less than that observed in the previous protocol with low  $pO_2$  as compared to the pre-exposure (control) level. Within 2 1/2 minutes following the end of the hyperoxic exposure, ATP was near control levels.

As with the hypoxia protocol, exposure to high  $pO_2$  caused, in addition to an elevated release of ATP, an increase in the systolic pressure and the cardiac output. These parameters changed by an average of 25.9%  $\pm$  7.5 (S.E.) and 31.3%  $\pm$  11.7 (S.E.), respectively, for the 15 hearts studied.

To conclude a cause and effect relationship, the release of ATP during this protocol should have been consistent. In seven of fifteen hearts studied, a similar pattern of ATP release, though with some variability, was observed like that presented in Figure 15. However, in the other eight hearts the appearance of ATP in the samples taken during the testing period was extremely variable and in no way consistent with the fact that the oxygen level was altered. Figure 16 shows this statistical comparison. No significant difference was observed in the amounts of ATP released when either hypoxic or hyperoxic frog Ringer's solution was perfused through the heart, as compared to the pre-exposure (control) levels of ATP.

The primary reason for this observation was that erythrocytes were found to be present in the effluent and overwhelmingly contributed to contamination of the ATP found in the samples. The ATP hypothesized to have been released from the frog myocardium, in some instances, originated from the red cells. This was only discovered when effluent samples were allowed to sit for 20-30 minutes, at which time a small red area appeared in the bottom of the plastic microvials containing the effluent. So few cells were present in each effluent sample that they could not be seen unless the cells had accumulated at the bottom. Documentation of this ATP associated with frog erythrocytes then became a priority (see below).

## FIGURE 16

Comparison of ATP Released During Normoxic, Hypoxic and Hyperoxic Perfusion of the Frog Myocardium.

In 15 hearts, the ATP released during the control period (normoxic perfusion) was compared to the period when  $pO_2$  was altered (hypoxic or hyperoxic perfusion- see Figure 15). There were no significant differences ( $\alpha = .05$ ) from control when oxygen levels were changed. Values indicate mean  $\pm$  S.E. (See METHODS for the calculation of ATP released.)





シンシンシン



#### ATPase Activity of Frog Myocardium

Others (18,326) have studied the ability of the heart to degrade ATP that is perfused through the coronary circulation. Since the frog is without a coronary system and derives metabolic support from diffusion to and from the blood-filled heart chambers, it was of interest to study the degree of ATP hydrolysis which occurred when ATP solutions were perfused through the heart. This is shown in Figure 17.

Perfusing an ATP concentration of 1 nM through the heart resulted in no detectable hydrolysis. Rather, ATP was added to the perfusate and resulted in a positive difference between the effluent and perfusate. If higher concentrations of ATP were used, then ATP was degraded. The rate of hydrolysis had a range of over 1000 (mean of 5 hearts:  $1.5 \times 10^{13}$  to  $5.1 \times 10^{16}$ molecules/gm·min), depending on the ATP concentration (10 nM to 10 µM).

#### Calcium Mobilization:

# The Effect of Exogenous ATP on the Frog Heart ATP and Calcium Blockers

The positive inotropic response of the frog heart to extracellular ATP has been described as triphasic (140,445). The initial, abrupt increase in contractility that is part of the triphasic response was studied in the <u>in situ</u> frog heart as an increase in the systolic pressure upon application of ATP. Figure



















#### FIGURE 17 ATP Hydrolysis by Frog Myocardium.

Standard solutions of ATP (shown here as whole numbers: 5,6,7,8, and 9 indicate the negative Log of the molar concentration) were perfused through frog hearts (n=5) and the effluent collected and assayed for ATP. The average rate of hydrolysis (in molecules per gm min) was calculated using the equation in APPENDIX V, utilizing the difference in ATP concentration between the effluent and perfusate, and the cardiac output and wet weight of the frog ventricle. A quantity above the midline indicates a positive difference between the effluent and the perfusate, whereas below the midline indicates a negative difference (ATP hydrolysis).





Systolic Pressure Changes Following Perfusion of Exogenous ATP Through Frog Myocardium. FIGURE 18

through the hearts (n= number of hearts) and the maximum Five different concentrations of ATP were perfused increase in systolic pressure is apparent. Values concentration was ascertained. A dose-dependent percent change in systolic pressure at each indicate the mean ± S.E.



















いていたい

CLULUSS ADDRED BUSINESS ADDRESS

18 demonstrates that response of the myocardium to  $P_{2X}$ receptor activation was dose-dependent. ATP at successively higher doses produced graded inotropic responses that could be measured as a transient increase in the systolic pressure. This transient rise in systolic pressure corresponded to the initial phase of the triphasic response described by Flitney and Singh (140). This is seen in Figure 19a.

The origin of the calcium mobilized in response to ATP has been hypothesized to be the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) (320). However, experience with two calcium blockers, manganese and verapamil, suggests that some of the calcium originated from a non-cytoplasmic source. When frog hearts were continually exposed to these calcium blockers, the response, as expected, was a progressive decrease in the pulse pressure. Contractility diminished quickly as calcium was displaced from its external binding sites and prevented from replenishing the contractile calcium inside the muscle cells. If, however, a calcium blocker (e.g., manganese at 1.5 mM) was used sparingly for a brief period of time prior to the ATP exposure, the inotropic response to ATP by the heart was enhanced.

Figure 19b shows that the transient rise in the systolic pressure was significantly increased by the sequential perfusion of manganese and ATP (10  $\mu$ M) when compared to ATP alone.











### FIGURE 19

The Effect on Systolic Pressure of Perfusing the Frog Heart with Exogenous ATP Alone or Immediately Following MnCl<sub>2</sub>.

The traces indicate the pulse pressure at 90 mm H<sub>2</sub>O perfusion pressure. a) Control- 85 seconds after the start of perfusion of 10  $\mu$ M ATP (single arrow), systolic pressure peaked as the P<sub>2X</sub> receptor mobilized calcium. The inotropic response as described by Flitney and Singh (140) is not shown here in its entirety. Double arrows- re-perfusion with frog Ringer's solution. b) Single arrow- start of perfusion with MnCl<sub>2</sub> (1.5 mM); Double arrows- start of perfusion with ATP (10  $\mu$ M), followed 87 seconds later by an enhanced inotropic response. The delay between the arrow and the recorded response is due to the transit time of the perfusate through the tubing to the heart (see Figure 12). Time trace: tics indicate 5-second intervals. Vertical scale: 1 cm = 7.5 mm H<sub>2</sub>O.



Manganese displaced calcium from its binding sites, an event that increased the calcium available to be mobilized by ATP. An increase in the inotropic response of the heart resulted.

This increased inotropism was not peculiar to manganese. Figure 20 demonstrates, using the same technique, that verapamil (1  $\mu$ M) followed in tandem by ATP (10  $\mu$ M) also increased the pool of calcium that was mobilized by ATP interaction with its receptor (Figure 20b). A significant elevation in systolic pressure was observed over that seen when ATP alone was used (Figure 20a).

Each of these protocols utilizing the calcium blockers, manganese and verapamil, provided a statistical basis for concluding that at least some of the calcium mobilized by ATP originates in the extracellular space. Figures 21 and 22 show that the percent increase in systolic pressure, which is a measure of the increased contractility caused by ATP, was not an indiscriminate effect. The transient increase in contractility was due to an enhanced availability of calcium.

#### ATP and a Proposed Purinergic Antagonist

In an attempt to block the action of ATP on its excitatory receptor in the heart, a new substance was tested. This substance, called Isatogen 151-3, is a pyridylisatogen derivative (see METHODS). It was perfused through the heart in frog Ringer's



#### FIGURE 20

The Effect on Systolic Pressure of Perfusing the Frog Heart with Exogenous ATP Alone or Immediately Following Verapamil.

The traces indicate the pulse pressure at 90 mm H<sub>2</sub>O perfusion pressure. a) Control- 35 seconds after the start of perfusion of 10  $\mu$ M ATP (single arrow), systolic pressure peaked in response to calcium mobilization by the P<sub>2X</sub> purinoceptor. Double arrowsre-perfusion with frog Ringer's solution. b) Single arrowstart of perfusion with verapamil (1  $\mu$ M); Double arrows- start of perfusion with ATP (10  $\mu$ M), followed 38 seconds later by an enhanced inotropic response. Time trace: tics indicate 5-second intervals. Vertical scale: 1 cm = 7.32 mm H<sub>2</sub>O.











FIGURE 21 Comparison of Systolic Pressure Changes Caused by ATP With and Without Manganese Present.

Maximum percent increase in systolic pressure following perfusion with exogenous ATP alone or in tandem with manganese, a calcium blocker. The experimental procedure was the same as in Figure 20, here comparing the maximum % increase in systolic pressure under control conditions (10  $\mu$ M ATP alone) and during ATP perfusion after 45-60 seconds of exposure to 1.5 mM MnCl<sub>2</sub> (\* significant at  $\alpha$  = .05). Values indicate mean ± S.E.





FIGURE 22 Comparison of Systolic Pressure Changes Caused by ATP With and Without Verapamil Present.

Maximum percent increase in systolic pressure following perfusion with exogenous ATP alone or in tandem with verapamil, a calcium blocker. The experimental procedure was the same as in Figure 20, here comparing the maximum % increase in systolic pressure under control conditions (10  $\mu$ M ATP alone) and during ATP perfusion after 45-60 seconds of exposure to 1  $\mu$ M verapamil (\* significant at  $\alpha = .05$ ). Values indicate mean  $\pm$  S.E.



VILLUSSA UUUDDAN BUSSESSA ALUGGUS

solution at a concentration of 0.5 M for 10-15 minutes before ATP (10  $\mu$ M) was used. This proposed P<sub>2</sub> antagonist decreased the systolic pressure response to ATP (Figure 23). However, with so few observations, additional experiments are required to unequivocally determine whether or not Isatogen 151-3 effectively blocked the positive inotropic effect of ATP.

#### ATP of Amphibian Erythrocytes

#### Extracellular ATP Associated With Gravity-Settled Cells

Experience with the effluent coming from the frog heart gave cause for concern. Although the effluent samples appeared transparent, cells were observed to form a noticeable red spot in the bottom of the collecting microvial when the samples were left untouched for over 20 minutes. The cells were obviously of such mass that they could settle out by gravity. A count of the cells in the effluent sample when it was thoroughly mixed showed that the allegedly "transparent" effluent actually contained 50-500 cells/µl. Additionally, ATP assays of these samples demonstrated that ATP was differentially distributed in the sample.

Assays of the top of the effluent, or near the bottom around or including the red cells, showed that ATP was not equally dispersed throughout the solution. Also, the ATP concentration of an effluent sample did not remain stable. Sometimes (usually) it











# FIGURE 23 Effect of a Proposed $P_{2X}$ Blocker on Systolic Pressure Changes Caused by ATP.

1.2

The proposed P<sub>2X</sub> blocker, Isatogen 151-3 at a concentration of 0.5  $\mu$ M, was perfused through the frog heart for 10-15 minutes. ATP (10  $\mu$ M) was then perfused through the heart and the percent change in systolic pressure was measured. Isatogen 151-3 appeared to antagonize the excitatory purinoceptor, though the results were not statistically significant at an  $\alpha$  =.05. Values indicate mean  $\pm$  S.E.












increased, but sometimes it diminished. This meant that until the problem of ATP contamination was solved, study of ATP release from the frog myocardium was not likely to be a productive one.

Whole blood was harvested and diluted into plastic microvials with frog Ringer's solution. The samples were deliberately diluted so that they closely resembled heart effluent samples in transparency (i.e., few or no cells could be observed) and in count (80-1200 cells/µl). When the cells were allowed to settle by gravity, a layering of the ATP in the supernatant over the cells was found. This is shown in Figure 24.

When the supernatant fluid was assayed near the surface, the ATP concentration was almost identical for all the diluted cell samples from the same frog. Thus, the ATP concentration at the top of the supernatant was independent of the cell count.

Contrary to expectations, the ATP was not observed to be equally dispersed throughout the solution. When the supernatant fluid was assayed near the cells, the concentration far exceeded that at the surface. Based on cell counts made when the cells were thoroughly mixed, the more cells that were settled to the bottom, the greater the ATP concentration near them. Thus, the ATP level near the cells was cell-dependent.

XXXXXX

FIGURE 24 ATP Layering Associated with Gravity-Settled Cells. Cell samples (1.4 ml total volume of whole blood diluted approximately 1000-fold) allowed to settle by gravity for 60 minutes exhibited increased ATP levels. Near (2 mm above) the cells, the ATP concentration was dependent on the cell count. ATP concentration at the surface of the supernatant was independent of the cell count.







This observation was further verified when cell counts were plotted versus the ATP concentration of the supernatant fluid or the gently mixed cell suspensions. Figure 25 shows that the ATP concentration at the surface of the supernatant was always low, whereas the ATP associated with the settled cells became greater and was a function of the number of cells present.

The concentration of ATP around the settled cells was significantly greater, but not as great as if the cells were lysed. Compare the assay levels in Figure 25 with those seen in Figure 26. In the latter figure, cells lysed by sonication resulted in ATP levels that were, on a per-cell basis, over 10 orders of magnitude greater than the ATP associated with the outside of the cells. The ATP layering effect was a consequence of ATP being released from the cells, and should not be confused with intracellular ATP from cells lysed during the protocol procedure.

ATP appearance above gravity-settled cells contrasted with a relatively stable level of ATP seen when the cells were continuously stirred by maintaining the microvials on a tube rotator. This is seen in Figure 27. Cells that were stirred never released ATP at a rate such that a noticeable increase in the concentration could be documented. FIGURE 25 Extracellular ATP Concentration in Cell Samples Before and After Gentle Dispersion.

ATA ATA KINA AND ANA ANA ANA ANA ANA

The supernatant fluid (o) was consistently low in ATP when cells were allowed to settle by gravity. However, gentle dispersion (x) of the cells throughout the medium also dispersed the ATP associated with the cells, increasing the extracellular ATP concentration. In general, the greater the cell count, the greater the concentration of extracellular ATP.









FIGURE 26 FIGURE 26 ATP Concentration in Gently Dispersed Cell Samples Before (x) and After (  $\Delta$  ) Sonication for 5 Minutes.

Only 60-80% of the cells were lysed following this procedure. Lysed cells produced significantly higher ATP levels than dispersed cell samples.























FIGURE 27 ATP Concentration in a Red Cell Sample Allowed to Settle and in a Sample Continuously Stirred. Two identical samples of red blood cells (330 cells/µl) were assayed three times at hourly intervals. The increasing appearance of ATP in the sample allowed to settle by gravity (o) contrasted with the relatively stable concentration of ATP seen in the sample allowed to maintained on a tube rotator ( $\bullet$ ), which kept the cells constantly moving. Time 0 is when the cells were harvested. The gravity-settled cells were resuspended by gentle mixing prior to assay.



Second Courses

On a per-cell basis, the ATP concentration in stirred cells actually had a tendency to decrease slightly. This is shown in Figure 28a. Based on experiments with nine animals, no significant difference was observed between the first and second assay. However, if the cells were allowed to settle by gravity for about one hour, a significant increase in ATP was seen between the first and second assay.

A comparison of the difference between the two assays allowed calculation of ATP release as an efflux (see APPENDIX III for equation) that provided for a statistical comparison between the two experimental procedures. Figure 28b demonstrates that ATP efflux (in molecules/ $cm^2$ .sec) in settled cells was extraordinary when compared with stirred cells. The latter exhibited almost no ATP efflux.

## Ecto-ATPase Activity of Erythrocytes

The reason for the decrease in ATP concentration observed in stirred cells was very likely due to the ATPase activity of the erythrocytes. The ability of frog red cells to hydrolyze ATP has previously been documented at  $1.86 \times 10^7$  molecules/cell.min (438). Figure 29 shows that the hydrolysis of exogenous ATP added to a cell sample occurred at an exponential rate.

FIGURE 28 Contrast of ATP Associated with Frog Erythrocytes: Stirred vs. Gravity-Settled.

a) Cell samples (n=9) that were allowed to settle by gravity for approximately one hour released ATP, as measured by the significant increase (\* at an  $\alpha = .05$ ) in the extracellular concentration of ATP compared to the initial assay. When the cells were continuously stirred (see METHODS), there was no significant difference between the first and second assay. The ordinate was calculated from the extracellular assay signal (B in Figure 36) divided by the number of cells assay assay for the initial assay.

b) ATP release quantified as an efflux in molecules/ cm<sup>2</sup> sec (see APPENDIX III) indicates significant release (\* at an  $\alpha$  = .05) when cells were allowed to settle by gravity. Values indicate mean  $\pm$  S.E. in both a) and b).





Contrary 1

successive assays were performed in order to calculate containing EDTA ( $\bar{\Delta}$  ) were comparable to those without EDTA (o): there was no inhibition of ATPase activity. an exponential regression (see Table IV). Samples Five initial concentration of 500 nM at time 0.



FIGURE 29 Disappearance of ATP Added to Frog Erythrocytes





















ATP. One of these substances was probenecid, an inhibitor of cAMP

efflux (105). The same protocol as that for settled cells was used. Probenecid (1 mM final concentration) was added to one of two identical cell samples. When compared with control samples having no probenecid, the samples with probenecid exhibited a diminished release of ATP. The second assay after one hour of settling was only slightly increased from the first assay when probenecid was present. This is seen in Figure 30a. Figure 30b shows that a significant decrease in ATP efflux from red blood cells occurred when probenecid was present.

Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA), contrary to a previous report (443), did not inhibit this hydrolysis. From an exponential regression of the data, a rate of hydrolysis was calculated (Table IV). The mean rate of hydrolysis for four samples was 2.358 X 10<sup>7</sup> molecules/cell.min, a number in close agreement with that already reported.

# Anion Channel Blockers: ATP Efflux Antagonized

When ATP effluxes from the settled cells, the release mechanism should be susceptible to manipulation. Though nothing was found to enhance the release of ATP without lysing the cells, several substances were effective in inhibiting the efflux of











## TABLE IV

Rate of ATP Hydrolysis by Frog Erythrocytes

Sample	Rate*	Regression Equation*
1	3.519	$y = 370.8e^{-0.062x}$
2	2.730	$y = 395.2e^{-0.058x}$
3	1.462	$y = 191.4e^{-0.041x}$
4	1.722	$y = 176.5e^{-0.046x}$
mean=	2.358	
s- S∙E∙=	0.474	

\*rate x 10<sup>7</sup> molecules/cell.min
\*\*y= ATP concentration x 10<sup>-9</sup>M
x= time in minutes

An exponential regression was calculated for assay data in which the extracellular ATP concentration was determined at 8-12 minute intervals following the addition of ATP (Samples 1 & 2, 500 nM concentration; Samples 3 & 4, 250 nM concentration). The regression estimate for the ATP concentration at minute 4 or 5 following addition of ATP was used to calculate the rate of hydrolysis according to the equation provided in Appendix II. and analysis states and any and any and ADDADDA BARANAN KERCEKE BARANAN KUMUN

> e L

# FIGURE 30 Inhibition of ATP Efflux from Nucleated Erythrocytes by Probenecid (PRO).

The difference between significant inhibition (\* at an  $\alpha$  = .05) when probenecid when probenecid (1 mM) was present, indicating decreased blocker, caused almost a 10-fold decrease in the efflux at an Values indicate mean ± S.E. in both a) and b). the first and second concentration was not significant Allowing cells to settle by gravity (control) for calculated from the extracellular assay signal (B in Figure 36) divided by the number of cells assayed. concentration of ATP to increase significantly (\* approximately 60 minutes caused the extracellular was present. Probenecid (1 mM), an anion channel The ordinate was molecules/cm<sup>2</sup> •sec (see APPENDIX III) indicates a b) ATP release calculated as an efflux in  $\alpha = .05$ ) over the initial value. release of ATP from the cells. of ATP. e) G







A similar display of inhibition was possible with furosemide, an anion channel blocker (142). At a final concentration of 1 mM, it was able to decrease the appearance of ATP (Figure 31a). In terms of efflux, furosemide was able to significantly diminish ATP release from these cells. By comparison with probenecid, furosemide appeared to be less potent, providing only a four-fold inhibition as compared to 10-fold with probenecid (Figure 31b).

Further evidence that this phenomenon was an efflux inhibition was based upon evidence using atractyloside. At a concentration of 1 mM, atractyloside, an ADP-ATP translocator protein inhibitor, was used to decrease the concentration gradient of ATP from the inside to the outside. Using the same protocol as described before, a considerable decrease in ATP efflux was observed when cells were allowed to incubate for one hour in atractyloside. The period of time was probably not adequate to produce a maximum effect on ATP efflux, since the difference in flux between control conditions and with atractyloside present was not statistically significant (Figure 32).

### Confirmation of Extracellular ATP

シャート ひかた 日本 シンシンシンショー 日本 デスト・シント 日本 マンシンプラン

The appearance of ATP near the settled cells at a concentration greater than observed at the surface of the supernatant fluid above the cells raised the first of several questions concerning cell lysis. Were the cells spontaneously lysing in the frog Ringer's solution?



FIGURE 31 Inhibition of ATP Efflux from Nucleated Erythrocytes by Furosemide (FUR).

メイト・ション ロンシンシン 通道にたらったとう あんたい いいい 日本 アイ・イ・イン 御子 たららのから 日本シング

a) Same control conditions as in Figure 30 (\* significant at an  $\alpha = .05$ ). With furosemide (1 mM) present, ATP concentration in the second assay 60 minutes later was not statistically different, indicating decreased release of ATP from the cells under these experimental conditions. The ordinate was calculated as in Figure 30. b) Furosemide (1 mM), an anion channel blocker, caused an approximate 4-fold inhibition (\* significant at an

b) Furosemide (1 mM), an anion channel blocker, cause an approximate 4-fold inhibition (\* significant at an  $\alpha = .05$ ) in ATP efflux (see APPENDIX III for efflux calculation). Values indicate mean  $\pm$  S.E. in both a) and b).









Control conditions were the same as in Figure 30. There was no statistical difference between ATP efflux during control conditions and when atractyloside (1 mM) was present. Atractyloside, an inhibitor of the ADP-ATP translocator protein of the inner mitochondrial membrane (254,468), was used to decrease intracellular ATP concentration of the cells. This resulted in a tendency for ATP efflux to decrease from these cells, an observation possibly of statistical significance if examined following incubation with atractyloside over a longer period of time.









During the cell counting procedure, not one cell was observed to lyse. Counts were made before and after 60 minutes of settling without a statistically verifiable decrease from one count to the next. For example, five identically prepared cells samples varied slightly in the number of cells per microliter, but the mean and standard deviation of the number of cells per sample before settling were virtually the same following settling.

Figure 33 provides evidence that spontaneous lysing was unlikely. In a cell sample in which the count was repeated 25 times during a 90 minute period, the counts near the end exhibited the same variability about the mean as did the early counts. Were the cells spontaneously lysing in the frog Ringer's solution, the number of cells would have decreased over time.

Cell lysis also could have been occurring during aspiration of the cells into or out of the 20 gauge needle during the assay procedure. Frog cells are greater than 20 microns in diameter. It seemed possible that some cells may have lysed during this procedure.

If lysis were occurring in this manner, some variability from one assay to the next would have been noticeable in the stirred samples. This was not observed. Indeed, lysis was not observed using deliberate repetitive aspirations of the same sample. This is shown in Table V. Seven aspirations of four different cell samples did not decrease the number of cells as the number counted in the two successive counts were within a 10% standard deviation.

FIGURE 33 Iterative Count of a Cell Sample.

Variability occurs in hemocytometer counting, as shown by the 25 individual counts (o) made over a 90 minute period. Significantly, the count varied around the mean (solid line) and seldom digressed more than one standard deviation (dashed line) away. This indicates the cells were not spontaneously lysing in the frog Ringer's solution.



FIGURE 33



1 . . . .

AMARKA REALASSA PRODUCE REALASSA PRODUCTS



TABLE	V
-------	---

ANALY AND ANALY ANALY

100000000

Effect of Aspiration on Cell Counts

Sample	lst Count	2nd Count
1	340	320
2	590	575
3	805	900
4	1275	1150

Cell samples of 1.4 ml volume containing different numbers of cells were counted by hemocytometer, then transfered to another plastic microvial by micropipetting 200  $\mu$ l at a time aspirating through a 20 gauge needle, and then re-counted. Seven aspirations per sample were required, a process that appeared to have caused little, if any, lysis.

























It is unlikely that this procedure resulted in lysis and contributed to an increase in the amount of ATP because a single assay involved movement of the frog red cells only once up and down the 20 gauge needle. This statement about frog cells can be made with conviction because it was not found to be applicable to salamander cells.

Red cells of <u>Amphiuma tridactylum</u> are the largest known erythrocytes, measuring over 70 microns in diameter. Extracellular ATP also was discovered to be associated with these nucleated red cells. Yet, an effort to study this ATP was curtailed because of the size of the cells and the limitations of the assay apparatus. These cells lysed when the same procedures for frog red cells were used. This lysis was verified by the extreme variability in the ATP concentration of samples from one assay to the next.

Another question was the following. Were the frog red cells lysing upon contact with the firefly assay solution? A considerable degree of variability would be expected if this occurred. Yet, successive assays within minutes of each other generated virtually identical recordings of the light signal generated by a sample, indicating that lysis was not probable.



The development of one experimental procedure allowed verification of this. It was reasoned that, if the cells had not lysed, they would still be present in the firefly assay solution in front of the photomultiplier tube (PMT). Then, exposure of the cells to a detergent that did not affect the firefly bioassay but lysed the cells would release the intracellular ATP. The detergent that was used was digitonin.











## FIGURE 34

Superimposed Recordings of Light Emissions by (S) Standard Solutions of ATP and (C) Cell Suspensions.

Note the similarity of the time course of the exponential decay and the rate of development of the light signal in both the standards and cell samples, indicating the presence of ATP in the fluid surrounding the cells. i- 10 nM ATP and 85 cells/µ1; ii- 25 nM ATP and 275 cells/µ1; iii- 100 nM ATP and 2225 cells/µ1; iv- 250 nM ATP and 1850 cells/µ1. Vertical bar, 10 mv in" i" and "ii", 100 mv in "iii" and "iv". Horizontal bar, 15 seconds in each.







URALLER BRANN

Propage and the second second second second









Figure 35 shows that at least a 5  $\mu$ M concentration of digitonin was required to lyse frog red cells. This was based upon cell counts that resulted in finding nothing but cell debris upon microscopic examination.

It was also possible to watch the cells lyse when digitonin was added to a cell sample under the cover slip. Almost instantaneously as digitonin reached the cells, the cell membrane disintegrated, spilling the cytoplasmic contents and collapsing some of the lipid remnants around the nucleus. The nucleus was observed to decrease in size, but usually did not disintegrate completely.

The application of digitonin to the cells in front of the PMT also resulted in their lysis, proving that they were still present in the firefly assay solution. This procedure is completely described in Figure 36. It must be emphasized that signal B in this figure is the assay signal on which experimental comparisons were made. Significantly, signal B is the measure of extracellular ATP associated with the frog red blood cells.

Allowing the cells to settle caused an increase in the ATP efflux from the cells, as measured by an increase in this signal. Stirring the cells or having probenecid, furosemide, or atractyloside present inhibited ATP efflux, as seen by little or no change in this signal from one assay to the next. It can be











Concentration of Digitonin Required to Lyse Frog Erythrocytes.

Various concentrations of digitonin were added to cell samples that had already been counted. Counting a second time allowed the determination of the percent of lysis by digitonin. Note that at less than 5  $\mu$ M digitonin final concentration, cell lysis was incomplete, whereas all cells were lysed at concentrations greater than 5  $\mu$ M.



and the states white the second states and second second

Receive Resident Prosection



FIGURE 36 Recording of the Light Signal Generated by an Assay of a Cell Suspension.

This recording demonstrates the real-time hydrolysis of ATP. A- the background signal produced by the firefly reaction mixture (reconstituted firefly lantern + synthetic luciferin) alone. This is followed by a diminution in the light signal upon addition of the cell sample to the firefly bioassay mixture. B- assay signal produced by the hydrolysis of the extracellular ATP associated with nucleated red cells. Note the rapid-rise increase in the light signal. This is followed by the exponential decay in the signal indicating that most of the ATP has been hydrolyzed. At the arrow, 200 µl of 5 µM digitonin was added to the cuvette. Ten to twelve seconds later signal C resulted.

C- assay signal produced as digitonin lysed successively more and more cells, releasing their intracellular content of ATP. Note the slow-rise increase in the light signal, and lack of exponential decay because cells were still lysing. This experimental procedure demonstrated that extracellular ATP was being measured (Signal B) and that the cells were not lysing while in the firefly bioassay solution.

AVAILY DEPOSITE PROPERTY PROPERTY AND THE PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY AND THE PROPERTY AND THE




concluded that extracellular ATP was being measured and that calculation of an efflux was justified. Based on the evidence presented in this section, it can also be concluded that the cells were not lysing either spontaneously, during aspiration at assay, or upon contact with the firefly bioassay solution.

A final piece of evidence confirms that ATP was the substance that was associated with the erythrocytes. Figure 37 demonstrates that apyrase, an enzyme that hydrolyzes ATP to AMP, abolished the light signal generated when a cell sample was assayed. Thus, it is logical to conclude that ATP was responsible for the light signals recorded when cell samples were assayed.

# Intracellular ATP of Frog Erythrocytes

The intracellular ATP concentration  $([ATP]_i)$  of frog erythrocytes has been determined by chromatography (24) and high performance liquid chromatography (52) as 6.10 mM and 3.31 mM, respectively. Using the firefly bioassay,  $[ATP]_i$  was determined using three different procedures. Multiple cell samples from a frog were sonicated or lysed with digitonin, and then assayed for  $[ATP]_i$ , or the cells were placed in the firefly assay solution in front of the PMT and then lysed with digitonin. An average  $[ATP]_i$  was determined for each method. The equation provided in APPENDIX I was used to calculate the  $[ATP]_i$ . It makes the





## FIGURE 37

Light Signal Generated by Extracellular ATP in the Medium Around Erythrocytes, and Following the Addition of Apyrase.

i- light signal generated by the extracellular ATP of frog red cells;

ii- light signal generated after addition of 1.05 mg of apyrase. The apyrase hydrolysed all of the ATP and abolished the assay signal. Vertical bar, 100 mv in "i", 10 mv in "ii". Horizontal bar, 20 seconds in each.







assumption that the mean cell volume was 800  $\mu^3$  (193), that 65% of the red cell was water (114) and that the nuclear volume vis-a-vis water and ATP was no different from the cytoplasm (103).

Table VI summarizes the findings with seven different animals. Both the sonication and digitonin procedures provided similar  $[ATP]_i$  values. The overall mean  $\pm$  S.E. for twenty-nine observations on six animals using the first two procedures was 2.9  $\pm$  0.3 mM. The third procedure of lysing the cells in front of the PMT provided ATP levels that averaged less than 1 mM (see p. 196).

# Intracellular ATP of Salamander Erythrocytes

No reference was found for the intracellular concentration of ATP in <u>Amphiuma tridactylum</u>. Using the firefly bioassay procedure,  $[ATP]_i$  was determined by lysing the cells with digitonin (20 µM). Cell samples containing different numbers of cells were counted, lysed, and then assayed. An average  $[ATP]_i$ was determined for each animal based on multiple observations. Again, the same equation as used for frog red cells (see APPENDIX I) was used for this calculation. It assumed a mean cell volume of 15,000 µ<sup>3</sup> (262), that 65% of the red cell was water (114), and that water and ATP in the nuclear volume was the same as in the cytoplasm (103). Table VII provides the mean  $[ATP]_i$  for two animals. The overall mean ± S.E. for twelve observations was 1.7 ± 0.3 mM.

















いたいない いいし ちちち あんちょう

TABLE VI [ATP]; of Frog Erythrocytes

Multiple observations using different cell counts were made for each animal, and the average  $[ATP]_i$  determined. The sonication procedure lysed no more than about 80% of the cells, so an appropriate adjustment in the  $[ATP]_i$  was made. Digitonin at a concentration of 20  $\mu$  M was used in the second procedure. It was added to the whole cell sample, and then 200  $\mu$ l of the lysed sample was assayed. In the third procedure, 200  $\mu$ l of the cell sample was placed in the firefly mixture in front of the photomultiplier tube (PMT). To this was added 200  $\mu$ l of digitonin to lyse the cells. Appropriate volume-dilution adjustments were made in each procedure. For example, adding 200  $\mu$ l of digitonin diluted the assay volume by one third. The [ATP]<sub>i</sub> was then adjusted upward by one third. See APPENDIX I for calculation method.



TABLE VII				
[ATP] <sub>i</sub>	of	Salamander Erythrocytes		

Animal	Observations	[mM] mean ±S.E.
1	6	1.2 ± 0.1
2	6	$2.2 \pm 0.4$

Multiple observations using different cell counts were made for each of two salamanders. Cells were counted in each sample and then lysed by adding digitonin at a concentration of  $20\,\mu$  M to the whole sample. Afterward,  $200\,\mu$ l of the lysed sample was assayed. The same calculation as for frog erythrocytes was used (see APPENDIX I) except that a mean cell volume of 15,000  $\mu$ <sup>3</sup> was substituted in the equation.









## DISCUSSION PART I: METHODS

### Assay Procedure and Technique

Sec. Sec. Sec.

<u>Photinus pyralis</u> (firefly) hydrolyses ATP in order to produce light via luciferyl adenylate. A sensitive bioassay can be produced from reconstituted firefly tails (firefly lantern extract, FLE), allowing the determination of ATP concentrations in the range of 10-2500 nM using the equipment shown in Figure 1. The technique that was employed has been a satisfactory technique for almost two decades. It was recently improved by the addition of synthetic luciferin (237), which increased the sensitivity and allowed differentiation of unknown samples at levels less than 10 nM.

The assay procedure utilizes a photomultiplier tube (PMT), which necessitates that experiments be conducted in absolute darkness or that the FLE mixture (FLE + luciferin) and PMT be isolated in a light-tight box. The latter procedure, similar to that described by Silinski (394) and utilizing an injection port capable of accepting a 20 gauge needle, was used in order to record the complete light signal produced by the firefly during each assay. The peak of this light signal was essential to the accurate measurement of the ATP concentration, since it is the peak signal that is proportional to the amount of ATP present. Also, examination of the fast rise in the signal and its exponential decay allows verification that ATP, rather than some other nucleotide, is the substance being measured.



It is surprising that some researchers are still performing firefly assay procedures in a way that precludes accurate measurement of the ATP concentration. For example, some have measured the light emission after a delayed period following the mixing of the FLE and an unknown sample. Wulf et al. (474) never observed accurate readings because, among other inadequacies, light emission was measured a number of seconds after the peak of the light signal. This measurement was at a time when the recording was on the downslope of Component B in Figure 3. Addanki et al. (3) and Aledort et al. (10) also took measurements on the extreme downslope of the light signal. This was done out of necessity becuse a liquid scintillation counter (LSC) was used. The LSC procedure, in effect, integrates the area under the curve because it counts photons emitted during the enzymatic reaction. Unfortunately, LSC precludes an accurate count of the total light signal because the counter is not switched on when the FLE and unknown sample are combined. None of these authors described any methodology for dealing with this problem. Neither did they describe methods for eliminating error due to background counts or due to variable luciferase activity from one assay to the next. Methods were employed in the present protocol to eliminate such errors.



Crude FLE has some ATP in it, necessitating that some method be designed to exclude its effect on the measurement of the unknown sample. This was accomplished in two ways, first by waiting 30 minutes for the ATP intrinsic to the FLE to be hydrolyzed before beginning the assay procedure. Second, a signal-to-background (B/A) ratio was mathematically calculated for all standards and unknowns, and from this value was substracted the signal-to-background ratio for a blank. The signal generated by assaying a blank, which contained no exogenous ATP, was a measure of the previously existing ATP in the FLE. By subtraction of its B/A ratio, the error introduced by the ATP in the FLE was eliminated.

Another error, that due to changes in enzyme activity, was also eliminated by calculating the B/A ratio. Each assay cuvette contained 100  $\mu$ l of FLE and 100  $\mu$ l of synthetic luciferin. Yet, the enzymatic activity of these two reactants combined varied depending on the accuracy of pipetting and the amount of luciferase enzyme or luciferin actually transferred to the cuvette. The variance was small, but nevertheless could be measured. Consequently, the number of photons produced by the PMT on a real-time basis caused the recorded signal to vary slightly even with a standard solution of ATP. The true measure of the ATP present, then, was not related just to the peak of the assay signal (Component B of Figure 3). It was also dependent on the

concentration of reactants to which the ATP was added, reflected by the height of the background signal (Component A of Figure 3). Thus, the true measure of the ATP was related to the ratio of the assay signal to the background signal (B/A ratio).

The enzymatic activity of the FLE mixture also varied depending on the time of assay. Experiments take time, and all the assays for measuring ATP in an experiment are obviously not accomplished simultaneously, but sequentially. If enzyme activity diminishes as shown in Figure 5, then comparison of assays accomplished 1-2 hours apart introduces error. Figure 6 conclusively shows that this type of error was not inherent to the protocol used for these studies because the B/A ratio was determined as a measure of the ATP in an unknown.

Accuracy of the measurement of ATP was further refined by providing for the greatest enhancement of the signal practicable. Quenching due to glass cuvettes was documented (Figure 7) and was overcome by using plastic cuvettes. Consequently, the absorption of photons of light by the glass, a source of error peculiar to counting with a PMT, e.g., in liquid scintillation counting, was minimized.

Likewise, the assay signal was enhanced by the addition of excess luciferin in the form of a synthetic molecule. This resulted in an intensification of the assay signal above the level

of the background signal at concentrations above 10 nM and, on a molar basis, provided a 10-fold greater degree of detection of ATP (Figure 8).

Based on the evidence presented, it is concluded that the techniques employed and precautions taken could not have provided for an accurate and precise measure of ATP under the experimental conditions. The assay would have detected an ATP difference between samples of one nanomolar. ATP would not have been confused with another nucleotide because of its distinctive signal characteristics and the standard dose-response curve. It is recommended that these techniques be employed in the study of ATP whether or not commercial or specially-designed equipment is utilized.

## Frog Heart Perfusion

Without a coronary circulation to influence the delivery of oxygen or the removal of metabolites in the <u>in situ</u> frog heart, it was thought that a study of the release of ATP, if any, would be rather straightforward. Several considerations deserve mention.

First, a perfusion pressure of 90 mm H<sub>2</sub>O was found through trial and error to provide adequate venous return to the heart. A proper size and length of tubing was chosen to provide an adequate but not excessive peripheral resistance. Cardiac output was not a maximum and a Frank-Starling effect could be produced to demonstrate the vitality of the heart. One of the possible influences on the accurate measurement of ATP release from the frog myocardium was an ionic effect on the FLE. Light emission is diminished linearly as the log of the cation concentration increases (10). The influence of the cation concentration on light emission was verified by constructing standard curves similar to Figure 4, but with varying osmolarity. Light emission was slightly less when osmolarity was increased. Since ionic exchange occurs in the perfusate going through the frog heart, it was thought that the ATP levels would be underestimated. Unfortunately, the opposite was shown to occur

for other reasons.

ATP levels were elevated due to the presence of red blood cells. Since the majority of the perfusion experiments were conducted without consideration of this possibility, it is not possible to say with absolute certainty that Figure 15 is representative of what occurs in frog myocardium during a hypoxic or hyperoxic insult. Additionally, it is not possible to exclude the release of ATP from the red blood cells once they have come into contact with the hypoxic or hyperoxic perfusate (see DISCUSSION on ATP Efflux From Erythrocytes).

Finally, it may have been a consequence of red cell contamination, rather than a basal level of myocardial release of ATP, that resulted in no measurable ATPase activity when 1 nM ATP was perfused through the frog heart (Figure 17). Again, these experiments were conducted prior to any understanding of a red cell contribution to ATP or ATPase activity.

### **RBC** Protocol

The first methodological consideration in the study of the frog red blood cells was that the red cell samples were not pure, but contained some white blood cells and spindle cells (platelets). No separation procedures were employed to segregate the various blood elements from each other. Instead, whole blood was harvested and then diluted with frog Ringer's solution approximately 1000 times. A count of the red cells, the platelets, and the white cells would also show a 1000-fold dilution into the range of 400, 4, and 3 cells per microliter, respectively.

This was partially verified by counting the red cells and spindle cells. Such counts constituted a major effort in this protocol. Spindle cells were routinely counted because they could be easily differentiated. White cells were not distinguishable from red cells unless stained. For this reason they were not counted, and possibly were included in the red cell count. Based on their constituency in whole blood (384), a dilution to 3 cells per microliter was assumed.

A primary consideration in the harvesting and treatment of the red cell samples was that they were never centrifuged, washed with any drug or enzyme, or mishandled (shaken, stirred, etc.). In principle, then, the cells should not have been lysing. Consequently, considerable effort was made to determine the mechanism of release.

One possibility for the cause of ATP release that depended on methodology is permeabilization. Red cells and other transformed cells can be permeabilized with ATP at concentrations exceeding 100 µM (205,328,370,454). This allows large molecules, including intracellular ATP, to efflux from the cells (see HISTORICAL REVIEW). It is uncertain what the circulatory level of ATP was prior to cell harvest. To what degree surgery elevated plasma levels of ATP prior to cell harvest, resulting in permeabilization, was also unknown. The nanomolar level of ATP found in all dilute cell samples (from 80 to 1200 cells/ $\mu$ l) may have been indicative of a normal plasma level of ATP in the micromolar range, since the whole blood was diluted 1000 times. On the other hand, if a normal circulating level of ATP was less than micromolar in concentration, then the trauma of surgery may have added significant levels of ATP and/or the frog red cells may have been permeabilized at an ATP concentration less than 100 µM. This is the concentration required to permeabilize dog red cells (328).

Permeabilization would then have been responsible for the results observed with settled cells. If the cells had become permeabilized prior to harvesting, and remained so, then once they had settled the local concentration of ATP may have increased, exacerbating the permeabilization. This was only a remote possibility, however. For other reasons it is thought that these red cells were releasing ATP for a physiological purpose (see DISCUSSION on ATP Efflux From Erythrocytes).

Stirring the cells by keeping the plastic microvials on a tube rotator was originally thought to be harsher treatment than allowing the samples to settle. It was postulated that movement of the cells would infrequently, but with some certainty, cause contact with the side of the microvial and result in cell lysis. ATP concentration was expected to rise subsequently. Neither postulate was confirmed. Rather, counting the samples before and after rotation on the tube rotator provided no statistical basis for cell lysis. The ATP concentration did not increase either (see Figure 27). Of course, this may have been due to the ATPase activity of the cells. An additional marker, such as lactate dehydrogenase or hemoglobin, would have helped to verify if lysis was occurring.

Counting the cells by hemocytometer was a routine procedure, described in METHODS. It was based on the practice followed in most blood banks, but specifically that at the St. Louis University Medical Center.

177

CONTRACTOR D





D-1010 10.4

AND POSSESS PROCESSES PROCESSES

A 6.5 B.1

MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A  $\mathbf{r}_{j}^{(i)}$ 





Nucleated red blood cells from salamanders were also briefly studied with the intent of verifying any similar release of ATP as found in frog red cells. As described in the RESULTS, the effort proved futile because of the size of the cells. The injection port of the sample holder used to assay for ATP did not accept a hypodermic needle larger than 20 gauge. The salamander cells were too large to be aspirated through anything less than possibly a 15 gauge needle. Experience with the 20 gauge needle showed that several successive assays of the same cell sample over a brief period of time produced highly variable levels of ATP. It was concluded that the salamander cells were lysed as they passed through the needle.

### DISCUSSION PART II: RESULTS

#### ATP Release From Frog Myocardium

Langendorff-perfused hearts (guinea pig) (326,421), working hearts (rat and frog) (82,124) and isolated myocardial cells (rat) (151,463), have been shown to release ATP. Hypoxia was hypothesized to be the signal. In seven of fifteen frog hearts, ATP appearance increased upon exposure to hypoxic frog Ringer's solution. However, the supposed cell-free effluent from the hearts produced considerable variability during the test protocol. The result was that no statistical difference could be shown between control and hypoxic conditions. The same statement can be made for effluent samples collected under hyperoxic conditions. Each effluent sample was collected with the expectation that the ATP entering the solution upon one pass through the frog heart could be kept on ice without any effect on the ATP concentrations. All samples were observed to be clear at the time of collection, but many samples were observed to have erythrocytes settled at the bottom when left untouched for 20-30 minutes or longer. Initially the concern had been with ATPase activity. If any change were to occur on the ATP concentration of the effluent samples, it was expected to be a decrease. Consequently, ATPase activity by the red cells would have produced an underestimation of the amount of ATP release from the frog heart (438).

Though it was only subjectively noted, the appearance of the red cells in the effluent appeared to be greater when the work of the heart increased. Since an increase in work, as measured by cardiac output, occurred upon exposure to a perfusate with low or high pO<sub>2</sub>, a greater number of cells appeared in the effluent and affected the results. Based upon the subsequent study of the ATP and the ATPase activity associated with frog red cells, in retrospect it seems reasonable to assume that the red cells were a major cause of the extreme variability seen in the release of ATP from frog myocardium.

The source of these erythrocytes was thought to be other blood vessels emptying into the posteror vena cava. Thus, diastolic recoil during increased cardiac output was suspected of enhancing venous return <u>vis a fronte</u>, and consequently increasing the appearance of red cells in the effluent.

When erythrocytes were released into the perfusate going through the heart, a dynamic situation arose that depended on the number of cells present. Initially the cells hydrolyzed ATP. Thus, the ATP concentration decreased. However, when the cells settled by gravity, they were then a source of ATP. The protocol for the study of myocardial ATP release, when initiated, did not take this into account.

Likewise, other studies involving ATP release from heart or skeletal muscle must be re-examined in light of these findings. Although anucleate erythrocytes have not been studied to show a similar association of ATP, virtually all studies conducted with amphibians or other species with nucleated red cells must account for ATP from ethrocytes. Not only may they function as a source for ATP, but ATP release may be caused by some drug or other substance intended to act only on the endothelium or the muscle. If ATP from red cells is present, then activation of a P<sub>2</sub> receptor on some cell may affect the results of the research protocol. The study of hyperemia would be particularly vulnerable to errors if erythrocytes were present.













## ATPase Activity of Frog Myocardium

The level at which ATP appears in circulation in the frog heart appears to be in the nanomolar range. When ATP was perfused through the heart, substantial hydrolysis of ATP should have occurred not only at 10 nM and above, but also when 1 nM ATP was perfused through the heart. This did not happen. Instead, ATP was added to the perfusate.

The source of this ATP may have been myocardial cells, nerve cells, the littoral cells lining the trabeculae (i.e., endothelial-like cells), or possibly blood elements. The solutions passed through the heart were normoxic, and therefore should not have activated a hypoxia-dependent release mechanism in any of the tissues. Except for reasons of cell injury, one does not ordinarily expect to see ATP appear outside of cells. Under these conditions, why did ATP increase in the perfusate containing 1 nM ATP?

A small, basal level of ATP release from cells does not seem implausible if a mechanism exists for the movement of the ATP molecule across the bilipid cell membrane. Options for moving ATP across the plasmalemma include a channel and/or a carriermediated translocator, for which no evidence currently exits. Exocytosis, another option, is more applicable to a secretory or neurosecretory event, and also seems unlikely. "Nucleotide permeabilization" is not applicable because the criteria for it are not satisfied. The mechanism of release of ATP from myocardial cells in response to hypoxia may be hypothesized to contribute to some, if not all of the ATP seen in the effluent. Although no evidence has been presented for a nucleotide translocator protein in the cell membrane, its presence may exist if only as a consequence of

cells' production of mitochondrial protein responsible for ADP-ATP translocation (16,41,133,254,255,256). Consequently, if the process for protein selection and insertion into mitochondrial membranes were less than 100% efficient, then the appearance of the ADP-ATP translocator protein in the sarcolemma might be possible. This hypothesis has never been documented.

A more probable option, which is more easily defended, is that of a channel. Such a mechanism for release of ATP may have specific characteristics which are sensitive to manipulation. Again, no evidence for an ATP anion channel in cardiomyocytes has been documented, nor was any evidence for such produced in this research.

### Purinoceptor-Mediated Calcium Mobilization

5555555927 862544533

the second descent descent of the second of the second descent

Receptor-mediated calcium mobilization has been partially disclosed in the frog heart (398). Epinephrine is a positive inotropic agent that modulates intracellular calcium via the cAMP pathway. ATP apparently can enter into this regulatory system through the cyclic nucleotide pathways (140). This is thought to contribute to the positive inotropism seen following the application of ATP. Indomethacin (10  $\mu$ M) also was shown to











diminish the first phase and abolish the third phase of the response, thus implicating prostaglandins in the mobilization of calcium (140). The data hereby presented on the enhancement of calcium mobilization by ATP following a brief exposure to either of two calcium blockers indicated that

- 1) the  $P_{2X}$  receptor was probably not associated with the voltage-sensitive calcium channel responsible for tension development, and
- at least some of the calcium responsible for the first phase of the triphasic response originated extracellularly.

The reason for the first conclusion was because the calcium blockers did not block the  $P_{2X}$ -mediated calcium mobilization. Instead, the blockers enhanced it. This contrasts with what is known about their blocking action, i.e., calcium is prevented from moving through the voltage-sensitive gate (47,388). Apparently more free calcium moved down its gradient through a receptormediated channel when these blockers were present.

It is confusing that these calcium blockers were able to enhance the ATP effect ( $P_{2X}$  activation). The manganese action was likely a consequence of the displacement of a significant amount of calcium from external binding sites (274). This raised the local concentration outside and increased contractility during  $P_{2X}$  activation. It was the displaced calcium, therefore, that was suspected of enhancing the  $P_{2X}$  calcium mobilization seen in Figure 19. That ATP also affected the action potential (140,320) is probably an event separate from the receptor-mediated



calcium entry. Either that, or ATP was in some way able to overcome or use to its advantage the binding of the calcium blockers to the voltage-dependent channels. If this were so, the combination of blocker and ATP likely functioned as a calcium channel activator, e.g., BAY K 8644 (388).

Such a complicated hypothesis is only entertained because of the results with verapamil. Verapamil does not displace calcium, but rather antagonizes its influx by binding to a site on the channel (231,274,312,388,408). In this capacity it is a "use-dependent" blocker. For voltage-dependent channels, access to verapamil's binding site occurs when depolarization opens the channel. Were verapamil to function in the same manner for a P<sub>2X</sub>-mediated channel, it would also block the action of ATP. Figure 20 shows that it enhanced, rather than blocked, the action of ATP.

Does this indicate that ATP and verapamil together functioned like a calcium channel activator? A simpler explanation is suggested. Verapamil may have bound to and in some way enhanceed calcium movement through a  $P_{2X}$ -mediated channel. By modulating the conformational shape of a protein in the channel, verapamil may have allowed greater calcium influx when the channel was opened by ATP. Perhaps other protocols using dihydropyridines or calcium channel activators will provide evidence for the source of this calcium.











The findings with these blockers also allowed the conclusion that at least some of the calcium entered from the outside of the cell. Any other conclusion would have to explain how these so-called antagonists entered the cell to facilitate calcium release from the SR, the other proposed origin of calcium mobilized by ATP (320).

The attempt to localize the calcium mobilized by ATP included an effort to completely antagonize the effect using a new P<sub>2</sub> blocker. No reversible P2 antagonist presently exists, and the findings with Isatogen 151-3 were only sufficient to conclude that further research is warranted. The trend, based on three animals, is that this substance may be a  $P_{2X}$  blocker.

# ATP Efflux From Frog Erythrocytes

「たいいいない」「「「たいいい」」「「たいなななな」」「たいいい」」「「たいい」」」

Based on the assays of the perfusate from frog hearts, it became apparent that frog erythrocytes were influencing ATP levels. The assay procedure was able to measure ATP at a sensitivity of from 1 nM to about 2500 nM, allowing the study of very dilute cell samples. When harvested and diluted about 1000 times, the erythrocytes from all the frogs consistently presented with extracellular ATP levels near 10 nM.

This may have been due to the release of ATP from the erythrocytes in circulation. Experimental results showed that cells allowed to settle for over a half hour appeared to release ATP. Perhaps the same thing happens in circulation during





stagnant circulatory flow, or during hypoxia. If ATP is released from these red cells <u>in vivo</u>, two physiological events are expected:

 increased oxygen uptake and delivery, and
increased blood flow due to an ATP-mediated endothelium-dependent vasodilation.

In the nucleated red cells of fish, eels, and amphibians, ATP functions as more than a source of energy. It is also an organophosphate that plays a major role in controlling the affinity of hemoglobin for oxygen (23,200,455,470). ATP acts similarly to 2,3-DPG in its allosteric control over hemoglogin. Both decrease hemoglobin's affinity for oxygen. The difference between them is the manner by which they are utilized by the red cells of the host animal. Human erythrocytes make additional 2,3-DPG when exposed to hypoxia (277). Red cells of aquatic animals decrease their level of ATP (470). This latter phenomenon is critical to the increased uptake of oxygen from the hypoxic water environment. Oxygen-carrying capacity is, in turn, increased.

During hypoxia, the decrease in ATP in red cells of fish, eels, and amphibians has been attributed to a decrease in the enzymes associated with ATP production, specifically oxidative phosphorylation (174,351,470). The result, as first reported by

Wood and Johansen (470), is a leftward shift in the oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve and a decrease in the  $P_{50}$ . This causes an enhanced oxygen carrying capacity that benefits the animal.

Based on the results of experiments with frog erythrocytes, the hypothesis must also be entertained that the nucleated red cells decrease their intracellular ATP via efflux through an anion channel. This release of ATP, as seen in these experiments, was probably in response to hypoxia. It occurred acutely, since cells allowed to settle for 50-60 minutes demonstrated ATP efflux. Stirred cells did not. It is suggested that the settled cells experienced localized hypoxia in the bottom of the microvial because they used the surrounding oxygen. The decreased oxygen provided the signal for the release of ATP from the red cells.

Nucleated red cells consume almost 10 times more oxygen than do anucleate red cells (389). Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that local oxygen levels immediately around the settled cells diminished accordingly. The cells then responded to this by releasing ATP. In contrast, cell samples maintained on a tube rotator kept the cells in a normoxic environment and prevented localized hypoxia.

ATP efflux from frog cells was seen within one hour. Hypoxia-induced reduction of ATP within one hour has also been documented in the red cells of Fundulus heteroclitus (175) and



<u>Squalous acanthius</u> (455). The time course of the decrease in intracellular ATP observed in these latter two instances correlates extremely well with the time course of the increase in the extracellular ATP seen with frog red cells. Therefore, hypoxia-induced reduction of ATP in nucleated red cells most likely is a consequence of both an increased efflux of ATP and diminished oxidative phosphorylation.

One effort to make the frog red cells hypoxic in order to verify this hypothesis was not productive. Bubbling with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>-95% O<sub>2</sub> only lysed the cells. Other procedures have yet to be tried.

Another experimental technique utilized to try and cause ATP efflux from frog erythrocytes was depolarization with either high potassium or veratridine. White (458,459) was able to depolarize synaptosomes with these agents in front of a photomultiplier tube and demonstrate the release of ATP. Since both human and amphibian red cells have a transmembrane potential (213), it seemed reasonable to try to cause ATP release with this technique in frog red cells.

Whether or not the cells were depolarized was not ascertained through any electrophysiological means. Though depolarization was likely with 40 mM potassium, no increase in the light signal was observed. This concentration of potassium may have diminished the firefly sensitivity (10). Veratridine (50  $\mu$ M) caused no increase in the light signal either. Thus, ATP efflux could not be induced

by depolarization, and hypoxia-induced release of ATP is not likely to be the result of a physical alteration in the membrane during a change in the transmembrane potential.

Vasodilation produced by EDRF release from the endothelium in frog has not been documented. However, in all probability this type of vasodilation exists. If ATP efflux from red cells does occur <u>in vivo</u>, ATP would mediate a hyperemia independent of the metabolism of the surrounding tissues. That is, a hyperemia not tied to the release of a metabolic factor, but to a decreased partial pressure of oxygen in the blood, would result.

It is thought that the release of ATP is best characterized as an efflux through an anion channel. Though the concentration difference from inside to outside the cell is over 1000, ATP is not lipid-soluble and its diffusion coefficient is such as to preclude simple diffusion. That leaves facilitated transport, either by a mobile carrier or a channel, as the likely efflux process.

Facilitated transport exhibits saturation kinetics and is influenced by specific inhibitors. Mobile carriers have a high activation enthalpy and a low turnover number, or conductance. Channels, on the other hand, may or may not be temperature sensitive, but the turnover number is usually high.

If a mobile carrier were responsible for the release of ATP, then it would be temperature sensitive. An early approach in the study of red cells included placing the cell samples on ice. Unfortunately the time between assays at this stage of the study was too brief (< 20 minutes) to cause ATP release, and in turn, to see if temperature decreased the release. ATP efflux was induced most effectively by allowing the cells to settle for about one hour. Since this was not done with samples on ice, a comparison of the effects of temperature on ATP efflux was not possible.

The number of efflux "pathways" in the plasmalemma of the frog red cells is obviously not known, and for this reason it is not possible to calculate the conductance of ATP per pathway. Nevertheless, the efflux values shown in Figure 28 are comparable to a release of about 40,000 molecules per cell per minute. This suggests a channel, rather than a mobile carrier, as the type of facilitated transport mechanism that is at work. Evidence with anion channel blockers seems to support this suggestion.

# ATP Efflux Inhibition: Anion Channel Blockers

Specific inhibitor substances are frequently shown to impede facilitated transport. In mitochondria, for example, atractyloside or bongkrekic acid each have their own unique way of blocking the transport of ATP (16,256). With regard to red cells, pyridoxal phosphate, probenecid, 4-acetamide-4'-isothiocyano-2, 2'-disulfonic stilbene (SITS), prostaglandin A<sub>1</sub>, nitrobenzylthioinosine (NBTI), ouabain and furosemide have been used to



inhibit the transport of various ions, nucleosides (adenosine), or nucleotides (cAMP) across the cell membrane (66,105,201).

In these experiments pyridoxal phosphate caused inhibition of the firefly enzymatic reaction. Ouabain and SITS were tried without effect, possibly because the time between assays was too short (< 20 minutes between each) and did not allow the alleged hypoxia-induced mechanism to work effectively. Three substances, though, including atractyloside, probenecid and furosemide, were used with varying degrees of success to limit the efflux of ATP from frog red cells.

The efflux inhibition by probenecid (Figure 30) may indicate that all nucleotide translocation in nucleated cells occurs via a similar process. Cyclic AMP efflux from avian red cells is probenecid-sensitive (68), and the present results show that ATP efflux is probenecid-sensitive. The movement of these two nucleotides may traverse the cell membrane via the same or similar channels. Comparison of cAMP and ATP efflux in frog cells with that in pigeon cells may prove beneficial to establishing commonality of the release mechanism. Also, a functional purpose for the release of these nucleotides may be uncovered. Whereas ATP decrease in red cells of aquatic animals is known to benefit oxygen dilivery, the meaning of cAMP efflux in avian red cells remains obscure.



The effects with furosemide generate further questions. Furosemide, an anion (chloride) channel blocker, is less effective than probenecid, but is able to decrease ATP efflux from frog red cells (Figure 31). This may indicate, contrary to evidence with cAMP efflux in pigeon red cells (201), that ATP efflux from frog cells may be sensitive to chloride movement across the plasmalemma. ATP is charged, and its movement from one side to the other entails an imbalance in negative charges that must be corrected if the transmembrane potential is to be maintained.

There are two possibilities. First, that the efflux of ATP is furosemide-sensitive seems to suggest that the negative charges of chloride may be needed inside in exchange for the loss of the negative charges of ATP. If chloride influx is blocked by furosemide, then ATP efflux is diminished.

Second, hypoxia in these red cells portends a decrease in the intracellular pH. Lactic acidosis accompanies the decrease in intracellular ATP seen in eel erythrocytes (470). A concomitant movement of hydrogen ions out of the cell may occur with the movement of the negative charges of ATP out of the cell. Hydrogen ions may bind to ATP and cancel the negative charges, allowing the movement of an uncharged molecule across the plasmalemma. In this way, the transmembrane potential is not disrupted.

Additional studies are warranted in order to provide an understanding not only of charge distribution but also nucleoside-nucleotide balance. Concerning the latter, a loss of ATP requires replacement of the purine component. <u>De novo</u> synthesis or, perhaps adenosine influx, is required. If adenosine uptake is required, maybe the channel is an antiport, moving adenosine in and ATP out. Results using SITS and NTBI to further describe the specificity of this channel for anions and nucleosides would be beneficial.

Though probenecid was an effective antagonist, no exclusive traits are ascribed to the anion channel responsible for ATP efflux. It may be that the channel can transport other organic anions in the same manner as in renal tissue. Thus, the probenecid-sensitive transport of p-aminohippurate (PAH) and adenine nucleotides described by Maxild (290) in the kidney also may be characteristic of the frog red cell. If this is true, then ADP and AMP may compete with ATP. Otherwise the release of ATP is a specific response that has little to do with ADP and AMP movements.

One reason that renal tissue and red cells may not necessarily be comparable in this regard is that the movement of ATP occurs in opposite directions. That in the kidney slices was an uptake against an electrochemical gradient, implying perhaps, a mobile carrier similar to that seen in other tissues (1,261,275,281,282). That in the red cell is obviously movement



down the electrochemical gradient of ATP at a rate that signifies, in all probability, a channel. Further study is necessary in order to determine if this anion channel is nucleotide-specific.

With regard to the process of "nucleotide permeabilization", two pieces of evidence were gathered that support conflicting arguments. Permeabilization was not seriously considered as the cause of ATP efflux because none of the criteria for it fit the experimental circumstances described herein. Among the criteria for permeabilization are an alkaline pH, absence of glucose, and extremely high ATP (100-250  $\mu$ M) (205). Unpublished observations of G. Weisman (see 205) show that furosemide and bumetanide inhibit permeabilization. Thus, data on furosemide in this study may support permeabilization.

anorogen suuddig suuddin akhiette värrette

وبروبي والمراجع

Li an Arti

Alternatively, trifluoperazine (TF) has been shown to exacerbate the permeabilization process in transformed cells (205,253). In one experiment with frog red cells, however, TF at 5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M inhibited ATP efflux. Higher concentrations caused cell lysis, as determined by hemocytometer counting. The opposite should have occurred, and therefore permeabilization was not supported by these data.

It also is possible that the concept of permeabilization is improperly characterized as non-physiological. Nucleotide permeabilization as described by others may have resulted from more than one membrane event and caused erroneous conclusions. If

ATP efflux through an anion channel was occurring in these protocols, there was no way to determine it because of the massive exogenous levels added to the cells.

The evidence with atractyloside shown in Figure 32 supports the hypothesis of efflux by way of a facilitated transport through a channel. Like simple diffusion, movement through a channel is dependent on the concentration gradient. If this gradient is diminished by incubating the cells with atractyloside, a decreased efflux will likely occur.

# Intracellular ATP of Amphibian Erythrocytes

The efflux of ATP from these red cells raised another issue. The extracellular ATP that was measured undoubtedly constituted some percent of the intracellular pool of ATP. Determining this percentage was relatively easy, but the interpretation proved otherwise.

Two of the methods used to lyse the frog red cells (sonication and digitonin) provided reasonable results. Approximately 3 mM ATP is comparable to human  $[ATP]_i$  and approximates previous observations with frogs. The  $[ATP]_i$ determined in salamander red cells with digitonin appears low by comparison to the frog. No other value has been published on  $[ATP]_i$  of salamander red cells.


The assumptions used in the calculation of  $[ATP]_i$  did not address the issue of bound, or structural, ATP. The firefly bioassay method measured free ATP, not ATP bound to or sequestered within protein structural components of the cell. For this reason, then, all of the ATP in the red cells may not have been measured. Some ATP may have remained bound. If this is true, then the conclusions about  $[ATP]_i$  may be in error.

Lysing the cells in front of the photomultiplier tube was a process that did not release all of the free ATP at the same time. Consequently the height of the recorded light signal was not an accurate measure of all the ATP released, because not all of the ATP was present at the same time to generate the signal. This probably accounted for the low average [ATP]<sub>i</sub> seen using this method (see p. 166).

If 2.9 mM is an accurate estimate of the intracellular ATP of frog cells, then each cell contains about 1.5 billion molecules of ATP. The efflux of ATP from these cells was reported in molecules/cm<sup>2</sup>.sec in the Figures. Another way to report efflux is in molecules/cell.min. For frog cells, the efflux rate was about 40,000. This is about 0.027% of the intracellular ATP, a figure that seems numerically small but when released to the cell's exterior is extremely potent as a vasodilator. This degree of loss of ATP from the interior of the cell may appear to be negligible vis-a-vis altering the affinity of hemoglobin for oxygen. Greaney and Powers (175) did not report raw data in <u>Fundulus heteroclitus</u>. Instead, graphic data appears to show that a one hour exposure of these red cells to an anoxic medium decreased the mole-to-mole ratio of ATP to hemoglobin by 25%. Since the amount of free and bound ATP is not known, an attempt to relate the amount effluxing per minute to the amount required for allosteric binding to hemoglobin is not possible.

The release of such a small percentage of ATP from the intracellular compartment also may reflect a physical effect caused by the loss of serum proteins from around the cells. The method for studying these cells required dilution of whole blood, with dilution of the plasma proteins also ocurring. Specifically, albumin was no longer layered around the cells.

Research has shown that increased deformability of the red cell membrane occurs with decreasing protein adsorption (249,250,462). A loss of plasma proteins during dilution may have significantly affected normal membrane function, resulting in the appearance of ATP during these protocols. This explanation is arguably weak, though, in light of the results with probenecid, furosemide and atractyloside.







## Erythrocyte Ecto-ATPase Activity

Exogenous ATP added to frog erythrocytes was shown to be hydrolyzed, as seen by a decrease in the extracellular ATP concentration over time (Figure 29). The rate of disappearance of ATP was described mathematically as an exponential curve. Determining the true rate of ATP hydrolysis by the ecto-ATPases depended on what part of the curve was chosen to make the calculation.

Ideally, the assays should have been accomplished every 30 seconds in order to determine the tangent line of the curve early in the hydrolysis. This was not possible. Instead, an exponential regression of the curve was determined and used to provide an estimate of these points. The difference in the assays between time zero and 4 or 5 minutes was then used to calculate the hydrolysis rate.

The average rate was 2.3 X  $10^7$  molecules/cell.min. This indicates that an excess ATPase activity per cell exists. Since 100-times less ATP per cell was observed to efflux to the outside, the ATP levels cannot be described as too high. During this protocol, ATP efflux was always less than the cells' ability to hydrolyze it.

The ecto-ATPases have been reported to be inhibited by EDTA (443), but this was not seen in these experiments. EDTA had no



The ability of frog red cells to hydrolyze ATP also may have prevented accurate characterization of the ATP efflux. A major consideration was that when red cell samples were maintained on a tube rotator, i.e, the cells were stirred, the extracellular ATP concentration had a tendency to decrease. This is an indication of the dynamic situation that exists in the study of the extracellular ATP associated with amphibian erythrocytes. When cells were not moving, as with settled cells, the hydrolytic rate was so low that the external milieu of the cell increased its ATP concentration. If the cells were moving such that ATP came into contact with their ecto-enzymes, then hydrolysis occurred. The question not answered was whether the stirred cells also released ATP at some basal rate.

ATPase hydrolysis may have prevented accurate measurement of [ATP]<sub>i</sub>. Lysed cells were not diluted and stirred as were whole cells. Consequently, any residual activity of the enzyme protein following lysis was not determined. If it existed, the procedure for determining [ATP]<sub>i</sub> would have underestimated it.







It is difficult not to address the existence of extracellular ATP and ecto-enzymes in a teleological way. That is, if red cells are not expected to see ATP at a relatively high concentration, then why are ecto-ATPases integral to their membrane? It may be that, as a routine matter, these cells hydrolyse more than just the ATP that appears through injury and trauma, cell death, etc. ATP may be released because of localized hypoxia. Also, cell-to-cell communication may occur via ATP release under conditions not presently appreciated but nevertheless requiring a process for keeping it under control.

In the second second



# SUMMARY

Documented in this series of experiments are results showing that ATP can and does move across the plasmalemma to the cell exterior. This idea originated with Thomas Forrester with regard to functional hyperemia and has been a source of contention for many years. Obviously, understanding of it has been lacking. Perhaps the nucleated red cell can function as a limited model for release of ATP from other cells, e.g., myocardial cells.

This research effort was originally intended to document a release of ATP from the frog myocardium in response to a hypoxic challenge. Instead, evidence was found implicating red cells as a major source of ATP contamination. A study of ATP release from frog myocardium was near to impossible unless red cell contamination could be solved. This problem remains.

Hypoxic and hyperoxic frog Ringer's solution increased ATP release from the frog heart. Unfortunately, the red cells were found to constitute more than just a minor source of ATP. Frequently, red cell ATP surpassed that allegedly contributed by the myocardium.

The ATP associated with frog erythrocytes could be controlled to varying degrees by keeping the cells stirred or exposing them to substances that appeared to inhibit ATP efflux. Lysis was refuted as a cause for the ATP observed near the cells. Instead,

201

the layering of ATP in the supernatant above settled cells, in contrast to observations with stirred cells, gave rise to the hypothesis that these nucleated red cells were becoming hypoxic. Physiologically, the cells responded by releasing ATP to the outside. If it indeed can occur <u>in vivo</u>, this cellular response is expected to enhance oxygen delivery and increase blood flow.

Questions abound and only further research will answer them. Is hypoxia the real cause of ATP release? Does ATP release from these cells occur at some basal rate? Is an anion channel the proper characterization of the release mechanism? Is this release mechanism specific for ATP? How does ATP release affect other ion movements and the transmembrane potential of the cell? Does this amount of ATP release cause a leftward shift of the oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve? Does an endothelium-dependent vasodilation occur <u>in vivo</u> and result in increased blood flow and oxygen delivery? These questions and others await the inquiring mind.

#### APPENDIX I

ATP concentrations in red blood cells are normally reported as the following:

- a) millimoles ATP per 1000 ml packed cells
- b) micromoles ATP per gram hemoglobin
- c) micromoles ATP per 1000 ml whole blood
- picomoles ATP per number of cells d)

To convert these values to Molar (moles/liter), the following procedures were used:

For humans, assume:

- 1) hematocrit of 47% (12)
- 2) mean cell volume of 94  $\mu$  (12)
- 3) 96% of a packed cell volume is cells, and 4% is interstitial water (178)
- 4) mean cell hemoglobin concentration of 33.5 gm per 100 ml RBC, or 34.9% (12)
- 5) 65% of the red blood cell is water (114)
- 6) RBC count of 5.40 X  $10^6$  cells/µ1 (12), or 1.15 x 10<sup> $\prime$ </sup> packed cells/µl.

For frogs (Rana pipiens), assume:

- 1) hematocrit of 40% (193)
- 2) mean cell volume of  $800 \mu^3$  (193)
- 96% of a packed cell volume is cells, and 4% is 3) interstitial water (178)
- 4) mean cell hemoglobin concentration of 10.4%, or 10 gm per 100 ml RBC (193,276)
- 5) 65% of the red blood cell is water (114)
- 6) RBC count of 0.48 X  $10^6$  cells/ul, or 1.2 x  $10^{6}$  packed cells/ul (193)
- 7) no adjustment for nuclear volume (Though the nucleus of the frog red cell (194,272) may equal 20% of the cell volume, no adjustment for nuclear volume was made because the concentration of hemoglobin, and presumably water and ATP in the nucleus is equal to that in the cytoplasm (103).

# APPENDIX I (CONT.)

If red cell ATP is reported as 0.9 X  $10^{-3}$  moles/liter cells (461), then

0.9 X 10 <sup>-3</sup> moles	X X
1000 ml of cells	0.96
1 ml X	1 µ1
1000 µ1	5.4 X 10 <sup>6</sup> cells
l cell	1 X =
94 X 10 <sup>-15</sup> liters	0.65

= 2.84 mM ATP per cell

If red cell ATP is reported as 4.5 micromoles/gm Hb (37), then

4.5 X 10 <sup>-6</sup> moles	335 gm Hb l X X X
gm Hb	1000 ml cells 0.96
1 ml X	l μ1 X
1000 µ1	5.4 X 10 <sup>6</sup> cells
l cell	1 X =
94 X 10 <sup>-15</sup> liters	0.65

= 4.76 mM ATP per cell

# APPENDIX I (CONT.)

If red cell ATP is reported as 433 micromoles/1000 ml whole blood (39), then

433 X 10 <sup>-6</sup> moles	1 x x	1 X
1000 ml whole blood	0.45	0.96
1 ml X		ιμι x
1000 µ1	5.4 X	10 <sup>6</sup> cells
l cell	x	1 =
94 X 10 <sup>-15</sup> liters		0.65

## = 3.04 mM ATP per cell

If red cell ATP is reported as  $1306 \text{ picomoles}/10^7$  cells (108), then



## = 2.14 mM ATP per cell

' Intracellular ATP using original research data was calculated as follow:

[ATP] <sub>i</sub>	2	moles/liter	X	1 cell	х	1
		N (cells/liter)		8 x 10 <sup>-13</sup> liters (cell volume)	)	0.65

mM ATP per cell

#### APPENDIX II

ATP hydrolysis was either reported directly as molecules per cell.min or was calculated as follows:

SECOND CONSIST

1) assume the following hematocrits and erythrocyte counts per microliter:

			reference
eel	37.9%	2.48 X $10^{6}$	(12)
frog	40.0%	0.48 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	(193)
rabbit	41.5%	5.70 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	(12)
cat	40.0%	8.00 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	(12)
man	47.0%	5.40 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	(12)
rat	46.0%	8.90 X 10 <sup>6</sup>	(12)

Then, packed cells per  $\mu l$  are the following:  $6.54 \times 10^6$ eel-- $1.20 \times 10^{6}$ frog-- $1.37 \times 10^7$ rabbit-- $2.00 \times 10^{7}_{-}$ cat-- $1.15 \times 10^7$ man--- $1.93 \times 10^7$ 

If ATP hydrolysis is reported for the frog (438) as 37 nmol/ml cells.min, then

rat--

37 X 10 <sup>-9</sup> moles	6.02 X 10 <sup>2</sup> _ X	<sup>23</sup> molec	ules X	
ml cells•min		mole		
1 m1 X 1000 µ1	l μl 1.2 x 10 <sup>6</sup> packed cells	=	1.86 x 10 <sup>7</sup> molecules/cell	min

ATP hydrolysis calculations using original research data was as follows:

lst Assay 2nd Assay  $6.02 \times 10^{23} (u1)$ molecules 1 moles moles l liter v Hydrolysis x х х Х Rate 10<sup>6</sup>u1 liter liter mole Ν min cells molecules/cell·min

> where assays measure moles/liter of ATP, V= volume of test sample, N= number of cells in test sample with volume V.

















APPENDIX III



# APPENDIX IV

Program to Calculate ATP Fluxes 10: "A": PAUSE "ATP FLUX" 11:N=6 Input Data: 1) first assay 20:DATA 28.3E-9,49.9E-9 2) second assay ,0,72,0,99400 21: DATA 3) third assay 40:DIM T(N) 4) minutes between 1) & 2) 50:FOR R=1 TO N 5) minutes between 2) & 3) 60:READ T(R) 6) total cells in 200  $\mu$ l 70:NEXT R 80:D=T(1)\*0.0002 W= first assay in M/cell 90:E=T(2)\*0.0002 Y= second assay in M/cell 99: IF T(3)=0 THEN GOTO Z= third assay in M/cell 110 100:F=T(3)\*0.0002 G= first flux in molecules/cell.min 110:G=(E-D)\*6.02E23/(T(4 I= first flux in molecules/cm<sup>2</sup>.sec )\*T(6)) J= first flux in moles/ $cm^2 \cdot sec$ 120: IF G<0 THEN LET G=0 129:IF T(5)=0 THEN GOTO H= second flux in molecules/cell.min 150 130:H=(F-E)\*6.02E23/(T(5 K= second flux in molecules/cm<sup>2</sup>·sec )\*T(6)) L= second flux in moles/ $cm^2 \cdot sec$ 140: IF HO THEN LET H=0 150:I=G\*1E8/(422\*60) 160:IF I<0 THEN LET I=0 170:J=(E-D)\*1E8/(T(4)\*T( 6)\*422\*60) 180: IF J<0 THEN LET J=0 189: IF H=0 THEN GOTO 222 190:K=H\*1E8/(422\*60) 200: IF KK0 THEN LET K=0 209:IF T(5)=0 THEN GOTO 220 210:L=(F-F)\*158/(T(5)\*T( 6)\*42?\*60) 220: TE LKA THEN LET LEG 222:W=T(1)/T(6) 223:Y=T(2)/T(6) 224: IF H=0 THEN GOTO 228 225:Z=T(3)/T(6) 228:USING "111.111^" 229:PRINT = LPRINT 230:PRINT "W= ":W 240:PRINT "Y= ":Y 250: PPINT 77= "17 260: PPINT "G= "16 270:PRINT "!= "!! CRA:PRINT "I= "IT 290:PRINT "H= ":H 300:PPINT "\*= ":K 310:PRINT "L= ":L 320:END









# APPENDIX V

Rate of ATP Hydrolysis by Frog Myocardium

6.	$.02 \times 10^{23}$	Wet Weight
Rate= moles x mo	$\frac{\text{olecules}}{\text{mole}} \times \frac{\text{ml}}{\text{min}} \times \frac{1000 \text{ mg}}{1 \text{ gm}}$	$x \frac{1 \text{ liter}}{1000 \text{ ml}} x \frac{1}{\text{Wt}}$

molecules/gm·min









#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aberer, W., Kostron, H., Huber, E. and Winkler, H. A characterization of the nucleotide uptake by chromaffin granules of bovine adrenal medulla. Biochem. J. 172: 353-360, 1978.
- Abood, L.G., Koketsu, K., Miyamoto, S. Outflow of various phosphates during membrane depolarization of excitable tissues. Am. J. Physiol. 202:469-474, 1962.
- 3. Adanki, S. Sotos, J.F. and Rearick, P.D. Rapid determination of picomole quantities of ATP with a liquid scintillation counter. Anal. Biochem. 14:261-264, 1966.
- Afonso, S. Inhibition of coronary vasodilating action of dipyridomole and adenosine by aminophylline in the dog. Circ. Res. 25:743-752, 1970.
- Afonso, S., Ansfield, T.J., Berndt, T.B. and Rowe, G.C. Coronary vasodilator response to hypoxia before and after aminophylline. J. Physiol. 221:589-599, 1972.
- Afonso, S. and O'Brien, G.S. Inhibition of cardiovascular metabolic and haemodynamic effects of adenosine by aminophylline. Am. J. Physiol. 219:1672-1674, 1970.

- Aiton, J.F. and Lamb, J.F. The transient effect of ATP on K movements in HeLa cells. J. Physiol. 248:14P-15P, 1975.
- Akasu, T., Hirai, K. and Koketsu, K. Modulatory actions of ATP on membrane potentials of bullfrog sympathetic ganglion cell. Brain Res. 258:313-317, 1983.
- 9. Albaum, H.G., Cayle, T. and Shapiro, A. Blood levels of adenine nucleotides. J. Clin. Invest. 30:525-530, 1951
- Aledort, L.M., Wee, R.I., and Troup, S.B. Ionic effects on firefly biolumninescence assay of red blood cell ATP. Anal. Biochem. 17:268-277, 1966.
- Al-Humayyd, M. and White, T.D. Adrenergic and possible nonadrenergic sources of adenosine 5'-triphosphate release from nerve varicosities isolated from ileal myenteric plexus. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 233:796-800, 1985.
- Altman, P.L. and Dittmer, D.S. <u>Biology Data Book</u>. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, Washington, D.C. 1964.









- 13. Andersson, K.E. and Edman, K.A.P. Effects of lanthanum on the coupling between membrane excitation and contraction of isolated frog muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 90:113-123. 1974.
- 14. Andersen, P. and Saltin, B. Maximal perfusion of skeletal muscle in man. J. Physiol. 366:233-249, 1985.
- 15. Andrew, W. Comparative Hematology. New York: Grune & Stratton. 1965.
- 16. Aquila, H. Eiermann, W., Babel, W. and Klingenberg, M. Isolation of the ADP/ATP translocator from beef heart mitochondria as the bongkrekate-protein complex. Eur. J. Biochem. 85:549-560, 1978.
- 17. Axelsson, J. and Holmberg, B. The effects of extracellularly applied ATP and related compounds on electrical and mechanical activity of the smooth muscle taenia coli from the guinea-pig. Acta Physiol. Scand. 75:149-156, 1969.
- 18. Baer, H.-P. and Drummond, G.I. Catabolism of adenine nucleotides by the isolated perfused rat heart. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 127:33-36, 1968.

- 19. Baer, H.-P. Drummond, G.I., and Duncan, E.L. Formation and deamination of adenosine by cardiac muscle enzymes. Mol. Pharmacol. 2:67-76, 1966.
- 20. Banerjee, R.K. Ecto-ATPase. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 37:91-99, 1981.
- Barcroft, J. and Dixon, W.E. The gaseous metabolism of the 21. mammalian heart. Part 1. J. Physiol. 35:182-204, 1907.
- Bartfai, T. Presynaptic aspects of the coexistence of 22. classical neurotransmitters and peptides. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 6:331-334, 1985.
- Bartlett, G.R. Phosphate compounds in vertebrate red blood 23. cells. Amer. Zool. 20:103-114, 1980.
- 24. Bartlett, G.R. Phosphate compounds in red cells of reptiles, amphibians and fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 55A:211-214, 1976.
- Beckett, E.B. and Bourne, G.B. 5'-nucleotidase in normal and 25. diseased human skeletal muscle. J. Neuropath. Exp. Neurol. 17:199-204, 1958.



- Benesch, R., Benesch, R.E. and Yu, C.I. Reciprocal binding of oxygen and diphosphoglycerate by human hemoglobin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 59:526-532, 1968.
- Berne, R.M. Cardiac nucleotides in hypoxia: Possible role in regulation of coronary blood flow. Am. J. Physiol. 204: 317-322, 1963.
- 29. Berne, R.M. The role of adenosine in the regulation of coronary blood flow. Circ. Res. 47:807-813, 1980.
- Berne, R.M. and Rubio, R. Coronary circulation. In: <u>Handbook</u> of Physiology, The Cardiovascular System, Vol. I, The <u>Heart</u>. Bethesda: Am. Physiol. Soc. pp. 873-952, 1979.
- 31. Bernstein, H.-G., Wieb, J. and Luppa, H. Cytochemical investigations on the localization of 5'-nucleotidase in the rat hippocampus with special reference to synaptic regions. Histochemistry 55:261-267, 1978.
- 32. Berridge, M.L. A novel cellular signaling system based on the integration of phospholipid and calcium metabolism. In: <u>Calcium and Cell Function, Vol. III</u>, W.Y. Cheung, ed. New York: Academic Press. pp. 1-36, 1982.
- 33. Berridge, M.L. The molecular basis of communication within the cell. Sci. Amer. 253:142-152, 1985.

- 34. Berridge, M.L. Calcium-mobilizing receptors. Membrane phosphoinositides and signal transduction. In: <u>Calcium in</u> <u>Biological Systems</u>, R.P. Rubin, G.B. Weiss, and J.W. Putney, Jr., eds. New York: Plenum Press. pp. 37-44, 1985.
- 35. Beutler, E. <u>Red Cell Metabolism. A Manual of Biochemical</u> <u>Methods, 2nd Ed. New York: Grune & Stratton. pp. 104-106,</u> 1975.
- Beutler, E. and Baluda, M.C. Simplified determination of blood adenosine triphosphate using the firefly system. Blood 23:688-698, 1964.
- 37. Beutler, E. and Duron, O. The preservation of red cell ATP: The effect of phosphate. Transfusion 6:124-129, 1966.



- 39. Bishop, C., Rankine, D.M. and Talbott, J.H. The nucleotides in normal human blood. J. Biol. Chem. 234:1233-1237, 1959.
- Bleehan, T. 1978. The effects of adenine nucleotides on cutaneous afferent nerve activity. Br. J. Pharmacol. 62: 573-577.
- Block, M.R. and Vignais, P.V. Substrate-site interactions in the membrane-bound adenine-nucleotide carrier as disclosed by ADP and ATP analogs. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 767:369-376, 1984.
- 42. Bockman, E.L., Berne, R.M., and Rubio, R. Release of adenosine and lack of release of ATP from contracting skeletal muscle. Pflügers Arch. 355:229-241, 1975.
- 43. Bockman, E.L., Berne, R.M. and Rubio, R. Adenosine and active hyperemia in dog skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 230: 1531-1537, 1976.
- 44. Born, G.V.R. and Kratzer, M.A.A. Source and concentration of extracellular adenosine triphosphate during haemostasis in rats, rabbits and man. J. Physiol. 354:419-429, 1984.
- Boulieu, R., Bory, D. and Gonnet, C. Liquid-chromatographic measurement of purine nucleotides in blood cells. Clin. Chem. 31:727-731, 1985.
- Boyd, I.A. and Forrester, T. The release of adenosine triphosphate from frog skeletal muscle <u>in vitro</u>. J. Physiol. 199:115-135, 1968.
- Braunwald, E. Mechanism of action of calcium-channel-blocking agents. New Engl. J. Med. 307:1618-1627, 1982.

- 48. Brewer, G.J. Clinical implications of studies of erythrocytes with "elevated erythrocytic ATP." Ann. Int. Med. 63:912, 1965. (abstr)
- 49. Brewer, G.J. Genetic and population studies of quantitative levels of adenosine triphosphate in human erythrocytes. Biochem. Genet. 1:25-34, 1967.







- 50. Brewer, G.J. Adenosine triphosphate. In: <u>Biochemical Methods</u> <u>in Red Cell Genetics</u>, J.J. Yunis, ed. New York: Academic Press. pp. 201-230, 1969.
- 51. Brewer, G.J. and Powell, R.D. The adenosine triphosphate content of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase-deficient and normal erythrocytes, including studies of a glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase-deficient man with "elevated erythrocytic ATP." J. Lab. Clin. Med. 67:726-741, 1966.
- 52. Brown, P.R., Agarwal, R.P., Gell, J. and Parks, Jr., R.E. Nucleotide metabolism in the whole blood of various vertebrates: Enzyme levels and the use of high pressure liquid chromatography for the determination of nucleotide patterns. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 43B:891-904, 1972.
- 53. Brown, D., Burnstock, G. and Cocks, T. Effects of adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) and  $\beta,\gamma$ -methylene ATP on the rat urinary bladder. Br. J. Pharmacol. 65:97-102, 1979.
- 54. Brunston, L.L. and Mayer, S.E. Extrusion of cyclic AMP from pidgeon erythrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 254:9714-9720, 1979.
- 55. Buchthal, F., Deutch, A. and Knappeis, G.G. Release of contraction and changes in birefringence caused by adenosine triphosphate in isolated cross-striated muscle fibres. Acta Physiol. Scand. 8:271-287, 1944.
- 56. Bünger, R., Haddy, F.J. and Gerlach, E. Coronary responses to dilating substances and competitive inhibition by theophylline in the isolated perfused guinea pig heart. Pflügers Arch. 358:213-224, 1975.
- 57. Burnstock, G. Purinergic nerves. Pharmcol. Rev. 24:509-581, 1972.
- Burnstock, G. A basis for distinguishing two types of purinergic receptor. In: <u>Cell Membrane Receptors for Drugs</u> and Hormones: A Multidisciplinary Approach, R.W. Straub and L. Bolis, eds. New York: Raven Press. pp. 107-118, 1978.
- 59. Burnstock, G. Cholinergic and purinergic regulation of blood vessels. In: <u>The Cardiovascular System, Vol. II: Vascular</u> <u>Smooth Muscle</u>, D.F. Bohr, A.P. Somlyo, H.W. Sparks and S.R. Geiger, eds. Bethesda: Am. Physiol. Soc. pp. 567-612, 1980.





- 60. Burnstock, G. Neurotransmitters and trophic factors in the autonomic nervous system. J. Physiol. 313:1-35, 1981.
- Burnstock, G. A comparison of receptors for adenosine and adenine nucleotides. In: <u>Regulatory Function of Adenosine</u>, R.M. Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. pp. 49-62, 1983.
- Burnstock, G. Neurohumoral control of blood vessels: Some future directions. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 7 (Suppl. 3): S137-S146, 1985.
- 63. Burnstock, G., Cusack, N.J., Hills, J.M., MacKenzie, J. and Meghji, P. Studies on the stereoselectivity of the P<sub>2</sub>-purinoceptor. Br. J. Pharmacol. 79:907-913, 1983.
- 64. Burnstock, G. and Kennedy, C. Is there a basis for distinguishing two types of P<sub>2</sub>-purinoceptor? Gen. Pharmac. 16:433-440, 1985.
- Busse, R., Trogisch, G. and Bassenge, E. The role of endothelium in the contol of vascular tone. Basic Res. Cardiol. 80:475-490, 1985.
- 66. Cabantchik, I.Z., Balshin, M., Breuer, W. and Rothstein, A. Pyridoxal phosphate. An anionic probe for protein amino groups exposed on the outer and inner surfaces of intact human red blood cells. J. Biol. Chem. 250:5130-5136, 1975.
- 67. Campbell, A.K. <u>Intracellular Calcium. Its Universal Role as</u> <u>Regulator</u>. New York: John Wiley & Sons Ltd. pp. 257-304, 1983.
- Campbell, A.K., Hallett, M.B. and Weeks, I. Chemiluminescence as an analytical tool in cell biology and medicine. Meth. Biochem. Anal. 31:317-416, 1985.
- 69. Carafoli, E. and Penniston, J.T. The calcium signal. Sci. Amer. 253:70-78, 1985.
- 70. Carraway, K.L., Fogle, D.O., Chesnut, R.W., Huggins, J.W. and Carraway, C.A.C. Ecto-enzymes of mammary gland and its tumors. J. Biol. Chem. 251:6173-6178, 1976.

シント・シストロークステキアの一日、システムシントンは一部でいたたたたので







- Casteels, R. and Droogmans, G. Role of  $Ca^{2+}$  in and effect 71. of  $Ca^{2+}$  entry blockers on excitation-contraction and excitation-contraction coupling. In: Calcium in Biological Systems, R.P. Rubin, G.B. Weiss, and J.W. Putney, Jr., eds. New York: Plenum Press. pp.453-457, 1985.
- 72. Ceccarelli, B. and Hurlbut, W.P. Vesicle hypothesis of the release of quanta of acetylcholine. Physiol. Rev. 60: 396-441, 1980.
- Chakravarty, N. and Echetebu, Z. Plasma membrane adenosine 73. triphosphatases in the rat peritoneal mast cells and macrophages -- the relation of the mast cell enzyme to histamine release. Biochem. Pharmacol. 27:1561-1569, 1978.
- 74. Chambers, D.A., Salzman, E.W. and Neri, L.L. Characterization of "ecto-ATPase" of human blood platelets. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 119:173-178, 1967.
- Chang, K.-J. and Cuatrecasas, P. Adenosine 75. triphosphate-dependent inhibition of insulin-stimulated glucose transport in fat cells. J. Biol. Chem. 249: 3170-3180, 1974.
- Chanutin, A. and Churnish, R.R. Effect of organic and 76. inorganic phosphates on the oxygen equilibrium of human erythrocytes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 121:96-102, 1967.
- 77. Charest, R., Blackmore, P.F. and Exton, J.H. Characterization of responses of isolated rat hepatocytes to ATP and ADP. J. Biol. Chem. 260:15789-15794, 1985.
- 78. Charest, R., Prpić, V., Exton, J.H. and Blackmore, P.F. Stimulation of inositol triphosphate formation in hepatocytes by vasopressin, adrenalin and angiotensin II and its relationship to changes in cytosolic free  $Ca^{2+}$ . Biochem. J. 227:79-90, 1985.
- 79. Chaudry, I.H. Does ATP cross the cell plasma membrane? Yale J. Biol. Med. 55:1-10, 1982.

● ためのため、「「「「「「「」」のためので、「「」であるのである」」である。

Chaudry, I.H. and Clemens, M.G. Dissociation between ATP and 80. adenosine uptake by hepatocytes. Fed. Proc. 41:1156, 1982. (abstr)







- Cho, A.K. and Takimoto, G.S. Irreversible inhibitors of adrenergic nerve terminal function. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 6:443-447, 1985.
- 82. Clemens, M.G. and Forrester, T. Appearance of adenosine triphosphate in the coronary sinus effluent from isolated working rat heart in response to hypoxia. J. Physiol. 312: 143-158, 1981.
- Cockcroft, S. and Gomperts, B.D. Activation and inhibition of calcium-dependent histamine secretion by ATP ions applied to rat mast cells. J. Physiol. 296:229-243, 1979.
- Cockcroft, S. and Gomperts, B.D. ATP induces nucleotide permeability in rat mast cells. Nature 279:541-542, 1979.
- 85. Cockcroft, S. and Gomperts, B.D. The ATP<sup>4-</sup> receptor of rat mast cells. Biochem. J. 188:789-798, 1979.

- Cocks, T.M. and Angus, J.A. Endothelium-dependent modulation of blood vessel reactivity. In: <u>The Peripheral Circulation</u>, S. Hunyor, J. Ludbrook, J. Shaw, and M. McGrath, eds. Amsterdam: Elsevier. pp. 9-21, 1984.
- 87. Cocks, T. and Burnstock, G. Effects of neuronal polypeptides on intestinal smooth muscle: a comparison with nonadrenergic, noncholinergic nerve stimulation and ATP. Eur. J. Pharmcol. 54:251-259, 1979.
- Cocks, T., Crowe, R. and Burnstock, G. Non-adrenergic, non-cholinergic (purinergic?) inhibitory innervation of the rabbit rectococcygeus muscle. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 54: 261-271, 1979.
- Cohen, L.B., Hille, B. and Keynes, R.D. Changes in axon birefringence during the action potential. J. Physiol. 211: 495-515, 1970.
- 90. Cohen, R.A., Shepherd, J.T. and Vanhoutte, P.M. Inhibitory role of the endothelium in the response of isolated coronary arteries to platelets. Science 221:273-274, 1983.
- 91. Cooper, D.R., Lewis, G.P., Lieberman, G.E., Webb, H. and Westwick, J. ADP metabolism in vascular tissue, a possible thrombo-regulatory mechanism. Thromb. Res. 14:901-914, 1979.



- 92. Cooper, P.H. and Stanworth, D.R. Characterization of calcium-ion-activated adenosine triphosphatase in the plasma membrane. Biochem. J. 156:691-700, 1976.
- 93. Corcondilas, A., Koroxenidis, G.T. and Shepherd, J.T. Effect of a brief contraction of forearm muscles on forearm blood flow. J. Appl. Physiol. 19:142-146, 1964.
- 94. Crescentini, G. and Stocchi, V. Fast reversed-phase highperformance liquid chromatographic determination of nucleotides in red blood cells. J. Chromatography 290:393-399, 1984.
- 95. Crystal, G.J., Downey, H.F. and Bashour, F.A. Persistent coronary vasodilation during long-term, supramaximal doses of adenosine. Am. J. Physiol. 247:H869-H873, 1984.
- 96. Cummins, J. and Hydén, H. Adenosine triphosphate levels and adenosine triphosphatase in neurons, glia and neuronal membranes of the vestibular nucleus. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 60:271-283, 1962.
- 97. Cunningham, B. and Lowenstein, J.M. Regulation of adenylate deaminase by adenosine triphosphate. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 96:535-537, 1965.
- 98. Dagirmanjian, J.P., Chideckel, E.W. and Fedan, J.S. The P<sub>2</sub>-purinergic receptor in the guinea-pig vas deferens is an ATP<sup>4-</sup> receptor. Fed. Proc. 45:208, 1986. (abstr)

- 99. Dahlen, S.E. and Hedqvist, P. ATP,  $\beta,\gamma$ -methylene ATP and adenosine inhibit non-cholinergic, non-adrenergic transmission in rat urinary bladder. Acta Physiol. Scand. 109:137-142, 1980.
- 100. Dahlquist, R., Diamant, B. and Kruger, P.G. Increased permeability of the rat mast cell membrane to sodium and potassium caused by extracellular ATP and its relationship to histamine release. Int. Arch. Allergy 46:655-675, 1974.
- 101. Daly, J.W. Adenosine receptors. In: <u>Advances in Cyclic</u> <u>Nucleotide and Protein Phosphorylation Research, Vol. 19</u>, D.M.F. Cooper and K.B. Seamon, eds. New York: Raven Press pp. 29-46, 1985.











- 102. Daval, J.L., Barberis, C. and Gayet, J. Release of [<sup>14</sup>C]adenosine derivatives from superfused synaptosome preparations. Effects of depolarizing agents and metabolic inhibitors. Brain Res. 181:161-174, 1980.
- Davies, H.G. Structure in nucleated erythrocytes. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 9:671-687, 1961.
- 104. Davies, L.P. Parmacological studies on adenosine analogues isolated from marine organisms. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 6: 143-146, 1985.
- 105. Davoren, P.R. and Sutherland, E.W. The effect of L-epinephrine and other agents on the synthesis and release of adenosine 3',5'-phosphate by whole pigeon erythrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 238:3009-3015, 1963.
- 106. Davson, H. and Segal, M.B. Introduction to Physiology, Vol. I. London: Academic Press. p. 92, 1975.
- 107. De Feudis, F.V. Studies on endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation. Gen. Pharmacol. 17:1-4, 1986.

- 108. De Korte, D., Haverkort, W.A., van Gennip, A.H. and Roos, D. Nucleotide profiles of normal human blood cells determined by high-performance liquid chromatography. Anal. Biochem. 147:197-209, 1985.
- 109. Delay, J. and Deniker, P. Drug-induced extrapyramidal syndromes. In: <u>Handbook of Clinical Neurology, Vol. 6,</u> <u>Disease of the Basal Ganglia</u>, P.J. Vinken and G.W. Bruyn, eds Amsterdam: North Holland. pp. 248-266, 1968.
- 110. De Mey, J.G., Claeys, M. and Vanhoutte, P.M. Endotheliumdependent inhibitory effects of acetylcholine, adenosine triphosphate, thrombin and arachidonic acid in the canine femoral artery. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 222:166-173, 1982.
- 111. De Mey, J.G. and Vanhoutte, P.M. Role of the intima in cholinergic and purinergic relaxation of isolated canine femoral arteries. J. Physiol. 316:347-355, 1981.
- 112. De Mey, J.G. and Vanhoutte, P.M. Heterogeneous behavior of the canine arterial and venous wall: importance of the endothelium. Circ. Res. 51:439-447, 1982.
- 113. DePierre, J.W. and Karnovsky, M.L. Ecto-enzymes of the guinea pig polymorphonuclear leukocyte. J. Biol. Chem. 249:7111-7120, 1974.











- 114. Diem, K., ed. <u>Documenta Geigy Scientific Tables</u>, 6th <u>Edition</u>. Ardsley, New York: Geigy Pharmaceuticals. p. 516, 1962.
- 115. Dieterle, Y., Ody, C., Ehrensberger, A., Stalder, H. and Junod, A.F. Metabolism and uptake of adenosine triphosphate and adenosine by porcine aortic and pulmonary endothelial cells and fibroblasts in culture. Circ. Res. 42:869-876, 1978.
- 116. Dobson, J.G., Rubio, R. and Berne, R.M. Role of adenine nucleotides, adenosine, and inorganic phosphate in the regulation of skeletal muscle blood low. Circ Res. 29:375-384, 1971.

- 117. Dodd, J., Jahr, C.E., Hamilton, P.N., Heath, M.J., Matthew, W.P., and Jessell, T.M. Cytochemical and physiological properties of sensory and dorsal horn neurons that transmit cutaneous sensation. Cold Spg. Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 48:685-695, 1983.
- 118. Dornand, J., Bonnafous, J.-C., Gavach, C. and Mani, J.-C. 5'-nucleotidase-facilitated adenosine transport by mouse lymphocytes. Biochimie 61:973-977, 1979.
- 119. Dornand, J., Bonnafous, J.-C., and Mani, J.-C. 5'-nucleotidase-adenylate cyclase relationships in mouse thymocytes. FEBS Lett. 110:30-34, 1980.
- 120. Dosne, A.M., Legrand, C., Bauvois, B., Bodevin, E. and Caen, J.P. Comparative degradation of adenylnucleotides by cultured endothelial cells and fibroblasts. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 85:183-189, 1978.
- 121. Douglas, W.W. and Poisner, A.M. Evidence that the secreting adrenal chromaffin cell releases catecholamines directly from ATP-rich granules. J. Physiol. 183:236-248, 1966.
- 122. Douglas, W.W. and Poisner, A.M. On the relation between ATP splitting and secretion in the adrenal chromaffin cell: extrusion of ATP (unhydrolysed) during release of catecholamine. J. Physiol. 183:249-256, 1966.









- 123. Downes, C.P. Inositol phospholipids and neurotransmitterreceptor signalling mechanisms. Trends Neurol. Sci. 6:313-316, 1983.
- 124. Doyle, T.B. and Forrester, T. Appearance of adenosine triphosphate in the perfusate from the working frog heart. Pflügers Arch. 405:80-82, 1985.
- 125. Drummond, A.G. and MacIntyre, D.E. Protein kinase C as a bidirectional regulator of cell function. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 6:233-234, 1985.
- 126. Duff, F., Patterson, G.C. and Shepherd, J.T. A quantitative study of the response to adenosine triphosphate of the blood vessels of the human hand and forearm. J. Physiol. 125:581-589, 1954.

economic consister and added to be added

- 127. Dumaswala, U.J. and Greenwalt, T.J. Human erythrocytes shed exocytic vesicles in vivo. Transfusion 24:490-492, 1984.
- 128. Dunkley, C.R., Manery, J.F. and Dryden, E.E. The conversion of ATP to IMP by muscle surface enzymes. J. Cell. Physiol. 68:241-247, 1966.
- 129. Durbin, R.P. and Kircher, A.B. Hydrolysis of exogenous ATP by isolated frog gastric mucosa. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 413:298-308, 1975.
- 130. Eaton, J.W., Brewer, G.J., Schultz, J.S. and Sing, C.F. Variation in 2,3-diphosphoglycerate and ATP levels in human erythrocytes and effects on oxygen transport. In: <u>Red Cell</u> <u>Metabolism and Function</u>, G.J. Brewer, ed. New York: Plenum Press. pp. 21-38, 1970.
- 131. Ehrlich, B.E., Schen, C.R., Garcia, M.L. and Kaczorowski, G.J. Incorporation of calcium channels from cardiac sarcolemmal membrane vesicles into planar lipid bilayers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83:193-197, 1986.
- Emmelin, N. and Feldberg, W. Systemic effects of adenosine triphosphate. Br. J. Pharmacol. 3:273-284, 1948.
- 133. Erdelt, H., Weideman, M.J., Buchholz, M. and Klingenberg, M. Some principle effects of bongkrekic acid on the binding of adenine nucleotides to mitochondrial membranes. Eur. J. Biochem. 30:107-122, 1972.





- 134. Ewald, D.A. Potentiation of postjunctional cholinergic sensitivity of rat diaphragm muscle by high-energy-phosphate adenine nucleotides. J. Memb. Biol. 29:47-65, 1976.
- 135. Fabiato, A. Calcium-induced release of calcium from the cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum. Am. J. Physiol. 245:Cl-Cl4, 1983.
- 136. Fabiato, A. and Fabiato, F. Calcium-induced release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum of skinned cells from adult human, dog, cat, rabbit, rat, and frog hearts and from fetal and new-born rat ventricles. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 307:491-522, 1978.
- 137. Farmer, S.G. Noradrenaline and ATP--cotransmitters? Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 6:10-11, 1985.

- 138. Fedan, J.S., Hogaboom, G.K. and O'Donnell, J.P. Comparison of the effects of apamin, a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent K<sup>+</sup> channel blocker, and arylazido aminopropionyl ATP (ANAPP<sub>3</sub>), a P<sub>2</sub>-purinergic receptor antagonist, in the guinea-pig vas deferens. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 104:327-334, 1984.
- 139. Fleit, H., Conklyn, M., Stebbins, R.D. and Silber, R. Function of 5'-nucleotidase in the uptake of adenosine from AMP by human lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 250:8889-8892, 1975.
- 140. Flitney, F.W. and Singh, J. Inotropic responses of the frog ventricle to adenosine triphosphate and related changes in endogenous cyclic nucleotides. J. Physiol. 304:21-42, 1980.
- 141. Folkow, B. The vasodilator action of adenosine triphosphate. Acta Physiol. Scand. 17:311-316, 1949.
- 142. Forrester, T. Release of adenosine triphosphate from active skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 186:107P-109P, 1966. (abstr)
- 143. Forrester, T. The identification of adenosine triphosphate in fresh human plasma. J. Physiol. 200:53P-54P, 1969. (abstr)
- 144. Forrester, T. An estimate of adenosine triphosphate release into the venous effluent from exercising human forearm muscle. J. Physiol. 224: 611-628, 1972.



- 146. Forrester, T. Local metabolic influences on the microvasculature in cardiac and skeletal muscle. In: <u>Progress in Microcirculation Research II</u>, F.C. Courtrice, D.G. Garlich and M.A. Perry, eds. Sydney: Comm. Postgrad. Med. Educ., Univ. New South Wales. pp. 315-327, 1984.
- 147. Forrester, T. and Hamilton, I.J.D. Functional hyperemia in soleus muscle of the cat. J. Physiol. 249:20P-21P, 1975. (abstr)
- 148. Forrester, T., Harper, A.M., MacKenzie, E.T., and Thomson, E.M. Effect of adenosine triphosphate and some derivatives on cerebral blood flow and metabolism. J. Physiol. 296:343-355, 1979.
- 149. Forrester, T. and Hassan, M.O. Appearance of adenosine triphosphate in the perfusate from active frog skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 232:86P-88P, 1973. (abstr)
- 150. Forrester, T. and Lind, A.R. Identification of adenosine triphosphate in human plasma and the concentration in the venous effluent of forearm muscles before, during and after sustained contractions. J. Physiol. 204:347-364, 1969.
- 151. Forrester, T. and Williams, C.A. Release of adenosine triphosphate from isolated adult heart cells in response to hypoxia. J. Physiol. 268: 371-390, 1977.
- 152. Fredholm, B.B. and Hedqvist, P. Modulation of neurotransmission by purine nucleotides and nucleosides. Biochem. Pharmacol. 29:1635-1643, 1980.
- 153. French, A.M. and Scott, N.C. Evidence to support the hypothesis that ATP is a cotransmitter in rat vas deferens. Experientia 39:264-266, 1983.
- 154. Frick, G.P. and Lowenstein, J.M. Vectorial production of adenosine by 5'-nucleotidase in the perfused rat heart. J. Biol. Chem. 253:1240-1244, 1978.
- 155. Furchgott, R.F. Metabolic factors that influence contractility of vascular smooth muscle. Bull. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 42:996-1006, 1966.









- 156. Furchgott, R.F. Role of endothelium in responses of vascular smooth muscle. Circ. Res. 53:557-573, 1983.
- 157. Furchgott, R.F. The role of endothelium in the responses of vascular smooth muscle to drugs. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 24:175-197, 1984.
- 158. Furchgott, R.F. and Zawadzki, J.V. Acetylcholine relaxes arterial smooth muscle by releasing a relaxing substance from endothelial cells. Fed. Proc. 39:581, 1980. (abstr)
- 159. Furchgott, R.F. and Zawadzki, J.V. ATP relaxes rabbit aortic smooth muscle by both an indirect action via endothelial cells and a direct action. Pharmacologist 22:271, 1980. (abstr)
- 160. Furchgott, R.F. and Zawadzki, J.V. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the ralaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature 288:373-376, 1980.
- 161. Furchgott, R.F., Jothianandan, D. and Cherry, P.D. Endothelium-dependent responses: The last three years. In: <u>Vasodilator Mechanisms</u>, P.M. Vanhoutte and S.F. Vatner, eds. Basel: S. Karger. pp. 1-15, 1984.
- 162. Furchgott, R.F., Zawadzki, J.V. and Cherry, P.D. Role of the endothelium in the vasodilator response to acetylcholine. In: <u>Vasodilatation</u>, P.M. Vanhoutte and I. Leusen, eds. New York: Raven Press. pp. 49-66, 1981.

ACCESS TRANSMENTS STATEMENTS AND TANKIN ACCESS AND ACCESS AND ACCESS AND ACCESS AND ACCESS AND ACCESS AND ACCESS

- 163. Fyffe, R.E. and Perl, E.R. Is ATP a central synaptic mediator for certain primary afferent fibers from mammalian skin? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:6890-6893, 1984.
- 164. Gerisch, G. and Malchow, D. Cyclic AMP receptors and control of cell aggregation in <u>Dictyostelium</u>. Adv. Cyclic Nucleotide Res. 7:49-68, 1976.
- 165. Gerlach, E., Nees, S. and Becker, B.F. The vascular endothelium: a survey of some newly evolving biochemical and physiological features. Basic Res. Cardiol. 80:459-474, 1985.
- 166. Giles, R.W. and Wilcken, D.E.L. Reactive hyperaemia in the dog heart: Inter-relations between adenosine, ATP, and aminophylline and the effect of indomethacin. Cardiovasc. Res. 11:113-121, 1977.



- 225
- 167. Gill, D.L. Receptors coupled to calcium mobilization. Adv. Cyc. Nucleotide Prot. Phos. Res. 19:307-324, 1985.
- 168. Gillet, M.P.T., Lima, V.L.M., Costa, E.M. and Carvalho, V.C.O. Lipid composition of erythrocytes from reptiles and amphibians. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 66A:359-361, 1980.
- 169. Glynn, I.M. Membrane adenosine triphosphatase and cation transport. Brit. Med. Bull. 24:165-169, 1968.
- 170. Godin, D.V., Bridges, M.A. and MaCleod, P.J.M. Chemical compositional studies of erythrocyte membranes in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Res. Comm. Chem. Path. Parmacol. 20:331-349, 1978.
- 171. Gordon, J.L. Extracellular ATP: Effects, sources and fate. Biochem. J. 233:309-319, 1986.
- 172. Gordon, J.L. and Martin, W. Endothelium-dependent relaxation of the pig aorta: relationship to stimulation of <sup>86</sup>Rb efflux from isolated endothelial cells. Br. J. Pharmacol. 79:531-541, 1983.
- 173. Gough, G.R., Maguire, M.H. and Satchell, D.G. Three new adenosine-triphosphate analogs. Synthesis and effects on isolated gut. J. Med. Chem. 16:1188-1190, 1973.
- 174. Greaney, G.S., Place, A.R., Cushon, R.E., Smith, G. and Powers, D.A. Time course of changes in enzymatic activities and blood respiratory properties of Killifish during long-term acclimation. Physiol. Zool. 52:136-144, 1980.

- 175. Greaney, G.S. and Powers, D.A. Allosteric modifiers of fish hemoglobins: <u>In vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u> studies of the effect of ambient oxygen and pH on erythrocyte ATP concentrations. J. Exp. Zool. 203:339-350, 1978.
- 176. Greden, J.F., Fontaine, P., Lubetsky, M. and Chamberlin, K. Anxiety and depression associated with caffeinism among psychiatric patients. Am. J. Psychiat. 135:963-966, 1978.
- 177. Green, H.N. and Stoner, H.B. <u>Biological Actions of the</u> <u>Adenine Nucleotides</u>.London: H.K. Lewis & Co. pp. 65-103, 1950.
- 178. Gregerson, M.I. and Schiro, H. The behavior of the dye T-1824 with respect to its absorption by red blood cells and its fate in blood undergoing coagulation. Am J. Physiol. 121:284-292, 1938.





- 179. Griffith, T.D., Edwards, D.H., Lewis, M.J. and Henderson, A.H. Evidence that cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) mediates endothelium-dependent relaxation. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 112:195-202, 1985.
- 180. Griffith, T.M., Edwards, D.H., Lewis, M.J., Newby, A.C. and Henderson, A.H. The nature of endothelium-derived vascular relaxant factor. Nature 308:645-647, 1984.
- 181. Griffith, T.M., Henderson, A.H., Edwards, D.G. and Lewis, M.J. Isolated perfused rabbit coronary artery and aortic strip preparations: The role of endothelium-derived relaxant factor. J. Physiol. 351:13-24, 1984.
- 182. Gross, R.T., Schroeder, E.A.R., and Brounstein, S.A. Energy metabolism in the erythrocytes of premature infants compared to full term newborn infants and adult. Blood 21:755-763, 1963.
- 183. Guyton, A.C. <u>Textbook of Medical Physiology</u>. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Co. p. 234, 1981.
- 184. Habliston, D.L., Ryan, U.S. and Ryan, J.W. Endothelial cells degrade adenosine-5'-diphosphate. J. Cell Biol. 79:206a, 1978. (abstr)

- 185. Haddy, F.J. and Scott, J.B. Effects of flow rate, venous pressure, metabolites and oxygen upon resistance to blood flow through the dog forelimb. Circ. Res. 14: 49, 1964. (abstr)
- 186. Haddy, F.J. and Scott, J.B. Metabolically linked vasoactive chemicals in local regulation of blood flow. Physiol Rev. 48:688-707, 1968.
- 187. Haddy, F.J. and Scott, J.B. Metabolic factors in peripheral circulatory regulation. Fed. Proc. 34:2006-2011, 1975.
- 188. Häggblad, J., Eriksson, H. and Heilbronn, E. ATP-induced cation influx in myotubes is additive to cholinergic agonist action. Acta Physol. Scand. 125:389-393, 1985.
- 189. Haimann, C., Torri-Tarelli, F., Fesce, R. and Cecarelli, B. Measurement of quantal secretion induced by ouabain and its correlation with depletion of synaptic vesicles. J. Cell Biol. 101:1953-1965, 1985.





- 190. Hansen. O. Blood nucleoside and nucleotide studies in mental disease. Brit. J. Psychiat. 121:341-350, 1972.
- 191. Hardebo, J.E. and Edvinsson, L. Adenine compounds: cerebrovascular effects in vitro with reference to their possible involvement in migraine. Stroke 10: 58-61, 1979.
- 192. Harkness, R.A., Coade, S.B. and Webster, A.D.B. ATP, ADP and AMP in plasma from peripheral venous blood. Clin. Chim. Acta 143:91-98, 1984.
- 193. Harris, J.A. Seasonal variation in some hematological characteristics of <u>Rana Pipiens</u>. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 43A:975-989, 1972.
- 194. Hartman, F.A. and Lessler, M.A. Erythrocyte measurements in fishes, amphibia, and reptiles. Biol. Bull. 126:83-88, 1964.
- 195. Hartzell, H.C. Adenosine receptors in frog sinus venosus: slow inhibitory potentials produced by adenine compounds and acetylcholine. J. Physiol. 293:23-49, 1979.
- 196. Harvey, R.B. Effects of adenosinetriphosphate on autoregulation of renal blood flow and glomerular filtration rate. Circ. Res. 14 (Suppl 1):I-178 - I184, 1964.
- 197. Haslam, R.J. and Cusack, N.J. Blood platelet receptor for ADP and for adenosine. In: <u>Purinergic Receptors: Receptors</u> and Recognition, Series B, Vol. 12., G. Burnstock, ed. London: Chapman and Hall. pp. 221-285, 1981.
- 198. Hatae, J. Effects of lanthanum on the electrical and mechanical activities of frog ventricular muscle. Jap. J. Physiol. 32:609-625, 1982.
- 199. Hayes, L.W., Goguen, C.A., Stevens, A.L., Magargel, W.W. and Slakey, L.L. Enzyme activities in endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells from swine aorta. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 76:2532-2535, 1979.
- 200. Hazard, E.S. and Hutchison, V.H. Distribution of acid soluble phosphates in the erythrocytes of selected species of amphibians. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 73A:111-124, 1982.

201. Heasley, L.E., Azari, J. and Brunton, L.L. Export of cyclic AMP from avian red cells. Mol. Parmacol. 27:60-66, 1985.















- 206. Herbert, E. A study of the liberation of orthophosphate from adenosine triphosphate by the stromata of human erythrocytes. J. Cell. Comp. Physiol. 47:11-36, 1956.
- 207. Hess, P., Lansman, J.B., and Tsien, R.W. A novel type of cardiac calcium channel in ventricular cells. Nature 316:443-446, 1985.
- Hester, R.L., Guyton, A.C. and Barber, B.J. Reactive and 208. exercise hyperemia during high levels of adenosine infusion. Am. J. Physiol. 243:H181-H186, 1982.
- 209. Hille, B. Ionic Channels of Excitable Membranes. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Asso. Inc. pp. 76-98, 1984.
- 210. Hirasawa, K. and Nishizuka, Y. Phosphotidylinositol turnover in receptor mechanism and signal transduction. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 25:147-170, 1985.
- 211. Hirst, G.D.S. and Neild, T.O. Evidence for two populations of excitatory receptors for noradrenaline on arteriolar smooth muscle. Nature 283: 767-768, 1980.
- 212. Hodgkin, A.L. and Huxley, A.F. (Currents carried by sodium and potassium ions through the membrane of the giant axon of Loligo. J. Physiol. 116:449-472, 1952.
- 213. Hoffman, J.F. and Laris, P.C. Determination of membrane potentials in human and amphiuma red blood cells by means of a fluorescent probe. J. Physiol. 239:519-552, 1974.

202. Hellewell, P.G. and Pearson, J.D. Metabolism of circulating

203. Hellewell, P.G. and Pearson, J.D. Purinoceptor mediated

vasculature. Br. J. Pharmacol. 83:457-462, 1984.

York: Raven Press. pp. 315-322, 1979.

ATP. J. Memb. Biol. 86: 189-196, 1985.

Henderson, J.F. Regulaton of adenosine metabolism. In: Physiological and Regulatory Functions of Adenosine and Adenine Nucleotides, H.-P. Baer and G.I. Drummond, eds. New

53:1-7, 1983.

204.

adenosine by the porcine isolated perfused lung. Circ. Res.

stimulation of prostacyclin release in the porcine pulmonary







- 214. Hokin, L.E. Receptors and phosphoinositide-generated second messengers. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 54:205-235, 1985.
- 215. Holton, F.A. and Holton, P. The possibility that ATP is a transmitter at sensory nerve endings. J. Physiol. 119:50P-51P, 1953. (abstr)
- 216. Holton, F.A. and Holton, P. The capillary dilator substances in dry powders of spinal roots; A possible role of adenosine triphosphate in chemical transmission from nerve endings. J. Physiol. 126:124-140, 1954.
- 217. Holton, P. The liberation of adenosine triphosphate on antidromic stimulation of sensory nerves. J. Physiol. 145:494-504, 1959.
- 218. Honig, C.R. Mechanisms of circulation metabolism coupling in skeletal muscle. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 75:623-630, 1976.
- 219. Honig, C.R. Hypoxia in skeletal muscle at rest and during the transition to steady work. Microvasc. Res. 13:377-398, 1977.
- 220. Honig, C.R. Contributions of nerves and metabolites to exercise vosodilation: a unifying hypothesis. Am. J. Physiol. 236:H705-H719, 1979.
- 221. Honig, C.R. and Frierson, J.L. Neurons intrinsic to arterioles initiate postcontraction vasodilation. Am. J. Physiol. 230:493-507, 1976.
- 222. Honig, C.R. and Frierson, J.L. Role of adenosine in exercise vosodilation in dog gracilis muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 238:H703-H715, 1980.

- 223. Honig, C.R., Odoroff, C.L. and Frierson, J.L. Capillary recruitment in exercise: rate, extent, uniformity, and relation to blood flow. Am. J. Physiol. 238:H31-H42, 1980.
- 224. Houston, D.S., Shepherd, J.T., and Vanhoutte, P.M. Adenine nucleotides, sorotonin, and endothelium-dependent relaxations to platelets. Am. J. Physiol. 248:H389-H395, 1985.
- 225. Imai, S., Riley, A.L., and Berne, R.M. Effect of ischemia on adenine nucleotides in cardiac and skeletal muscle. Circ. Res. 15:443-450, 1964.



- 226. Israël, M., Dunant, Y. and Manaranche, R. The present status of the vesicular hypothesis. Prog. Neurobiol. 13:237-275, 1979.
- 227. Israël, M., Lesbats, B., Manaranche, R., Meunier, F.M., and Franchon, P. Retrograde inhibition of transmitter release by ATP. J. Neurochem. 34:923-932, 1980.
- 228. Israël, M., Lesbats, B., Meunier, F.M., and Stinnakre, J. Postsynaptic release of adenosine triphosphate induced by single impulse transmitter action. J. Physiol. 193:461-468, 1976.
- 229. Jacob, M.I. and Berne, R.M. Metabolism of purine derivatives by the isolated cat heart. Am. J. Physiol. 198:322-326, 1960.
- 230. Jahr, C.E. and Jessell, T.M. ATP excites a subpopulation of rat dorsal horn neurones. Nature 304:730-733, 1983.
- 231. Janis, R.A. and Scriabine, A. Sites of action of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel inhibitors. Biochem. Pharmacol. 32:3499-3507, 1983.

- 232. Jhamandas, K. and Dumbrille, A. Regional release of [<sup>3</sup>H]adenosine derivatives from rat brain <u>in vivo</u>: effect of excitatory amino acids, opiate agonists, and benzodiazepines. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 58: 1262-1278, 1980.
- 233. Jones, B.M. A unifying hypothesis of cell adhesion. Nature 212: 362-365, 1966.
- 234. Jones, C.E., Hurst, T.W., and Randall, J.R. Effects of aminophylline on coronary functional hyperemia and myocardial adenosine. Am. J. Physiol. 243:H480-H487, 1982.
- 235. Jones. O.W. Genetic mechanisms of metabolism. In: <u>Pathophysiology</u>, E.D. Frohlich, ed. Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott Co. pp. 405-408, 1984.
- 236. Kakei, M., Noma, A. and Shibasaki, T. Properties of adenosine-triphosphate-regulated potassium channels in guinea-pig ventricular cells. J. Physiol. 363:441-462, 1985.
- 237. Karl, D.M. and Holm-Hansen, O. Effects of luciferin concentration on the quantitative assay of ATP using crude luciferase preparations. Anal. Biochem. 75:100-112, 1976.



239. Katori, M. and Berne, R.M. Release of adenosine from anoxic hearts: Relationship of coronary flow. Circ. Res. 19:420-425, 1966.

with manufact weakers hadded the set of

- 240. Katsuragi, T., Furata, K., Harada, R. and Furukawa, T. Cholinergic neuromodulation by ATP, adenosine and its N<sup>6</sup>-substituted analogues in guinea-pig ileum. Clin. Exp. Pharm. Physiol. 12:73-78, 1985.
- 241. Katsuragi, T. and Furukawa, T. Novel, selective purinoceptor antagonists: Investigation of ATP as a neurotransmitter. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 6: 337-329, 1985.
- 242. Katsuragi, T. and Su, C. Purine release from vascular adrenergic nerves by high potassium and a calcium ionophore, A-23187. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 214:685-690, 1980.
- 243. Kennedy, C. and Burnstock, G. ATP produces vasodilation via P<sub>1</sub>-purinoceptors and vasoconstriction via P<sub>2</sub>-purinoceptors in the isolated rabbit central ear artery. Blood Ves. 22:145-155, 1985.
- 244. Kennedy, C. and Burnstock, G. Evidence for two types of P<sub>2</sub>-purinoceptor in the longitudinal muscle of the rabbit portal vein. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 111:49-56, 1985.
- 245. Kennedy, C., Delbro, D. and Burnstock, G. P<sub>2</sub>-purinoceptors mediate both vasodilation (via the endothelium) and vasoconstriction of the isolated rat femoral artery. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 107:161-168, 1985.
- 246. Khayutin, V.M. Determinants of working hyperaemia in skeletal muscle. In: <u>Circulation in Skeletal Muscle</u>, 0. Hudlicka, ed. Oxford: Pergamon Press. pp. 145-157, 1968.
- 247. Kidder, G.W. III. Purine nucleotide entry, exit, and interconversions in bullfrog gastric mucosa. Am. J. Physiol. 224:809-817, 1973.
- 248. Kille, J.M. and Klabunde, R.E. Adenosine as a mediator of postcontraction hyperemia in dog gracilis muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 246:H274-H282, 1984.




- 249. Kikuchi, Y. and Koyama, T. Role of protein adsorption in micropore passability of red blood cells. Jap. J. Physiol. 31:903-915, 1981.
- 250. Kikuchi, Y. and Koyama, T. Red blood cell deformability and protein adsorption on red blood cell surface. Am. J. Physiol. 247:H739-H747, 1984.
- 251. Kimura, J., Noma, A. and Irisawa, H. Na-Ca exchange current in mammalian heart cells. Nature 319:596-597, 1986.
- 252. Kimura, T. and Satoh, S. Inhibitory effect of quinicrine on myocardial reactive hyperemia in the dog. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 232:269-274, 1985.
- 253. Kitagawa, T. and Akamatsu, Y. Reciprocal effects of phenothiazines and naphthalene sulfonamides on the external ATP-dependent permeability change in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 815:25-32, 1985.
- 254. Klingenberg, M. The ADP, ATP shuttle of the mitochondrion. Trends Biochem. Sci. 4:249-252, 1979.
- 255. Klingenberg, M. and Buchholz, M. On the mechanism of bongkrekate effect on the mitochondrial adenine-nucleotide carrier as studied through the binding of ADP. Eur. J. Biochem. 38:346-358, 1973.

- 256. Klingenberg, M., Riccio, P. and Aquila, H. Isolation of the ADP, ATP carrier as the carboxyatractylate protein complex from mitochondria. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 503:193-210, 1978.
- 257. Klitzman, B., Damon, D.M., Gorczynski, R.J. and Duling, B.R. Augmented tissue oxygen supply during striated muscle contraction in the hamster. Circ. Res. 51:711-74, 1982.
- 258. Klitzner, T. and Morad, M. Excitation-contraction coupling in frog ventricle. Pflügers Arch. 398:274-283, 1983.
- 259. Knight, V.A., Jones, B.M. and Jones, P.C.T. Inhibition of the aggregation of dissociated embryo-chick fibroblast cells by adenosine triphosphate. Nature 210:1008-1010, 1966.
- 260. Kolb, H.-A., and Wakelam, M.J.O. Transmitter-like action of ATP on patched membranes of cultured myoblasts and myotubes. Nature 303: 621-623, 1983.



- 261. Kostron, H., Winkler, H., Peer, L.J. and König, P. Uptake of adenosine triphosphate by isolated adrenal chromaffin granules: a carrier-mediated transport. Neurosci. 2:159-166, 1977.
- 262. Krasilnikov, E.N. Phylogenetic laws governing volume of erythrocytes. Bull. Acad. Sci. Georgian SSR 42:743-748. 1963.
- 263. Kratzer, M.A.A. and Born, G.V.R. Free ATP in blood during haemorrhage. Thromb. Haemostas. 46:393, 1981. (abstr)
- 264. Kraynack, B.J., Gintautas, J., DeShan, D. and Hughston, T. Protective effects of AMP containing coenzymes against lethal hypoxic hypoxia. Proc. West. Pharmacol. Soc. 24:299-301, 1981.
- 265. Kraynack, B.J., Gintautas, J. and Hinshaw, J. Adenosine triphosphate increases survival time during hypoxia. Neuropharm. 20:887-890, 1981.

- Kraynack, B.J., Gintautas, J., Kraynack, L.L. and Racz, G.B. 266. Adenosine triphosphate protection of global hypoxia in the mouse. Proc. West. Pharmacol. Soc. 23:295-297, 1980.
- 267. Kreutzberg, G.W., Barron, K.D. and Schubert, P. Cytochemical localization of 5'-nucleotidase in glial plasma membranes. Brain Res. 158:247-257, 1978.
- Krishtal, O.A., Marchenko, S.M. and Pidoplichko, V.I. 268. Receptor for ATP in the membrane of mammalian sensory neurones. Neurosci. Lett. 35:41-45, 1983.
- 269. Kroll, K. and Feigl, E.O. Adenosine is unimportant in controlling coronary blood flow in unstressed dog hearts. Am. J. Physiol. 249:H1176-H1187, 1984.
- 270. Kuperman, A.S., Okamoto, M., Beyer, A.M. and Volpert, W.A. Procaine action: Antagonism by adenosine triphosphate and other nucleotides. Science 144:1222-1223, 1964.
- 271. Kuperman, A.S., Volpert, W.A. and Okamoto, M. Release of adenine nucleotide from nerve axons. Nature 204:1000-1001, 1964.
- 272. Kuramoto, M. Relationships between number, size and shape of red blood cells in amphibians. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 69A:771-775, 1981.















- 273. Landry, Y. and Lehninger, A.L. Transport of calcium ions by Ehrlich ascites-tumour cells. Biochem. J. 158:427-438, 1976.
- 274. Langer, G.A., Serena, S.D., and Nudd, L.M. Localization of contractile-dependent Ca: Comparison of Mn and verapamil in cardiac and skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 229:1003-1007, 1975.
- 275. Lee, D.A. and Witzemann, V. Photoaffinity labeling of a synaptic vesicle specific nucleotide transport system from Torpedo marmorata. Biochem. 22:6123-6130, 1983.
- 276. Leftwich, F.B. and Burke, J.D. Blood oxygen capacity in ranid frogs. Amer. Midl. Nat. 72:241-248, 1964.

Contraction of the

A CONTRACTOR OF

- 277. Lenfant, C., Torrance, J., English, E., Finch, C.A., Reynafarje, C., Ramos, J. and Faura, J. Effect of altitude on oxygen binding by hemoglobin and on organic phosphate levels. J. Clin. Invest. 47:2652-2656, 1968.
- 278. Lindbom, L., Tuma, R.F. and Arfors, K.E. Influence of oxygen on perfused capillary density and capillary red cell velocity in rabbit skeletal muscle. Microvasc. Res. 19:197-208, 1980.
- 279. Long, C.J. and Stone, T.W. The release of endotheliumderived relaxant factor is calcium dependent. Blood Ves. 22:205-208, 1985.
- 280. Lowenstein, J.M., Ye, M. and Naito, Y. Regulation of adenosine metabolism by 5'-nucleotidases. In: <u>Regulatory</u> <u>Function of Adenosine</u>, R.M. Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. pp. 117-131, 1983.
- 281. Luqmani, Y.A. Nucleotide transport into isolated cholinergic synaptic vesicles. In: <u>Synaptic Constituents in</u> <u>Health and Disease</u>, M. Brzin, D. Sket and H. Bachelard, eds. Mladinska Knjiga: Pergamon Press. p. 136, 1980.
- 282. Luqmani, Y.A. Nucleotide uptake by isolated cholinergic synaptic vesicles: evidence for a carrier of adenosine 5'-triphosphate. Neurosci. 6:1011-1021, 1981.
- 283. Manery, J.F. and Dryden, E.E. Ecto-enzymes concerned with nucleotide metabolism. In: <u>Physiological and Regulatory</u> <u>Functions of Adenosine and Adenine Nucleotides</u>, H.-P. Baer and G.I. Drummond, eds. New York: Raven Press. pp. 323-339, 1979.









- 284. Marikovsky, Y., Weinstein, R.S., Skutelsky, E. and Danon, D. Changes of cell shape and surface charge topography in ATP-depleted human red blood cells. Mech. Ageing Devel. 29:309-316, 1985.
- 285. Marsh, J.B. and Haugaard, N. Adenosine triphosphatase activity of intact muscle cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 23:204-205, 1957.
- 286. Martin, W., Cusack, N.J., Carleton, S., and Gordon, J.L. Specificity of P<sub>2</sub>-purinoceptor that mediates endothelium-dependent relaxation of the pig aorta. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 108:295-299, 1985.

AUGUER SACTOR

- 287. Martonosi, A.M. The regulation of cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration in muscle and nonmuscle cells. In: <u>Muscle and</u> <u>Nonmuscle Motility Vol. 1</u>, A. Stracher, ed. New York: <u>Academic Press. pp. 233-357</u>, 1983.
- 288. Mason, R.G. and Saba, S.R. Platelet ATPase activities. Am. J. Path. 55:215-223, 1969.
- 289. Mathieson, J.J.I. and Burnstock, G. Purine-mediated relaxation and constriction of isolated rabbit mesenteric artery are not endothelium-dependent. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 118:221-229, 1985.
- 290. Maxild, J. Effect of externally added ATP and related compounds on active transport of p-aminohippurate and metabolism in cortical slices of the rabbit kidney. Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochim. 86:509-530, 1978.
- 291. McIntyre, T.M., Zimmerman, G.A., Satoh, K. and Prescott, S.M. Cultured endothelial cells synthesize both platelet-activation factor and prostacyclin in response to histamine, bradykinin, and adenosine triphosphate. J. Clin. Invest. 76:271-280, 1985.
- 292. Mechmann, S. and Pott, L. Identification of Na-Ca exchange current in single cardiac myocytes. Nature 319:597-599, 1986.
- 293. Medzihradsky, F., Lin, H. and Marks, M.J. Drug inhibitable ecto-ATPase in leukocytes. Life Sci. 16:1417-1428, 1975.
- 294. Meldrum, L.A. and Burnstock, G. Evidence that ATP acts as a co-transmitter with noradrenaline in sympathetic nerves supplying the guinea-pig vas deferens. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 92:161-163, 1983.











- 295. Meldrum, L.A. and Burnstock, G. Investigations into the identity of the non-adrenergic, non-cholinergic excitatory transmitter in the smooth muscle of chicken rectum. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 81C:307-309, 1985.
- 296. Meunier, F.M., Israël, M., and Lesbats, B. Release of ATP from stimulated nerve electroplaque junctions. Nature 257:407-408, 1975.
- 297. Michell, R.H. Inositol phospholipids and cell surface receptor function. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 415:81-147, 1975.
- 298. Mikkelsen, E.J. Caffeine and schizophrenia. J. Clin. Psychiat. 39: 732-736, 1978.
- 299. Miller, R.C., Morry, M., Schini, V., Schoeffter, P. and Stoclet, J.C. Endothelial mediated inhibition of contraction and increase in cyclic GMP levels evoked by the α-adrenoceptor agonist B-HT 920 in rat isolated aorta. Br. J. Pharmacol. 83:903-908, 1984.
- 300. Miller, R.J. How many types of calcium channels exist in neurones? Trends Neuro. Sci. 8:45-47, 1985.
- 301. Mills, D.C.B., Macfarlane, D.E., Lemmex, B.W.G. and Haslam, R.J. Receptors for nucleosides and nucleotides on blood platelets. In: <u>Regulatory Function of Adenosine</u>, R.M. Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. pp. 277-289, 1983.
- 302. Mills, G.C., Schmalstieg, F.C., Trimmer, K.B., Goldman, A.S. and Goldblum, R.M. Purine metabolism in adenosine deaminase deficiency. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 73:2867-2871, 1976.
- 303. Mistry, G. and Drummond, G.I. Adenosine metabolism in microvessels from heart and brain. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 18:13-22, 1986.
- 304. Morad, M., Goldman, Y.E. and Trentham, D.R. Rapid photochemical inactivation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-antagonists shows that Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry directly activates contraction in frog heart. Nature 304:635-638, 1983.
- 305. Moir, T.W. and Downs, T.D. Myocardial reactive hyperemia: comparative effects of adenosine, ATP, ADP, and AMP. Am. J. Physiol. 222:1386-1390, 1972.





- 306. Morff, R.J. and Granger, H.J. Contribution of adenosine to arteriolar autoregulation in striated muscle. Am. J. Physiol. 244:H567-H576, 1983.
- 307. Morita, K., Katayama, Y., Koketsu, K. and Akasu, T. Actions of ATP on the soma of bullfrog primary afferent neurons and its modulating action on the GABA-induced response. Brain Res. 293:360-363, 1984.
- 308. Muramatsu, I., Fujiwara, M., Miura, A. and Sakakibara, Y. Possible involvement of adenine nucleotides in sympathetic neuroeffector mechanisms of dog basilar artery. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 216:401-409, 1981.
- 309. Nakao, M., Nakao, T. and Yamazoe, S. Adenosine triphosphate and maintenance of shape of the human red cells. Nature 187:945-946, 1960.
- 310. Nakao, K., Wada, T. and Kamiyama, T. A direct relationship between adenosine triphosphate-level and <u>in vivo</u> viability of erythrocytes. Nature 194:877-878, 1962.
- 311. Nakatsu, K. and Drummond, G.I. Adenylate metabolism and adenosine formation in the heart. Am. J. Physiol. 223:1119-1127, 1972.
- 312. Nayler, W.G. and Grinwald, P. Calcium entry blockers and myocardial function. Fed. Proc. 40:2855-2861, 1981.
- 313. Needleman, P., Corr, P.B. and Johnson, Jr., E.M. Drugs used for the treatment of angina: Organic nitrates, calcium channel blockers, and β-adrenergic antagonists. In: <u>The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics</u>, A.G. Gilman, L.S. Goodman, T.W. Rall and F. Murad, eds. New York: Macmillan Pub. Co. pp. 806-826, 1985.

- 314. Neerunjun, J.S., Alisop, J. and Dubowitz, V. HGPRT activity in blood and skeletal muscle of normal and dystrophic mice. Clin. Sci. Mol. Med. 55:573-576, 1978.
- 315. Nees, S., Herzog, V., Becker, B.F., Bock, M., Des Rosiers, Ch., and Gerlach, E. The coronary endothelium: a highly active metabolic barrier for adenosine. Basic Res. Cardiol. 80:515-529, 1985.

- 316. Nees, S. and Gerlach, E. Adenine nucleotide and adenosine metabolism in cultured coronary endothelial cells: formation and release of adenine compounds and possible functional implicatons. In: <u>Regulatory Function of Adenosine, R.M.</u> Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. PP. 347-360, 1983.
- 317. Newby, A.C. Role of adenosine deaminase, ecto-(5'-nucleotidase) and ecto-(non-specific phosphatase) in cyanide-induced adenosine monophosphate catabolism in rat polymorphonuclear leucocytes. Biochem. J. 186:907-918, 1980.
- 318. Newby, A.C., Luzio, J.P. and Hales, C.N. The properties and extracellular location of 5'-nucleotidase of the rat fat-cell plasma membrane. Biochem. J. 146:625-633, 1975.
- 319. Niedergerke, R., Ogden, D.C. and Page, S. Contractile activation and calcium movements in heart cells. In: <u>Calcium in Biological Systems</u>. Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol. 30:381-395, 1976.
- 320. Niedergerke, R. and Page, S. Two physiological agents that appear to facilitate calcium discharge from the sarcoplasmic reticulum in frog heart cells: adrenalin and ATP. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B213:325-344, 1981.
- 321. Nishizuka, Y. Turnover of inositol phospholipids and signal transduction. Science 225:1365-1370, 1984.
- 322. Noma, A. and Shibasaki, T. Membrane current through adenosine-triphosphate-regulated potassium channels in guinea-pig ventricular cells. J. Physiol. 363:463-480, 1985.

- 323. Nowycky, M.C., Fox, A.P. and Tsien, R.W. Three types of neuronal calcium channel with different calcium agonist sensitivity. Nature 316:440-443, 1985.
- 324. O'Donohue, T.L., Millington, W.R., Handelmann, G.E., Contreras, P.C. and Chronwall, B.M. On the 50th anniversary of Dal's Law: Multiple neurotransmitter neurons. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 6:305-308,1985.
- 325. Okamoto, M., Askari, A. and Kuperman, A.S. The stabilizing actions of adenosine triphosphate and related nucleotides on calcium-deficient nerve. J. Pharm. Exp. Ther. 144:229-235, 1964.
- 326. Paddle, B.M. and Burnstock, G. Release of ATP from perfused heart during coronary vasodilatation. Blood Ves. 11:110-119, 1974.





- 327. Parish, R.W. and Weibel, M. Extracellular ATP, ecto-ATPase and calcium influx in <u>Dictyostelium</u> discoideum cells. FEBS Lett. 118:263-266, 1980.
- 328. Parker, J.C. and Snow, R.L. Influence of external ATP on permeability and metabolism of dog red blood cells. Am. J. Physiol. 223:888-893, 1972.
- 329. Parkinson, P.I. The effect of graduated exercise on the concentration of adenine nucleotides in plasma. J. Physiol. 234:72P-74P, 1973.

- 330. Paterson, A.R.P. Adenosine transport. In: <u>Physiological and Regulatory Functions of Adenosine and Adenine Nucleotides</u>, H.-P. Baer and G.I. Drummond, eds. New York: Raven Press. pp. 305-313, 1979.
- 331. Paterson, A.R.P., Jakobs, E.S., Harley, E.R., Fu, N., Robins, M.J. and Cass, C.E. Inhibition of nucleoside transport. In: <u>Regulatory Function of Adenosine</u>, R.M. Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. pp 203-220, 1983.
- 332. Paton D.M. Presynaptic neuromodulation mediated by purinergic receptors. In: <u>Purinergic Receptors</u>, G. Burnstock, ed. London: Chapman & Hill. pp. 199-219, 1981.
- 333. Peach. M.J., Singer, H.A. and Loeb, A.L. Mechanisms of endothelium-dependent vascular smooth muscle relaxation. Biochem. Pharmacol. 34:1867-1874, 1985.
- 334. Pearson, J.D. Ectonucleotidases. Measurement of activities and use of inhibitors. Methods Pharmacol. 6:83-107, 1985.
- 335. Pearson, J.D. and Gordon, J.L. Vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells in culture selectively release adenine nucleotides. Nature 281: 384-386, 1979.
- 336. Pearson, J.D. and Gordon, J.L. Metabolism of serotonin and adenosine. In: <u>Biology of Endothelial Cells</u>, E.A. Jaffe, ed. Boston: Martinus Nijhoff. pp. 330-342, 1984.
- 337. Pearson, J.D. and Gordon, J.L. Nucleotide metabolism by endothelium. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 47:617-627, 1985.
- 338. Pearson, J.D., Carleton, J.S., and Gordon, J.L. Metabolism of adenine nucleotides by ectoenzymes of vascular endothelial and smooth-muscle cells in culture. Biochem. J. 190:421-429, 1980.

- 339. Pearson, J.D., Hellewell, P.G. and Gordon, J.L. Adenosine uptake and adenine nucleotide metabolism by vascular endothelium. In: <u>Regulatory Function of Adenosine</u>, R.M. Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. pp. 333-345, 1983.
- 340. Pearson, J.D., Slakey, L.L. and Gordon, J.L. Stimulation of prostaglandin production through purinoceptors on cultured porcine endothelial cells. Biochem. J. 214:273-276, 1983.
- 341. Pennell, R.B. Composition of normal human red cells. In: <u>The Red Blood Cell</u>, D.M. Surgenor, ed. New York: Academic Press. pp. 93-146, 1974.
- 342. Phillis, J.W. and Barraco, R.A. Adenosine, adenylate cyclase, and transmitter release. In: <u>Advances in Cyclic</u> <u>Nucleotide and Protein Phosphorylation Research, Vol. 19.</u>, D.M.F. Cooper and K.B. Seamon, eds. New York: Raven Press. pp. 243-257, 1985.
- 343. Phillis, J.W. and Kirkpatrick, J.R. The actions of adenosine and various nucleosides and nucleotides on the isolated toad spinal cord. Gen. Pharmacol. 9:239-247, 1978.
- 344. Phillis, J.W. and Wu, P.H. The role of adenosine and its nucleotides in central synaptic transmission. Prog. Neurobiol. 16:187-239, 1981.

- 345. Plagemann, P.G.W. and Wohlhueter, R.M. Permeation of nucleosides, nucleic acid bases, and nucleotides in animal cells. Curr. Top. Memb. Transp. 14:225-330, 1980.
- 346. Plagemann, P.G.W. and Wohlhueter, R.M. Nucleoside transport in mammalian cells and interaction with intracellular metabolism. In: <u>Regulatory Function of Adenosine</u>, R.M. Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. pp. 179-201, 1983.
- 347. Plagemann, P.G.W., Wohlhueter, R.M. and Erbe, J. Nucleoside transport in erythrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 257:12069-12074, 1982.
- 348. Pollard, H.B., Zinder, O., Hoffman, P.G. and Nikodejevic, O. Regulation of the transmembrane potential of isolated chromaffin granules by ATP, ATP analogs, and external pH. J. Biol. Chem. 251:4544-4550, 1976.
- 349. Pommier, G., Ripert, G., Azoulay, E. and Depieds, R. Effect of concanavalin A on membrane-bound enzymes from mouse lymphocytes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 389:483-494, 1975.







- 350. Potter, D.D., Furshpan, E.J. and Landis, S.C. Transmitter status in cultured rat sympathetic neurons: plasticity and multiple function. Fed. Proc. 42:1626-1632, 1983.
- 351. Powers, D.A. Molecular ecology of teleost fish hemoglobins: Strategies for adapting to changing environments. Amer. Zool. 20:139-162, 1980.
- 352. Pull, I. and McIlwain, H. Adenine derivatives as neurohumoral agents in the brain. Biochem. J. 130:975-981, 1972.
- 353. Pull, I. and McIlwain, H. Output of [<sup>14</sup>C]adenine nucleotides and their derivatives from cerebral tissues. Biochem. J. 136:893-901, 1973.
- 354. Puuka, R., Puuka, M., Leppilampi, M., Linna, S.-L. and Kouvalainen, K. Erythrocyte adenosine deaminase, purine nucleoside phosphorylase and phosphoribosyltransferase activity in patients with Down's syndrome. Clin. Chim. Acta 126:275-281, 1982.
- 355. Rapaport, E. Treatment of human tumor cells with ADP or ATP yields arrest of growth in the S phase of the cell cycle. J. Cell. Physiol. 114:279-283, 1983.
- 356. Rapoport, R.M., Draznin, M.B. and Murad, F. Mechanisms of adenosine triphosphate-, thrombin-, and trypsin-induced relaxation of rat thoracic aorta. Circ. Res. 55:468-479, 1984.
- 357. Rapoport, R.M. and Murad, F. Endothelium-dependent and nitrovasodilator-induced relaxation of vascular smooth muscle: Role of cyclic GMP. J. Cyclic Nucleotide Res. 9:281-296, 1983.
- 358. Reuter, H. A variety of calcium channels. Nature 316:391, 1985.
- 359. Ribeiro, J.A. Minireview. ATP; Related nucleotides and adenosine on neurotransmission. Life Sci. 22:1373-1380, 1978.

360. Ribiero, J.A. and Walker, J. The effects of adenosine triphosphate and adenosine diphosphate on transmission at the rat and frog neuromuscular junctions. Br. J. Pharmacol. 54:213-218, 1975.

















- 361. Richman, H.G. and Wyborny, L. Adenine nucleotide degradation in the rabbit heart. Am. J. Physiol. 207:1139-1145, 1964.
- 362. Rivers, R.J. and Duling, B.R. Are the resistance vessels influenced by an endothelium derived relaxing factor (EDRF)? Fed. Proc. 45:196, 1986. (abstr)
- 363. Rojas, E., Pollard, H.B. and Heldman, E. Real-time measurements of acetylcholine-induced release of ATP from bovine medullary chromaffin cells. FEBS Lett. 185:323-327, 1985.
- 364. Romualdez, A., Volpi, M. and Sha'afi, R.I. Effect of exogenous ATP on sodium transport in mammalian red cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 87:297-306, 1976.
- 365. Rorive, G. and Kleinzeller, A. The effect of ATP and Ca<sup>2+</sup> on the cell volume in isolated kidney tubules. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 274:226-239, 1972.
- 366. Rosse, W.F., Waldmann, T. and Hull, E. Factors stimulating erythropoiesis in frogs. Blood 22:66-72, 1963.
- 367. Rossoff, I.S. <u>Handbook of Veterinary Drugs</u>, New York: Springer. p. 614, 1974.
- 368. Rovetto, M.J. Myocardial nucleotide transport. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 47:605-616, 1985.
- 369. Rovetto, M.J. and Williams II, D.O. A transport system for myocardial cell adenosine efflux. Fed. Proc. 41:992, 1982. (abstr)
- 370. Rozengurt, E. and Heppel, L.A. Reciprocal control of membrane permeability of transformed cultures of mouse cell line by external and internal ATP. J. Biol. Chem. 254:708-714, 1979.

- 371. Rubanyi, G.M., Schwartz, A. and Vanhoutte, P.M. The calcium agonists Bay K 8644 and (+)202,791 stimulate the release of endothelial relaxing factor from canine fomoral arteries. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 117:143-144, 1985.
- 372. Rubio, R. and Berne, R.M. Release of adenosine by the normal myocardium in dogs: its relationship to the regulation of coronary resistance. Circ. Res. 25:407-415, 1969.



- 374. Rubio, R., Knabb, M.T., Tsukada, T. and Berne, R.M. Mechanisms of action of adenosine on vascular smooth muscle and cardiac cells. In: <u>Regulatory Function of Adenosine</u>, R.M. Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. pp. 319-332, 1983.
- 375. Ryan, J.W. and Ryan, U.S. Pulmonary endothelial cells. Fed. Proc. 36:2683-2691, 1977.
- 376. Sabina, R.L., Swain, J.L., Patten, B.M. Ashizawa, T., O'Brien, W.E., and Holmes, E.W. Disruption of the purine nucleotide cycle. J. Clin. Invest. 66:1419-1423, 1980
- 377. Salem Jr., N., Lauter, C.J. and Trams, E.G. Selective chemical modification of plasma membrane ectoenzymes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 641:366-376, 1981.
- 378. Sanders, S.S., Butler, C.F., O'Callaghan, J. and Rehm, W.S. Inhibition of H<sup>+</sup> secretion in the frog gastric mucosa by ATP and related compounds. Am. J. Physiol. 230:1688-1694, 1976.
- 379. Satchell, D.G. and Burnstock, G. Quantitative studies of the release of purine compounds following stimulation of non-adrenergic inhibitory nerves in the stomach. Biochem. Pharmacol. 20:1694-1697, 1971.
- 380. Satchell, D.G. and Maguire, M.H. Inhibitory effects of adenine nucleotide analogs on the isolated guinea-pig taenia coli. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 195:540-548, 1975.
- 381. Satchell, D.G. and Maguire, M.H. Evidence for separate receptors for ATP and adenosine in the guinea-pig taenia coli. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 81:669-672, 1982.

- 382. Savage, A.O. and Atanga, G.K. Effect of adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) on the isolated rectum of the rainbow lizard Agama agama. Gen. Pharmacol. 16:235-240, 1985.
- 383. Sawynok, J. and Jhamandas, K.H. Inhibition of acetylcholine release from cholinergic nerves by adenosine, adenine nucleotides and morphine. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 197:379-390, 1976.
- 384. Schermer, S. <u>The Blood Morphology of Laboratory Animals, 3rd</u> <u>Ed. Philadelphia: F.A. Davis Co. pp. 171-187, 1967.</u>

- 386. Schrader, J. Metabolism of adenosine and sites of production in the heart. In: <u>Regulatory Function of</u> <u>Adenosine</u>, R.M. Berne, T.W. Rall and R. Rubio, eds. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff. pp. 133-156, 1983.
- 387. Schrader, J., Thompson, C.I., Hiendlmayer, G. and Gerlach, E. Role of purines in acetylcholine-induced coronary vasodilation. J. Molec. Cell. Cardiol. 14:427-430, 1982.
- 388. Schramm, M. and Towart, R. Modulation of calcium channel function by drugs. Life Sci. 37:1843-1860, 1985.

- 389. Schweiger, H.G. Pathways of metabolism in nucleate and anucleate erythrocytes. Int. Rev. Cytol. 13:135-201, 1962.
- 390. Scott, J.B., Daugherty, R.M., Dabney, J.M. and Haddy, F.J. Role of chemical factors in regulation of flow through kidney, hindlimb and heart. Am. J. Physiol. 208:813-824, 1965.
- 391. Shepherd, J.T. Circulation to skeletal muscle. In: <u>Handbook of Physiology, The Cardiovascular System, Vol. III,</u> <u>Peripheral Circulation and Organ Blood Flow, Part 1.</u> <u>Bethesda: Am. Physiol. Soc. pp. 319-370, 1983.</u>
- 392. Shepherd, J.T. and Vanhoutte, P.M. Local modulation of adrenergic neurotransmission in blood vessels. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 7 (Suppl. 3):S167-S178, 1985.
- 393. Shimada, S.G. and Stitt, J.T. An analysis of the purinergic component of active muscle vasodilatation obtained by electrical stimulation of the hypothalamus in rabbits. Br. J. Pharmacol. 83:577-589, 1984.
- 394. Silinsky, E.M. A simple, rapid method for detecting the efflux of small quantities of adenosine triphosphate from biological tissues. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 48A:561-571, 1974.
- 395. Silinsky, E.M. On the association between transmitter secretion and the release of adenine nucleotides from mammalian nerve terminals. J. Physiol. 247:145-162, 1975.

396. Silinski, E.M. and Ginsborg, B.L. Inhibition of acetylcholine release from preganglionic frog nerves by ATP but not adenosine. Nature 305: 327-328, 1983.

- 397. Silinsky, E.M. and Hubbard, J.I. Release of ATP from rat motor nerve terminals. Nature 243:404-405, 1973.
- 398. Singh, J. and Flitney, F.W. Effects of exogenous neurotransmitters on contractility and cyclic nucleotide metabolism in the isolated frog ventricle. Biochem. Pharmacol. 32:1169-1174, 1983.
- 399. Sjöquist, A., Fahrenkrug, J., Hemlin, M., Jodal, M. and Lundgren, O. Effects of intra-arterially infused adenosine triphosphate (ATP) on release of vosoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) from the gastrointestinal tract of the cat. Acta Physiol. Scand. 125:693-698, 1985.
- 400. Smith, H. Cell size and metabolic activity in amphibia. Biol. Bull. 48:347-378, 1925.
- 401. Smolen, J.E. and Weissmann, G. Mg<sup>+</sup>-ATPase as a membrane ecto-enzyme of human granulocytes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 512:525-538, 1978.
- 402. Sneddon, P. and Burnstock, G. ATP as a neurotransmitter in rat tail artery. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 106:149-152, 1984.
- 403. Sneddon, P. and Burnstock, G. Inhibition of excitatory junction potentials in guinea-pig vas deferens by α,β,methylene ATP: Further evidence for ATP and noradrenaline as cotransmitters. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 100:85-90, 1984.
- 404. Sneddon, P. and Westfall, D.P. Pharmacological evidence that adenosine triphosphate and noradrenaline are co-transmitters in the guinea-pig vas deferens. J. Physiol. 347:561-580, 1984.
- 405. Sneddon, P., Westfall, D.P. and Fedan, J.S. Investigation of relaxations of the rabbit anococcygeus muscle by nerve stimulation and ATP using the ATP antagonist ANAPP<sub>3</sub>. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 80:93-98, 1982.
- 406. Solomons, C.C., Ringel, S.P., Nwuke, E.I. and Suga, H. Abnormal adenine metabolism of erythrocytes in Duchenne and myotonic muscular dystrophy. Nature 268:55-56, 1977.













- 407. Sparks, Jr., H.V., and Belloni, F.L. The peripheral circulation: Local regulation. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 40:67-92, 1978.
- 408. Spedding, M. Calcium antagonist subgroups. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 6:109-114, 1985.
- 409. Stanley, K.K., Edwards, M.R. and Luzio, J.P. Subcellular distribution and movement of 5'-nucleotidase in rat cells. Biochem. J. 186:59-69, 1980.
- 410. Stanley, K.K., Newby, A.C. and Luzio, J.P. What do ecto-enzymes do? Trends Biochem. Sci. 7:145-147, 1982.
- 411. Stefanovic, V., Ciesielski-Treska, J., Ebel, A. and Mandel, P. Nucleoside triphosphatase activity at the external surface of neuroblastoma cells. Brain Res. 81:427-441, 1974.
- 412. Stefanovic, V., Ledig, M. and Mandel, P. Divalent cation-activated ecto-nucleoside triphosphatase activity of nervous system cells in tissue culture. J. Neurochem. 27:799-805, 1976.
- 413. Stefanovic, V., Mandel, P. and Rosenberg, A. Ecto-5'-nucleo- tidase of intact cultured C6 rat glioma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 251:3900-3905, 1976.

AND A REPORT AND AND A REAL AND A

- 414. Stewart, C.C., Gasic, G. and Hempling, H.G. Effect of exogenous ATP on the volume of TA<sub>3</sub> ascites tumor cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 73:125-131, 1969.
- 415. Stjärne, L. and Astrand, P. Discrete events measure single quanta of adenosine 5'-triphosphate secreted from sympathetic nerves of guinea-pig and mouse vas deferens. Neurosci. 13:21-28, 1984.
- 416. Stjärne, L. and Astrand, P. Relative pre- and postjunctional roles of noradrenaline and adenosine 5'-triphosphate as neurotransmitters of the sympathetic nerves of guinea-pig and mouse vas deferens. Neurosi. 14: 929-946, 1985.
- 417. Stocchi, V., Magnani, M., Cucchiarini, L., Novelli, G. and Dallapiccola, B. Red blood cell adenine nucleotide abnormalities in Down syndrome. Am. J. Med. Genet. 20:131-135, 1985.



- 419. Stone, T.W. The neuromuscular and vascular hypotheses of muscular dystrophy: a possible link via adenine nucleotides and phosphate. Med. Hypoth. 5:1105-1111, 1979.
- 420. Stone, T.W. Physiological roles for adenosine and adenosine 5'-triphosphate in the nervous system. Neurosci. 6:523-555, 1981.
- 421. Stowe, D.F., Sullivan, T.E., Dabney, J.M., Scott, J.B. and Haddy, F.J. Role of ATP in coronary flow regulation in the isolated perfused guinea pig heart. Physiologist 17:339, 1974. (abstr)
- 422. Strehler, B.L. and McElroy, W.D. Assay of adenosine triphosphate. In: <u>Methods in Enzymology</u>, S.P. Colowick and N.O. Kaplan, eds. New York: Academic Press. pp. 871-873, 1957.
- 423. Su, C. Neurogenic release of purine compounds in blood vessels. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 195:159-166, 1975.
- 424. Su, C. Modes of vasoconstrictor and vasodilator neurotransmission. Blood Ves. 15:183-189, 1978.

- 425. Su, C. Purinergic receptors in blood vessels. In: <u>Purinergic Receptors</u>, G. Burnstock, ed. London: Chapman & Hill. pp. 95-117, 1981.
- 426. Su, C. Extracellular functions of nucleotides in heart and blood vessels. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 47:665-676, 1985.
- 427. Sulakhe, P.V. and Phillis, J.W. The release of <sup>3</sup>H-adenosine and its derivatives from cat sensorimotor cortex. Life Sci. 17:551-556, 1975.
- 428. Sung, S.-S. J., Young, J. D.-E., Origlio, A.M., Heiple, J.M., Kaback, H.R. and Silverstein, S.C. Extracellular ATP perturbs transmembrane ion fluxes, elevates cytosolic [Ca<sup>2+</sup>], and inhibits phagocytosis in mouse macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 260:13442-13449, 1985.
- 429. Tabaie, H.M.A., Scott, J.B. and Haddy, F.J. Reduction of exercise dilation by theophylline. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 154:93-97, 1977.











- 430. Tauc, L. Nonvesicular release of neurotransmitter. Physiol. Rev. 62: 857-893, 1982.
- 431. Tenney, S.R. and Rafter, G.W. Leukocyte adenosine triphosphatases and the effect of endotoxin on their activity. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 126:53-58, 1968.
- 432. Thomson, W.H.S. and Smith, I. X-linked recessive (Duchenne) muscular dystrophy and purine metabolism: Effects of oral allopurinol and adenylate. Metabolism 27:151-163, 1978.
- 433. Threlfall, C.J. and Stoner, H.B. Studies on the mechanism of shock. The effect of limb ischaemia on the phosphates of muscle. Brit. J. Exp. Path. 38:339-356, 1957.
- 434. Toda, N., Okunishi, H., Taniyama, K. and Miyazaki, M. Responses to adenine nucleotides and related compounds of isolated dog cerbral, coronary and mesenteric arteries. Blood Ves. 19:226-236, 1982.

and the states a states were and a state of the

- 435. Tofts, P. and Wray, S. A simple direct method for measuring concentrations of phosphorus containing metabolites <u>in vivo</u> using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). J. Physiol. <u>365:12P</u>, 1985. (abstr)
- 436. Tominaga, S., Suzuki, T. and Nakamura, T. Evaluation of roles of potassium, inorganic phosphate, osmolarity, pH, PCO<sub>2</sub>, PO<sub>2</sub>, and adenosine and AMP in exercise and reactive hyperemia in canine handlimb muscles. Tohoku J. Exp. Med. 109, 347-363, 1973.
- 437. Trams, E. Evidence for ATP action on the cell surface. Nature 252:480-482, 1974.
- 438. Trams, E.G., Kaufmann, H. and Burnstock, G. A proposal for the role of ecto-enzymes and adenylates in traumatic shock. J. Theor. Biol. 87:609-621, 1980.
- 439. Trams, E.G., Lauter, C.J. and Banfield, W.G. On the activation of plasma membrane ecto-enzymes by treatment with neuraminadase. J. Neurochem. 27:1035-1042, 1976.
- 440. Vanhoutte, P.M. Vasodilator and vasoconstrictor signals generated by the endothelium. In: <u>The Peripheral</u> <u>Circulation</u>, S. Hunyor, J. Ludbrook, J. Shaw, and M. McGrath, eds. Amsterdam: Elsevier. pp. 3-8, 1984.
- 441. Vanhoutte, P.M. and Miller, V.M. Heterogeneity of endothelium-dependent responses in mammalian blood vessels.
  J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 7 (Suppl. 3):S12-S23, 1985.





- 442. Venkstern, T.V. and Engelgardt, V.A. Surface-localized adenosine polyphosphatases of nucleated erythrocytes. [Russian] Doklady Akad. Nauk. USSR 102:133-136, 1955.
- 443. Venkstern, T.V. and Engelgardt, V.A. The distribution of ectoadenosinepolyphosphatase and the characterization of some of its properties. Biochemistry 22, 855-860, 1957.

1.00

- 444. Verhaeghe, R.H., Vanhoutte, P.M. and Shepherd, J.T. Inhibition of sympathetic neurotransmission in canine blood vessels by adenosine and adenine nucleotides. Circ. Res. 40:208-215, 1977.
- 445. Versprille, A. The influence of uridine nucleotides upon the isolated frog heart. Pflügers Arch. 277:285-296, 1963.
- 446. Vyskocil, F. Inhibition of non-quantal acetylcholine leakage by 2(4-phenylpiperidine)cyclohexanol in the mouse diaphragm. Neurosci. Lett. 59:277-280, 1985.
- 447. Wadsworth, R.M. The effects of aminophylline on the increased myocardial blood flow produced by systemic hypoxia or by coronary occlusion. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 20:130-132, 1972.
- 448. Wahl, M. Local chemical, neural, and humoral regulation of cerebrovascular resistance vessels. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 7 (Suppl. 3):S36-S46, 1985.
- 449. Wang, T.Y., Hussey, C.V., Sasse, E.A. and Hause, L.L. Platelet aggregation and the ouabain-insensitive ATPase. Am. J. Clin. Path. 67:528-532, 1977.
- 450. Watt, A.J. Direct and indirect effects of adenosine 5'-triphosphate on guinea-pig ileum. Br. J. Pharmacol. 77:725-730, 1982.
- 451. Weber, R.E. Intraspecific adaptation of hemoglobin function in fish to oxygen availability. In: <u>Exogenous & Endogenous</u> <u>Influences On Metabolic & Neural Control</u>, A.D.F. Addink and N. Spronk, eds. Oxford: Pergamon Press. pp. 87-102, 1982.
- 452. Weber, R.E., Lykkeboe, G. and Johansen, K. Biochemical aspects of the adaptation of hemoglobin-oxygen affinity of eels. Life Sci. 17:1345-1350, 1975.
- 453. Weidemann, M.J., Hems, D.A. and Krebs, H.A. Effects of added adenine nucleotides on renal carbohydrate metabolism. Biochem. J. 115:1-10, 1969.

















- 454. Weisman, G.A., De, B.K., Friedberg, I., Pritchard, R.S. and Heppel, L.A. Cellular responses to external ATP which precede an increase in nucleotide permeability in transformed cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 119:211-219, 1984.
- 455. Wells, R.M.G. and Weber, R.E. Oxygenational properties and phosphorylated metabolic intermediates in blood and erythrocytes of the dogfish, <u>Squalous acanthius</u>. J. Exp. Biol. 103:95-108, 1983.
- 456. Westfall, D.P. Federation Meetings Symposium, FASEB, Anaheim, CA, 1985.
- 457. Westfall, D.P., Hogaboom, G.K., Colby, J., O'Donnell, J.P. and Fedan, J.S. Direct evidence against a role of ATP as the non-adrenergic, non-cholinergic inhibitory neurotransmitter in guinea-pig taenia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:7041-7045, 1982.
- 458. White, T.D. Direct detection of depolarization-induced release of ATP from a synaptosomal preparation. Nature 267:67-68, 1977.
- 459. White, T.D. Release of ATP from a synaptosomal preparation by elevated extracellular potassium and by varatridine. J. Neurochem. 30:329-336, 1978.
- 460. White, T.D., Chaudry, A. Vohra, M.M., Webb, D. and Leslie, R.A. Characteristics of P<sub>2</sub> (nucleotide) receptors mediating contraction and relaxation of rat aortic strips: Possible physiological relevance. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 118:37-44, 1985.

- 461. Whittam, R. Potassium movements and ATP in human red cells. J. Physiol. 140:479-497, 1958.
- 462. Williams, A.R. The effect of bovine and human serum albumins on the mechanical properties of human erythrocyte membranes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 307:58-64, 1973.
- 463. Williams, C.A. and Forrester, T. Possible source of adenosine triphosphate released from rat myocytes in response to hypoxia and acidosis. Cardiovasc. Res. 17:301-312, 1983.
- 464. Williams, C.A., Mudd, J.G. and Lind, A.R. Sympathetic control of the forearm blood flow in man during brief isometric contractions. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 54:156-162, 1985.







- 465. Williams II, D.O., Dempsey, M.E. and Rovetto, M.J. Inhibition of an AMP-adenosine carrier: enhanced postanoxic myocardial ATP and mechanical function. Fed. Proc. 41:992, 1982. (abstr)
- 466. Williams, D.O. and Rovetto, M.J. The existence of two adenosine transport systems in myocardial cells. Fed. Proc. 40:461, 1981. (abstr)
- 467. Winbury, M.M., Papiersky, D., Hemner, M., and Hambourger, W. Coronary dilator action of adenine-ATP series. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 109:255-261, 1953.
- 468. Woldegiorgis, G. and Shrago, E. Adenine nucleotide translocase activity and sensitivity to inhibitors in hepatomas. J. Biol. Chem. 260:7585-7590, 1985.
- 469. Wolf, M.M. and Berne, R.M. Coronary vasodilator properties of purine and pyrimidine derivatives. Circ. Res. 4:343-348, 1956.
- 470. Wood, S.C. and Johansen, K. Adaptation to hypoxia by increased HbO<sub>2</sub> affinity and decreased red cell ATP concentration. Nature New Biol. 237:278-279, 1972.
- Wood, S.C., Johansen, K. and Weber, R.E. Effects of ambient PO<sub>2</sub> on hemoglobin-oxygen affinity and red cell ATP concentrations in a benthic fish, <u>Pleuronectes platessa</u>. Resp. Physiol. 25:259-267, 1975.
- 472. Wortmann, R.L., Mitchell, B.S., Edwards, N.L. and Fox, I.H. Biochemical basis for differential deoxyadenosine toxicity to T and B lymphoblasts: role for 5'-nucleotidase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76:2434-2437, 1979.
- 473. Woo, Y.-T. and Manery, J.F. 5'-nucleotidase: an ectoenzyme of frog skeletal muscle. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 397:144-152, 1975.
- 474. Wulf, H. CH., Wettermark, G. and Husum, G. ATP release from pig muscles during exercise measured by the firefly luminescence technique. Biomed. Biochim. Acta 10:1173-1177, 1984.

475. Yamanaka, K., Furukawa, K. and Kitamura, K. The different mechanisms of action of nicorandil and adenosine triphosphate on potassium channels of circular smooth muscle of the guinea-pig small intestine. Arch. Pharmacol. 331:96-103, 1985.

252

476. Zimmermann, H. Turnover of adenine nucleotides in cholinergic synaptic vesicles of the <u>Torpedo</u> electric organ. Neurosci. 3:827-836, 1978.











## Vita Auctoris

## Major James Patrick Dixon

The author was born in Washington, Missouri, USA, on 27 May 1949. He has been sponsored by the United States Air Force under auspices of the Air Force Institute of Technology during this graduate endeavor since August of 1983.

A graduate of the United States Air Force Academy in 1972, Maj. Dixon has been an instructor of aerospace and hyperbaric physiology at Randolph AFB, MacDill AFB, Florida, and Andrews AFB, Maryland. In 1978 he received the Master of Science degree in Physiology from the Medical College of Virginia, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia. He came to St. Louis University from a position as the Chief of the Aerospace Physiology Branch, Division of Aerospace Pathology, Armed Forces Institute of Pathology (AFIP), Walter Reed Army Medical Center, Washington, D.C.

He is Board Certified in Aerospace Physiology through the Aerospace Physiologists Society, an affiliate of the Aerospace Medical Association. He is also a USAF Senior Biomedical Scientist of the Biomedical Science Corps, United States Air Force. He has been an author, co-author or consultant for over twenty different papers or publications.













His professional military education includes the United States Air Force Academy, USAF Squadron Officers School, USAF Air Command and Staff College, and the Naval War College. Decorations include the Joint Service Commendation Medal and the Air Force Commendation Medal.

